CABINET
Date: Monday 1 April 2019
Time: 5.00 pm
Venue:

Committee Room (B6) - Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton, London, SW2 1RW

Copies of agendas, reports, minutes and other attachments for the Council’s meetings are available on
the Lambeth website. www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov
Members of the Committee
Leader of the Council, Councillor Jack Hopkins
Deputy Leader of the Council (Children and Young People), Councillor Jennifer Brathwaite
Cabinet Member for Planning, Investment and New Homes, Councillor Matthew Bennett
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care (job share), Councillor Ed Davie and Councillor Jacqui
Dyer*
Cabinet Member for Voluntary Sector, Partnerships and Community Safety (job share), Councillor Jim
Dickson* and Councillor Mohammed Seedat
Cabinet Member for Housing, Councillor Paul Gadsby
Cabinet Member for Environment and Clean Air, Councillor Claire Holland
Cabinet Member for Finance, Councillor Andy Wilson
Cabinet Member for Equalities and Culture, Councillor Sonia Winifred
*non-voting
Further Information
If you require any further information or have any queries please contact:
Wayne Chandai, Telephone: 020 7926 0029; Email: wchandai@lambeth.gov.uk
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting. If you have any specific needs please contact
Facilities Management (020 7926 1010) in advance.
Queries on reports
Please contact report authors prior to the meeting if you have questions on the reports or wish to inspect
the background documents used. The contact details of the report author are shown on the front page of
each report.

@LBLdemocracy on Twitter http://twitter.com/LBLdemocracy or use #Lambeth
Lambeth Council – Democracy Live on Facebook http://www.facebook.com/

Digital engagement
We encourage people to use Social Media and we normally tweet from most Council meetings. To get
involved you can tweet us @LBLDemocracy.
Audio/Visual Recording of meetings
Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees using whatever, nondisruptive, methods you think are suitable. If you have any questions about this please contact Democratic
Services (members of the press please contact the Press Office). Please note that the Chair of the
meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons including disruption caused by
the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.
Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the material produced so that it
can be reused and edited by all local people and organisations on a non-commercial basis.

Representation
Ward Councillors may be contacted directly to represent your views to the Council: (details via the website
www.lambeth.gov.uk)

Speaking rights at Cabinet meetings










Cabinet normally has a large amount of business to consider at each meeting;
accordingly, the order of the agenda and time allowed for each item is decided by the Leader of
the Council beforehand;
Cabinet expects there to have been prior consultation with the public and other interested parties
on proposals and a summary of the results to be included in the report. Therefore, oral
contributions from members of the public at the meeting should not normally be necessary;
the time available may allow contribution(s) to be heard on reports on the agenda but this is
entirely at the discretion of the Leader of the Council. Anyone wishing to speak must advise the
Secretary to Cabinet before the day of the meeting, advising what aspect not covered in the report
they wish to cover;
any such contributions are required to be brief; a maximum of three minutes is likely to be
available;
speakers should ideally be on behalf of a number of people or a specific group;
speakers will be advised at the meeting whether and when they will be heard; and,
Councillors may speak at the discretion of the Chair on agenda items, and are entitled to speak on
matters that specifically concern their ward.

Security
Please be aware that you may be subject to bag searches and asked to sign in at meetings that are held
in public. Failure to comply with these requirements could mean you are denied access to the meeting.
There is also limited seating which is allocated on a first come first serve basis, you should aim to arrive at
least 15 minutes before the meeting commences. For more details please visit: our website.
Please contact Democratic Services for further information – 020 7926 2170 or the number on the front
page.

Directions to Lambeth Town Hall, London, SW2 1RW
Lambeth Town Hall is located at the southern end of Brixton Road and is a highly visible landmark. It can
be accessed via a number of bus routes and is a short walk from both Brixton Station and Brixton
Underground Station.

AGENDA

Page
Nos.

1.

Declarations of Pecuniary Interest
Under Cabinet Rule 1.5.2, where any Cabinet Member has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest (as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct (para. 4)) in any
matter to be considered at a meeting of the Council, a committee, sub-committee
or joint committee, they must withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of
the consideration of that matter and must not participate in any vote on that matter
unless a dispensation has been obtained from the Monitoring Officer.

2.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

1-4

To approve and sign the minutes of the last meeting held on 4th March as a
correct record of proceedings.

3.

Budget and Performance report for Qtr 3 2018/19

5 - 48

Non-Key Decision
All Wards

Strategic Director: Finance and Investment
Contact: Tim Weetman tweetman@lambeth.gov.uk

4.

Lambeth Children's Homes Redress Scheme Update
Non-Key Decision
All Wards

Strategic Director: Finance and Investment
Contact: Mark Nicolson mnicolson@lambeth.gov.uk

49 - 98

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

Ca
CABINET

Monday 4 March 2019 at 5.00 pm
MINUTES
PRESENT:
Cabinet Members:

Portfolio:

Councillor Matthew
Bennett

Cabinet Member for Planning, Investment & New
Homes

Councillor Edward Davie

Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care (job
share)

Councillor Jim Dickson

Cabinet Member for the Voluntary Sector, Partnerships
and Community Safety (job share)

Councillor Jacqui Dyer

Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care (job
share)

Councillor Paul Gadsby

Cabinet Member for Housing

Councillor Claire Holland

Cabinet Member for Environment and Clean Air

Councillor Jack Hopkins

Leader of the Council

Councillor Andy Wilson

Cabinet Member for Finance

Councillor Sonia Winifred

Cabinet Member for Equalities and Culture

Apologies for absence

Councillor Jennifer Brathwaite and Councillor Mohammed
Seedat

Also present:

Councillor Jonathan Bartley, Tim Briggs, Pete Elliott

Page 2
Action
required by
1.

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST
There were none

2.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 4 February
2019 be approved and signed by the Chair as a correct record of the
proceedings.

3.

HOMES FOR LAMBETH - BUSINESS PLAN (APRIL 2019 TO MARCH
2020)
The report was introduced by Councillor Matthew Bennet, Cabinet
Member for Planning, Investment and New Homes who highlighted:
That Home for Lambeth (HfL) were a Council owned company (100%) and
he was proud of the leadership shown by the Administration in addressing
the housing crisis.
HfL would be able to deliver housing in a more commercial and efficient
way than could otherwise be done within the Council.
HfL had secured planning permission for three estates, Knights Walk,
South Lambeth and Westbury and had also began managing the 70 news
homes at Lollard Street.
The Cabinet Advisory Panel that will have oversight of HfL had agreed the
business plan and recommended it to Cabinet for approval.
The business plan before Cabinet was for the period from April 2019 –
March 2020.
In response to some of the questions raised by Councillor Tim Briggs,
Pete Elliott and Jonathan Bartley, Cabinet and Officers advised that:
 It was prudent to highlight the risks which would enable better
planning and readiness. Abandoning HfL because of the risks
associated would not deal with the housing shortfall and Cabinet
Member commented that the opposition had no coherent plan.
 The Ownership and Stewardship Panel would provide monitoring
of the work of HfL and Overview and Scrutiny would have some
part to play in ensuring the business plan was being delivered.
 The business plan was a statement of intent and there would be
further decisions that were needed to ensure the work by HfL could
begin.
 The underpinning principal of HfL was to build affordable homes.
In response to some of the queries raised by Nicola Curtis, Chair Central
Hill Tenants Resident Association (TRA) and Shemi Leira Chair of the
Westbury TRA, officers advised that:
 The Health and Safety Executive did visit the site and their report is
awaited.
 It was usual to find substances such as asbestos in buildings which
was why detailed surveys and a methodical way to deal with were
employed.
 The tender by MACE was considered by the Council not to
represent value for money, and during the final analysis the
decision was taken not to appoint them.
 Considerable consultation was undertaken and that would continue
at each stage of the developments. Officers would be happy to
meet with residents again.

Page 3

Cabinet Members made the following observations:
 They heard about how the regeneration impacted on the health
and wellbeing of residents and that needed to be properly
addressed in the equality impact assessment.
 This was a huge undertaking and there was clear evidence of this
particular process being used successfully elsewhere. Some of the
big projects that the administration had championed in the past had
similar risks but were successful.
 The issue before Cabinet was to approve the business plan for
HfL, some of the other issues raised had been dealt with
previously.
 This was a credible and ambitious plan and we needed to get on
with it if the Council wanted to tackle the housing crisis and
associated problems.

RESOLVED:
1) To note the recommendation of the Ownership and Stewardship
Cabinet Advisory Panel and approve the Homes for Lambeth Business
Plan which covers the period of April 2019 to March 2020.
2) To commission and to delegate authority to the boards of the Homes for
Lambeth group of companies to implement the Business Plan over this
period.
3) To delegate authority to the Section 151 officer to raise and onward
lend sufficient prudential borrowing to enable Homes for Lambeth to build,
to operate and to enter into construction contracts for the projects outlined
in Section 2.
4) To Delegate Authority to the Chief Executive to nominate
representatives of the Council to the Homes or Lambeth Board as and
when required.
The meeting ended at 6.10 pm
CHAIR
CABINET
Monday 1 April 2019
Date of Despatch: Friday 8 March 2019
Call-in Date: Friday 15 March 2019
Contact for Enquiries: Wayne Chandai
Tel: 020 7926 0029
Fax: (020) 7926 2361
E-mail: wchandai@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

Cabinet 1 April 2019
Report title: Budget and Performance Report – Q3 2018/19
Wards: All
Portfolio:
Leader of the Council: Councillor Jack Hopkins; and, Cabinet Member for Finance:
Councillor Andrew Wilson
Report Authorised by: Interim Strategic Director Finance and Investment: Christina Thompson
Contacts for enquiries: Tim Weetman, Head of Performance & Service Improvement, Corporate
Resources, 020 7926 6438, tweetman@lambeth.gov.uk; and, Nisar Visram, Assistant Director
Finance, Corporate Resources, 020 7926 9386, nvisram@lambeth.gov.uk

Report summary
This report provides Cabinet with an overview of finance and performance for quarter three (Q3) 2018/19.

Finance summary
There are no capital or revenue implications arising as a direct result of this report, other than the monitoring
information provided within the body of this report.

Recommendations
(1)

To note the budget monitor.

(2)

To consider performance for Q3 as a whole and the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that have been
highlighted as being of concern.

Page 1 of 28

Page 6
1.

CONTEXT

1.1

This report presents budget and performance information together in a single report for Cabinet to
review. In terms of format, information is presented according to the organisational and directorate
structure prior to 1 February 2019.

1.2

In terms of performance, progress continues to be reported against two types of indicators




Borough Plan indicators – these give an understanding as to the achievement of the three
priorities in the Borough Plan. Some Borough Plan KPIs are within the Council’s direct control but
most are not but are nonetheless important as they give an understanding of the wider wellbeing
of the borough
Service indicators – these are concerned with monitoring the Council’s performance and are
aligned with service priorities. The KPIs here include those concerned with both processes and
delivery and their achievement is mostly within the Council’s control.

1.3

Where available, benchmarking data is shown in appendix 1 which reflects the most recently published
performance data at various points in time for Lambeth, our statistical neighbours (Hackney, Haringey,
Lewisham, Southwark) and the London and England averages. However, it should be noted that all
benchmarking data is historical and isn’t necessarily reflective of current performance. It should
therefore be used primarily as a guide to show how Lambeth compared to its comparators in the past
and whether Lambeth’s current performance has improved or worsened since the benchmarking periods
in question.

1.4

It is also important to note that the red/amber/green (RAG) ratings in our performance reports are based
on our own internally set targets (unless a statutory target). Benchmarking can be helpful to place our
targets and current performance in a wider context.

2.

PROPOSALS AND REASONS
Overview
Finance Forecast Outturn
Revenue:
General Fund – £1,947k overspend
Housing Revenue Account - Breakeven

2.1

The General Fund forecast outturn for 2018/19 is a £1,947k overspend against a budget of £285,286k.
A summary by directorate is as follows.

CHILDRENS
SERVICES

NO RECOURSE
PUBLIC FUNDS

Income
Expenditure
Net
TO Income
Expenditure

Annual
Budget

Full Year
Forecast

Forecast
Variance

Variance %

£000

£000

£000

%

(77,394)
148,895
71,501

(81,268)
157,333
76,065

(3,874)
8,438
4,564

5%
6%
6%

0
3354

0
2956

0
(398)

0%
-12%
Page 2 of 28

Page 7
Net

3,354

2,956

(398)

-12%

Income
Expenditure
Net

(67,235)
151,580
84,345

(74,224)
158,463
84,239

(6,989)
6,883
(106)

10%
5%
0%

NEIGHBOURHOODS
& GROWTH

Income
Expenditure
Net

(79,717)
123,471
43,754

(82,131)
123,322
41,191

(2,414)
(149)
(2,563)

3%
0%
-6%

CORPORATE
RESOURCES

Income
Expenditure
Net

(230,877)
283,342
52,465

(235,218)
288,133
52,916

(4,341)
4,791
451

2%
2%
1%

CORPORATE ITEMS

Income
Expenditure
Net

0
29,867
29,867

0
29,867
29,867

0
0
0

0%
0%
0%

Income
Expenditure
Net

(455,223)
740,509
285,286

(472,840)
760,073
287,233

(17,617)
19,564
1,947

4%
3%
1%

Annual
Budget
£000

Full Year
Forecast
£000

Forecast
Variance
£000

(187,061)
187,061
0

(187,313)
187,313
(0)

(252)
252
(0)

ADULT
CARE

Total

SOCIAL

Income
Housing
Revenue
Expenditure
Account (HRA)
Net

2.2

2.3

Variance %
%
0%
0%
0%

Capital
The full year forecast outturn is £152,479k against a budget of £192,617k. In most years, capital
expenditure has traditionally been between £150m - £180m per annum. Where there have been
underspends, the budgets will be carried forward into 2019/20
Performance overview
In Q3, performance against 172 KPIs (key performance indicators) is reported. Of these, 138 have been
given a RAG rating: 38% (52) are green and achieving target, 19% (26) are below target but within an
acceptable tolerance and 43% (60) are red and more significantly below target. In comparison Q2 saw
143 KPIs with a RAG rating; 37% (53) were green, 24% (34) were below target within an acceptable
tolerance and 39% (56) were red and significantly below target. Overall quarter 3 has seen a slightly
worse performance compared to that of quarter 2.

Page 3 of 28

Page 8
2.4

Red rated KPIs are supported by an improvement plan setting out specific actions to improve
performance. This gives an extra layer of assurance and will enable a better assessment of the
effectiveness of those actions. Action plans are to be reviewed every quarter alongside the provision of
quarterly performance data. Of the 56 red indicators reported in Q2, 43 remained red in Q3 and 18 of
these showed an improving direction of travel. Overall, this shows that the majority of KPIs that were
red in Q2 improved in Q3 and that the more disciplined approach to improvement planning is helping to
turn poor performance around. However, 17 new indicators turned red in Q3. Of these, 8 were previously
amber, 4 were green and the remaining indicators were not reported in the previous quarter.

2.5

It should be noted that there are a number of KPIs that are red as a result of overly ambitious targets
rather than poor performance, particularly when this is compared to performance by our statistical
neighbours and the London average. Furthermore, a significant proportion of red KPIs are concentrated
in a small number of areas; for example proportion of post actioned, new apprentices; and response
rates to complaints and other enquires. Work is underway to refresh the current suite of KPIs in
readiness for 2019/20 in line with the business planning process. This will entail reviewing all indicators
and their targets to ensure that they are realistic taking into account comparative benchmarked data
with our statistical neighbours, historical performance trends and the impact of any external factors.

2.6

In addition, 136 indicators have been given a Direction of Travel (DOT) status and determines whether
performance has improved or worsened. This compares performance with the previous reporting
period, in the case of cumulative indicators the direction of travel is based on the same reporting period
in the previous year. In this quarter 55% (75) have a “better / same” DOT and 45% (61) have a “worse”
DOT.

2.7

The overall performance by directorate is summarised in the table below.

Directorate

KPIs
reported

With
RAG
rating

G

A

R

Adults & Health

18

13

7

2

4

3

Children’s
Services

36

32

8

6

18

Corporate
Resources

57

45

17

8

Neighbourhoods
& Growth

61

48

20

TOTAL

172

136

52

2.8

KPIs KPIs monitor data not
only
received

KPIs
with
DoT

Better
/
Same

Worse

2

14

10

4

3

1

30

14

16

20

9

3

43

25

18

10

18

10

3

49

26

23

26

60

25

10

135

74

61

The table below provides a breakdown of Borough Plan KPIs by priority and their RAG rating where
available.

Borough Plan Priority

G

A

R

Monitor
only

No rag
status
Page 4 of 28

Page 9

2.9

Reducing Inequality

18

7

23

2

4

Inclusive Growth

8

1

2

2

0

Strong & Sustainable Neighbourhoods

6

7

9

6

4

Corporate Health

19

11

25

15

3

Adults & Health
Q3 Forecast – Break-even
Adults Social Care had an underlying pressure of £6.1m in year, made up of various third party
pressures, most prominently relating to home care provision. However due to the receipt of additional
one off grant funding the service is forecasting no variance against budget. Mitigations to reduce
expenditure are being developed to ensure that there is sufficient Government funding still available to
meet expenditure needs next year.

2.10 Savings of £5.7m are forecast to be achieved in the financial year, which includes £1.6m carried forward
savings from previous years.
2.11 Public Health services expenditure is forecast to budget.

Full Year
Budget
£000's

Full Year
Forecast
£000's

ADULT SOCIAL CARE
Income
Expenditure
Net

(22,331)
106,267
83,936

(29,320)
113,192
83,872

(6,989)
6,925
(64)

PUBLIC HEALTH
Income
Expenditure
Net

(35,665)
35,665
0

(35,665)
35,667
2

0
2
2

STRATEGY & COMMISSIONING - ADULTS
Income
Expenditure
Net

(9,239)
9,648
409

(9,239)
9,604
365

0
(44)
(44)

Adults and Public Health
Income
Expenditure
Net

(67,235)
151,580
84,345

(74,224)
158,463
84,239

(6,989)
6,883
(106)

Group

Variance
£000's

Page 5 of 28

Page 10
Performance
2.12 The table below summarises performance in the Adults and Public Health Directorate.

Performance
Green
Amber
Red
Monitor only
No RAG status

Borough Plan KPIs

Service KPIs

3

4
2
4
3
2

Borough Plan KPIs
2.13 Currently, there are three adult social care KPIs aligned to outcomes in the Borough Plan. These are
consistently achieving target and suggests that the outcome concerned with supporting disabled people
and vulnerable adults to maintain their independence and remain active is being achieved.
2.14 For people aged 18-64 and people aged 65+ the service are forecast to underspend on Nursing and
Residential placements by £2.4m. The main overspend of £5.8m is in Home Care provision, as demand
for the service continues to grow.
2.15 Public Health are currently forecast to spend to budget.
Service KPIs
2.16 In terms of service KPIs there are three that are rated red in the Adults & Health directorate, the two
KPIs of most concern are listed below, although both are improving.

KPI

Proportion of people in
residential / nursing /
Supported Living reviewed
during the year who
received services for 12
months +

Proportion of people in
community
setting
reviewed during the year
who receive services for
12 months +

Comment

Trend

There were a total of 602 people in a placement for more
than 12 months at the end of quarter 2 and of those 244 have
been reviewed.
Targets are in place for workers within the new placement
support team to complete 4 reviews a week per worker.
A year-end target of 364 additional placement reviews over
next 6 months has been set and will be tracked via regular
performance meetings.
There were a total of 2419 people were in receipt of a
community-based service for 12 months or more at the end
of quarter 3, which was an increase of 218 additional people
receiving long term services; 839 of these have been
reviewed.

Getting Better

Getting Better

A risk-based approach has been adopted to ensure those
people that haven’t been reviewed in the last financial year
are prioritised, working through review waiting list based on
dates of last review. Guidance is in place to enable more
Page 6 of 28

Page 11
KPI

Comment

Trend

flexible risk-based reviews to be completed which includes
continuing to promote telephone reviews. Targets are in
place for all allocated cases with outstanding reviews to be
completed in the final quarter.

Savings Delivery Plan - Adults
Adult Social Care and Public Health savings

2018/19 Savings Target
£000

2018/19 Forecast
£000

4,347

4,104

1,319

1,593

5,666

5,697

Savings for 2018-19
Savings from 2017-18
carried forward
Total

Children’s Services
Q3 Forecast - £4,564k overspend
2.17 Childrens Social Care are forecasting an overspend of £2.9m on placements and £1.4m on Childrens
Centres. A £4.6m forecast overspend on Special Education Needs (SEN) will be funded by the high
needs element of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). Mitigating actions to address the forecast
overspend on Social Care Placements include reviewing the highest cost placements; reviewing the
purchasing arrangements for emergency placements and transition arrangements.
2.18 Childrens Services have a savings target of £2m in year, which includes £1m brought forward as
undelivered from 2017/18. The service are forecasting £1.3m to be achieved in year, with delays in the
achievement of savings relating to a social care redesign, residential placements, adoption and fostering
services.

Full Year
Budget
£000's

Full Year
Forecast
£000's

CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE
Income
Expenditure
Net

(4,782)
60,955
56,173

(5,679)
64,756
59,077

(897)
3,801
2,904

EDUCATION AND LEARNING
Income
Expenditure
Net

(71,747)
79,525
7,778

(74,612)
88,473
13,861

(2,865)
8,948
6,083

(865)
8415

(977)
9802

(112)
1,387

Group

STRATEGY & COMMISSIONING - CHILDREN
Income
Expenditure

Variance
£000's

Page 7 of 28

Page 12
Net
CHILDREN SERVICES
Income
Expenditure
DSG Income
Net
NO RECOURSE TO PUBLIC FUNDS
Income
Expenditure
Net

7,550

8,825

1,275

(77,394)
148,895
0
71,501

(81,268)
163,031
(5,698)
76,065

(3,874)
14,136
(5,698)
4,564

0
3,354
3,354

0
2,956
2,956

0
(398)
(398)

Performance
2.19 The table below summarises performance.

Performance
Green
Amber
Red
Monitor only
No rag status

Borough Plan KPIs

Service KPIs

6
3
4

2
3
14
3
1

Borough Plan KPIs
2.20 There is a mixed position overall in Children’s Services in relation to the achievement of KPIs tracking
the achievement of Borough Plan outcomes.
2.21 One particular indicator of concern is the proportion of care leavers in employment or training aged 1921. Over the last 12-month period this indicator has consistently reported between 52-54%. There has
been a sudden drop to 45% and analysis is currently underway to identify the drop-in performance to
inform the improvement plan.
Service KPIs
2.22 Across Children’s Services 12 out of 19 KPIs are rated red. Eight of the red KPIs are in Children' Social
Care, and of these 3 are showing worse performance compared to the previous reporting period.

KPI

Proportion of core group
meetings
held
within
timescale

Comment
Core group meetings take place very 6 weeks and the
purpose is to progress the child protection plan. There was
a drop in December's performance. This can be attributed
to several issues, particularly difficulties of arranging
meetings over the holiday period. In addition to this,
performance has also been impacted by existing staff
leaving and a new manager coming into post.

Trend

Getting Worse

Weekly performance clinics are being held to keep
managers to account, and individual improvement plans are
Page 8 of 28

Page 13
KPI

Comment

Trend

drawn up if there is a specific issue within a
team. These have been successful in the past in improving
performance and itis anticipated that this will help to
improve performance in the next reporting period.
The following factors have affected performance:
 An increase by 33% of plans issued this quarter
compared to the same quarter in 2017-2018.
 An uneven distribution of request by month. Historically
the service receives a large number of assessment
requests at the end of the academic year. Plans
requested in July reach their 20 week deadline during
this quarter.
 This is further complicated by the large number of
assessments which complete in mid-October. This year
83 assessments concluded within the same fortnight.
 Continued under-staffing in the team.
 Delayed assessment advice from a number of statutory
providers who are all dealing with increased
Percentage of EHC plans
assessment requests
completed within 20 weeks
 Difficulties in securing school placements, especially Getting Worse
(excluding
valid
specialist placements.
exceptions)
The following actions to improve performance are being
carried out:
 Recruitment for a new EHC coordinator is ongoing.
 EHC Hub Pilot is ongoing which should reduce admin
as well as providing transparency to young people and
families about adherence to statutory procedures.
 Schools are encouraged to submit applications before
the end of the year to prevent ‘bulge’ of cases coming to
panel over the summer.
 A new plan writing service has been identified in the
hope of cutting down on editing time when plans are
outsourced (which is required to ensure a quality plan).

Percentage
of
Child
Protection
visits
completed
within
timescale in accordance
with plan

Child protection visits take place every 10 days and the
performance has improved over time although Christmas
holidays have impacted on the performance.
Most of the delays are down to visits not being written up on
the system as opposed to children not being seen.

Getting Worse

Child protection visits take place every 10 days and
performance has improved over time. Some teams operate
at 100% and those teams are coaching others to make
Page 9 of 28

Page 14
KPI

Comment

Percentage of children
becoming the subject of a
child protection plan for a
second or subsequent time
(SG.16)

Trend

the improvements across the service. Most delays are
down to visits not being written up on the system as
apposed to children not being seen.
Individual
improvement plans are drawn up with teams if there is an
ongoing problem.
This measure has changed to include previous registrations
at any time in the child’s life as opposed to a rolling period
of 12 months, which has impacted on the performance.
Work is being undertaken to ascertain whether the children
are being made subject to a child protection plan for a
second or subsequent time was because of historical
practice that did not sustain improvements in family
functioning in Lambeth (prior to 2017) or by another local
authority where they were subject to a child protection plan Getting Worse
or whether this is due to recent practice in Lambeth.
Work is underway to look at whether the issues are
different. For example, a child may have been subject to a
child protection plan due to domestic violence when they
were very young, but they are now subject to a plan
because of very different reasons such as high-risk
behaviour as teenagers.

Savings Delivery Plan - Childrens

Savings for 2018-19
Savings from 2017-18 carried
forward
Total

2018/19 Savings Target
£000

2018/19 Forecast
£000

1,016

316

1,010

1,010

2,026

1,326

Corporate Resources
Q3 Forecast – £451k Overspend
2.23 Corporate Resources are forecasting a delay in the achievement of Business Support savings of £600k
and a pressure due to Microsoft license cost increases from September 2018. Microsoft costs for future
years have been addressed in the Medium Term Financial Plan. These costs are mitigated by a
budgeted top up to the sundry bad debt provision of £1,050k not being required this financial year. There
are pressures in HR relating to expenditure in developing the workforce strategy. Pressures on rental
income within the Property portfolio of £300k are being offset by savings from staff vacancies within
Finance.

Group

Full Year
Budget

Full Year
Forecast

Variance
Page 10 of 28

Page 15
£000's

£000's

£000's

(221,200)
251,253
30,053

(223,796)
254,906
31,110

(2,596)
3,653
1,057

Income
Expenditure
Net

(2,310)
8,399
6,089

(2,195)
8,525
6,331

115
126
242

Finance
Income
Expenditure
Net

(7,116)
20,481
13,365

(8,932)
21,418
12,486

(1,816)
937
(879)

(251)
3,209
2,958

(295)
3,284
2,989

(44)
75
31

(230,877)
283,342
52,465

(235,218)
288,133
52,916

(4,341)
4,791
451

Customer Services & ICT
Income
Expenditure
Net
Legal Services, HR and Organisational Development

Policy & Communications
Income
Expenditure
Net
Corporate Resources
Income
Expenditure
Net

Performance
2.24 The table below summarises performance in the Corporate Resources Directorate. All Corporate
Resources KPIs are service KPIs.

Performance

Borough Plan KPIs

Green
Amber
Red
Monitor only
No rag status

Service KPIs
17
8
20
9
3

Service KPIs
2.25 There are several red rated KPIs in the Corporate Resources directorate in Q3 quarter. These are the
KPIs of most concern and also where there has been deteriortating in performance in Q3 compared to
Q2:

KPI

Comment

Trend
Page 11 of 28

Page 16
The average number of sickness days lost has increased
from 8.19 to 11.
Average
number
working days lost
sickness per FTE

of
to

This could possibly be due to both past overstatement of
Council’s overall FTE and an increase in sickness. Improved
sickness recording and reporting is also a factor.

Getting Worse

Further investigation with directorates on patterns of shortterm sickness will commence in Q4.

Invoices paid to SMEs
within 10 working days

This indicator has seen a decline in performance for the
second quarter running, and requires monitoring. However,
the payment of invoices within 30 days – a broader KPI
which includes payments to SMEs – is 96.3% and improving.

Getting Worse

Performance in quarter 3 deteriorated compared to that of
the previous quarter.

Percentage
of
completed on time

MEs

The main issue causing the failure to meet the target is a
backlog in responding to MEs across Housing Services. This
is primarily due to the restructure in Housing Services.
Vacant posts in the team that coordinates enquiries are
being recruited to and improvements in performance should
be seen in Q4.

Getting Worse

There are 26 new start apprentices currently employed
across the council, and 10 further apprentices have recently
been recruited and are undergoing pre-employment checks
(bringing the total to 36 in Q4).

Number of apprentices
employed by the Council overall (YTD)

Despite this increase in the numbers, it is unlikely that the
target will be met. The council’s current apprenticeships
policy has been in place since April 2018. As it has proven
challenging to meet the target, a full review of this policy will
be undertaken before March 2019 alongside the council’s
Organisational Change and Redundancy and Recruitment
Policies to ensure that as a council we are collectively
identifying apprenticeship opportunities by default.

n/a

In addition, an alternative centralised funding model is
currently under consideration and will be presented to the
workforce board. This will require Directorates to contribute
a proportional amount of staffing budget which can be drawn
down to fund the salaries of apprentices, as the
apprenticeship levy cannot currently be used towards salary
costs.

Page 12 of 28

Page 17

Agency workers as a
percentage of workforce –
overall

Percentage of deaths/
births registered within
timelines

Agency workers as a percentage of workforce have been recalculated as previously were using headcount rather than
FTE. This overstated the percentage and produced a figure
different from the figure we supply to London Councils
(which uses FTE). The workforce report to January
corporate committee has corrected this figure. Q1 was 16%,
Q2 was 17.5% and therefore there has been a drop in
agency usage for Q3.

Improving

Supporting alternatives to agency (e.g. acting up
opportunities) and reducing long term agency worker usage
are priorities for Q4. Labour market challenges and demand
for short term labour in 2019 will continue to impact on the
level of agency usage. In London Council’s data only four
council’s had agency levels at 10% or below.
In both the quarter 1 and quarter 2 reports, poor performance
of registering both births and deaths within their given
timescales was highlighted as areas of concern. The service
has reported that whilst there is still a continued struggle with
the insufficient interview space, an additional room was
allocated in December which has already led to an
improvement in the performance for the quarter. It is
anticipated that an additional room will also be made
available in the future, which will give the ability to have two
extra queues and make a significant difference to the
performance of the service. Work is still underway to make
arrangements to carry out the registration of deaths at the
two borough hospitals which will allow additional space for
births in office to be freed up.

Deaths
–
Getting Worse
Births
Improving

-

Savings Delivery Plan – Corporate Resources

Savings for 2018-19
Savings from 2017-18 carried
forward
Total

2018/19 Savings Target
£000

2018/19 Forecast
£000

5,361

4,555

0

0

5,361

4,555

Neighbourhoods & Growth
Q3 Forecast - £2,563k underspend
2.26 Neighbourhoods and Growth are forecasting a £1m surplus on parking income and £1.1m surplus in
income relating to temporary accommodation, offset in part by an overspend on Bed and Breakfast
accommodation. The surplus on parking income will not recur in the next financial year as budgets have
Page 13 of 28

Page 18
already been amended to reflect this and pressures on temporary accommodation and expected to
increase next year. There are also staffing vacancies across the service.
2.27 Savings of £3.5m, which includes £60k brought forward from 2017/18, are forecast to be achieved in
this financial year.

Full Year
Budget
£000's

Full Year
Forecast
£000's

(131)
485
354

(138)
487
350

(7)
2
(4)

Housing Services
Income
Expenditure
Net

(23,926)
38,979
15,022

(24,404)
38,013
13,479

(478)
(966)
(1,443)

Strategic Programmes
Income
Expenditure
Net

(2,861)
3,726
865

(2,861)
3,524
663

0
(202)
(202)

Growth, Planning & Employment
Income
Expenditure
Net

(7,939)
10,896
2,957

(8,380)
11,572
3,191

(441)
676
234

Environment
Income
Expenditure
Net

(44,860)
69,385
24,525

(46,348)
69,725
23,377

(1,488)
340
(1,148)

Neighbourhoods & Growth
Income
Expenditure
Net

(79,717)
123,471
43,754

(82,131)
123,322
41,191

(2,414)
(149)
(2,563)

Group
Senior Management
Income
Expenditure
Net

Variance
£000's

Performance overview
2.28 The table below summarises performance in the Neighbourhoods and Growth Directorate.

Performance

Borough Plan KPIs

Service KPIs
Page 14 of 28

Page 19
Green
Amber
Red
Monitor only
No rag status

3
1
6
6
3

17
9
12
4
0

Borough Plan KPIs
2.29 There is a mixed position in Neighbourhoods & Growth in relation to the achievement of KPIs that track
the Borough Plan outcomes with 7 of the 13 indicators having a worsening direction of travel. These
primarily fall under the Growth, Planning and Employment division and relate to employment and
claimant rates of older, younger and black and ethnic minority residents.
Service KPIs
2.30 There are 9 KPIs rated red in the Neighbourhoods & Growth directorate. The KPIs of most concern is
listed below:

KPI

Percentage of land and
highways
with
unacceptable levels of
litter

Comment
This KPI did not achieve target for Tranche 2. However,
seasonal trends do affect the scores with Tranche 3 typically
having the best performance of the year, bringing the overall
score closer to target. The failures for litter were evenly
spread throughout the five targeted wards with most ‘only
just’ failing by being graded B-. Further work will be looking
into the surveying process to ensure consistency, noting in
more detail exactly what has caused the failure which will
enable work to tailor efforts to improve performance more
specifically.

Trend

Getting Worse

Seasonal trends do affect detritus scores especially during
Tranche 2 during the leafing period. Tranche 3 is expected
to be he cleanest tranche for detritus and hopefully bring the
overall score more in line with target.
Percentage of land and
highways
with
unacceptable levels of
detritus

Percentage of land and
highways
with
unacceptable levels of
graffiti

Failures this period were evenly spread throughout the
targeted wards with housing and industrial transects
receiving the most, particularly in areas where parked
vehicles restricted mechanical broom access. This was an
issue we were aware of and at the end of November
cleansing resources were revised to ensure such areas had
manual attendance rather than mechanical. This should
hopefully improve the standard of detritus cleaning.
Graffiti has increased year on year in the borough with no
increased resource to tackle it. Much of the graffiti failures
were out of our control and on areas where we are not
authorised to clean, this includes bridges, private property
and street furniture. Work will continue to maintain contracts

Improving

Getting worse

Page 15 of 28

Page 20
with the Business Improvement Districts to help with graffiti
removal in those areas.

Number of people killed or
seriously injured in road
traffic accidents

In the previous report to Cabinet the collision data received
from TfL noted a steep increase in the number of people
being killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents,
following a change in the way that the police classified
injuries. Subsequent work has been carried out to ‘backestimate’ the numbers using the new classifications to allow
for a comparison to be drawn between the 2016 and 2017
collision figures. Using this new data, collisions overall have
fallen by 3% from 2016 to 2017, the number of people killed
and seriously injured has risen by 6%, whilst the numbers
slightly injured has fallen by 5%. The number of collisions in
Lambeth is generally higher than most other London
boroughs. Efforts to tackle this will be considered as part of
the development of a new transport strategy. Discussions
with Transport for London are currently ongoing regarding
establishing a new 2022 target, using the back-estimated
data, as a stepping stone to the Mayor’s Vision Zero of
eliminating all deaths and serious injuries on the road by
2040.

n/a

Savings Delivery Plan – Neighbourhood and Growth

Savings for 2018-19
Savings from 2017-18 carried
forward
Total

2018/19 Savings Target
£000

2018/19 Forecast
£000

3,453

3,453

60

60

3,513

3,513

Neighbourhoods & Growth (HRA)
Q3 Forecast - Breakeven
2.31 The HRA are forecasting an underlying underspend due better than planned income on rents and masts,
reduced expenditure on staffing due to vacancies and repairs and maintenance work costing less than
budgeted. However this will be used to finance capital expenditure for Fire Risk related works and
expenditure in line with the HRA business plan.

Group

Full Year Budget

Full Year
Forecast

Final
Variance

£000's

£000's

£000's

Housing Services
Page 16 of 28

Page 21
Income
Expenditure
Net

(12,686)
75,537
62,851

(12,933)
71,124
58,190

(247)
(4,413)
(4,661)

Central HRA Budgets
Income
Expenditure
Net

(174,375)
95,264
(79,111)

(174,379)
100,713
(73,666)

(4)
5,449
5,445

Strategic Programmes
Income
Expenditure
Net

0
16,260
16,260

(1)
15,476
15,476

(1)
(784)
(784)

(187,061)
187,061
0

(187,313)
187,313
0

(252)
252
0

Housing
Revenue
(HRA)
Income
Expenditure
Net

Account

Page 17 of 28

Capital 201819 Q3 Monitor
2.32 The full year forecast outturn is £152,479k against a 2018/19 budget of £192,617k.The remaining budget in the Capital Investment
Programme is £130,583k. Where there are underspends, the budgets will be carried forward into 2019/20.

Programme

18/19
Budget
£

18/19
Actuals
£

Total
Project
Foreca
st
£

Variance
£

0

0

250

0

(250)

0

0

0

1,171

1,171

0

1,171

(250)

0

0

1,421

1,171

(250)

30

0

0

0

30

30

0

30

0

0

0

30

30

0

1,202

(250)

0

0

1,452

1,202

(250)

307

(122)

4,518

4,927

9,874

9,874

0

633

(867)

4,296

0

5,796

5,796

0

0

(288)

0

0

288

288

0

2,342

(897)

1,000

0

4,239

4,239

0

18/19
Carry
Forward
£

19/20
Budget
£

0

(250)

1,171

Page 22

Adults & Public Health Programmes
Housing
250
0
Home
1,171
4
Improvements
Adult
Social
Care
1,421
4
Programmes
SP HIV Services
30
0
Public
Health
30
0
Programmes
Total Adults &
Public
Health
1,452
4
Programmes
Neighbourhoods & Growth Programmes
Coburg Cresent
429
247
Community
1,500
220
Projects
Depot
288
370
Rationalisation
Education
Projects - Capital
3,239
1,556
Maintenance

20/21
Budget
£

Total
18/19 20/21
Budget
£

18/19
Forecast
£

Details on
progress of the
scheme and
comments
relating to the
current forecast
for the year

Page 18 of 28

Education
Projects
Devolved
Formula
Education
Projects - Other
LEAP

0

415

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

147

65

147

0

0

0

147

147

0

3,095

744

2,850

(245)

0

0

3,095

3,095

0

Primary (Future
Phases)

11,362

67

728

(10,634)

3,500

4,863

19,726

10,504

(9,222
)

Primary Phase 1

422

88

343

(79)

506

0

928

849

(79)

Primary Phase 2
Secondary

Somerleyton
Road
Estates
Small Sites
RTB Buybacks

Your New Town
Hall

106

238

(329)

0

0

567

258

(309)

20,122

15,000

18,911

(1,211)

0

0

20,122

20,122

0

1,858

190

888

(970)

0

0

1,858

908

(950)

2,717

1,339

2,717

0

0

0

2,717

2,717

0

7,911
1,703
16,673

3,802
673
9,600

6,408
1,703
16,673

(1,503)
0
0

5,811
435
5,194

0
0
0

13,722
2,138
21,866

13,722
2,138
21,866

0
0
0

10,326

5,638

7,112

(3,214)

0

0

10,326

8,927

(1,399
)

Remaining budget to
be reallocated to
holding code
Majority of projects
are
completed.
Contains
holding
codes that will be
used to finance other
projects.

This budget mainly
relates to the loan
faciliy provided to
Muse rather than
expenditure on the
Town Hall Project
itself.
The
underpsend
is
Page 19 of 28

Page 23

SEN

567

Underspend due to
holding code that will
be used to fund other
projects.

Temporary
Accommodation

1,287

11,900

(164)

5,000

0

17,064

16,900

(164)

2,776

295

1,047

(1,729)

0

0

2,776

2,776

0

97,200

41,702

74,947

(22,253)

30,259

9,790

137,249

125,126

(12,12
3)

81
1,759
3

0
65
0

18
308
0

(63)
(1,451)
(3)

0
0
0

0
0
0

81
1,759
3

81
1,759
0

0
0
(3)

2,235

791

2,000

(235)

0

0

2,235

2,235

0

240
2,894

0
0

240
844

0
(2,050)

0
0

0
0

240
2,894

238
2,894

(1)
0

5,077

595

971

(4,106)

1,908

0

6,984

6,984

(1)

12,289

1,451

4,380

(7,908)

1,908

0

14,197

14,192

(4)

917

567

917

0

0

0

917

917

0

30

0

30

0

0

0

30

30

0

1,956

34

1,321

(635)

0

0

1,956

1,956

0

1,785
481

957
12

1,785
213

0
(267)

0
0

0
0

1,785
481

1,785
384

0
(96)

Page 24

Private
Sector
Housing
Strategic
Programmes
Programmes
Brixton
Future Brixton
HSF
Investment
in
Community
Workspace
NHB
North Lambeth
Regeneration Other
Growth,
Planning
&
Employment
Programmes
Cemeteries
Community
Safeguarding
Community
Facilities
Parks Operations
Sports Facilities

12,064

against Muse Loan as
no further advances
will be made.
Underspend relates
to the remaining
unused budget for
Leigham Court Road
Carpark, which is no
longer needed.

Page 20 of 28

1,817

130

992

(825)

0

0

1,817

1,817

0

Roads & Public
Realm

16,182

4,802

11,855

(4,327)

0

0

16,182

16,013

(169)

Parks
Development

2,629

268

562

(2,067)

0

0

2,629

2,380

(250)

920

0

0

0

920

920

0

208

(345)

0

0

553

553

0

631
68

(55)
0

0
0

0
0

686
68

596
68

(90)
0

19,503

(8,521)

0

0

28,025

27,420

(605)

98,831

(38,683)

32,167

9,790

179,470

166,738

(12,73
2)

251

0

0

0

251

251

0

18

0

0

0

18

18

0

1,287

0

1,417

0

2,704

2,634

(70)

1,556

0

1,417

0

2,974

2,904

(70)

10

(5)

0

0

15

10

(5)

1,062

(122)

0

0

1,184

1,062

(122)

900

0

0

0

900

900

0

Waste & Refuse
920
920
Community
Buildings Phase
553
41
2
Cultural services
686
6
Leisure Centres
68
0
Environment
28,025
7,736
Programmes
Total
Neighbourhood
137,513
50,888
s & Growth
Programmes
Corporate Resources Programmes
ASC IT System
251
10
New Ways of
18
(3)
Working
ICT
1,287
157
Infrastructure
Business
Transformation
1,556
165
Programmes
FM - Community
15
0
Facilities
FM - Council
1,184
34
Buildings
Transformation
900
0
Projects

Underspend due to
various
project
reprofiling
Underspend due to
various small projects
including Larhall Park
and Unigate Woods

Page 25

Cycling

Page 21 of 28

(334)

0

0

334

0

(334)

(462)

0

0

2,433

1,972

(462)

(462)

1,417

0

5,407

4,875

(532)

(115)

0

0

115

0

(115)

(1,278)

6

0

1,579

1,579

0

0

31

0

56

56

0

(32)

0

0

32

0

(32)

(1,424)

37

0

1,781

1,635

(147)

(486)

486

486

1,457

0

(1,457
)

(405)

0

0

405

0

(405)

(890)

486

486

1,861

0

(1,861
)

(2,314)

523

486

3,643

1,635

(2,008
)

107

1,100

1,100

3,300

3,300

0

Page 26

Corporate Estate
334
0
0
Management
Finance
2,433
34
1,972
Programmes
Total Corporate
Resources
3,990
198
3,528
Programmes
Children's Services Programmes
CSC IT System
115
0
0
Neighbourhood
1,572
1,281
295
Libraries
Development
25
0
25
Libraries
Commissioning
&
Contracts
32
31
0
Team
Children'S
Services
1,744
1,312
320
Programmes
Special
Educational
486
0
0
Needs
School
&
Educational
405
86
0
Improvement
Service
Education
&
Learning
890
86
0
Programmes
Total Children's
Services
2,634
1,398
320
Programmes
Neighbourhoods & Growth (HRA) Programmes
Private
Sector
1,100
632
1,207
Housing

Page 22 of 28

Estate
Improvement
Works

Housing
Management Repairs
&
Maintenance
Programmes
Housing Projects

268

25

150

(118)

0

0

268

150

(118)

1,368

657

1,357

(11)

1,100

1,100

3,568

3,450

(118)

0

-53

71

71

0

0

0

71

71

8,674

3,017

8,547

(127)

0

0

8,674

9,274

600

LHS - North

4,495

2,351

4,779

284

0

0

4,495

5,111

616

Overspend is due to
additional work . The
overspend will be
rectified once LHS
Capital Budgets have
been realigned in
April 2019/20
Overspend is due to
additional cost for
Extention of Time
claim from Contractor
and
2019/20
Committed
Spend.
The overspend will be
rectified once LHS
Capital Budgets have
been realigned in
April 2019/20

Page 23 of 28

Page 27

LHS - Central

Forecast based on
current POs and
conversations
with
service,
but
the
service lead has
moved to a new role,
so further work needs
to be done to identify
a more accurate
position.

LHS - Other

2,959

2,246

2,959

0

35,000

35,000

72,959

68,856

(4,102
)

LHS - South

6,856

2,942

6,743

(114)

0

0

6,856

6,924

68

PPM
Boiler
Replacements
PPM Responsive
Repairs

PPM Long Cycle
Voids

14,677

3,700

14,495

(182)

0

0

14,677

17,424

2,747

4,500

0

4,500

0

4,500

4,500

13,500

13,500

0

1,500

563

1,500

0

1,500

1,500

4,500

4,500

0

2,000

2,075

3,649

1,649

1,000

1,000

4,000

8,000

4,000

This is temporary
overspend relating to
2019/20 Committed
Spend. 2019/20 &
2020/21
Capital
budget is currently
sitting on P8433K
LHS - Other. Budgets
will be realign in April
2019/20 to individual
projects.

Capital Voids spend
is
currently
significantly
above
the budgeted level. A
review is taking place
with
service
managers to identify if
this will reduce in
future years. There
Page 24 of 28

Page 28

Technical
Services

This is a temporary
underspend relating
to
2019/20
&
2020/21.
Capital
budget is currently
sitting on P8433K
LHS - Other. Budget
will be realign in
2019/20 to individual
projects.

are underspends on
the revenue voids
budgets that may be
able
to
partially
mitigate this.

45,661

16,843

47,242

1,581

42,000

42,000

129,661

133,661

4,000

47,028

17,499

48,599

1,571

43,100

43,100

133,228

137,111

3,882

192,617

69,987

152,47
9

(40,138)

77,207

53,375

323,200

311,561

(11,63
9)

Page 29

Strategic
Programmes
(HRA)
Programmes
Total
Neighbourhood
s & Growth
(HRA)
Programmes
Capital
Programme
Total

Page 25 of 28

Page 30
Conclusions and next steps
2.33 This report has brought together budget and performance information into a single report with various
budget and performance issues highlighted. These issues will be tackled through internal management
arrangements. Cabinet will continue to receive details of budget and performance issues via regular
quarterly reports.

3

FINANCE

4.1

There are no direct capital or revenue implications arising as a direct result of this report, other than
those outlined as part of budget monitoring information. Any business improvement activity to address
poor performance will be delivered from within existing budgets.

4

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY

4.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.

4.2

There were no further comments from Democratic Services.

5
5.1

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION
The completion of the performance report relies on service managers / Heads of Services to provide
performance data and commentary on progress and management actions, particularly if the indicators
is not achieving target.

6

RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1

There are no risk implications arising from report.

7

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

The Equality Act 2010 requires organisations exercising public functions to demonstrate that due regard
has been paid to equalities in:




Elimination of unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Equality Act 2010;
Advancement of equality of opportunity between people from different groups; and,
Fostering of good relations between people from different groups.

7.2

The Equality Act 2010 identifies the following protected characteristics: age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex and
sexual orientation.

7.3

In order to assist in meeting the duty the Council:



Tries to understand the diversity of our customers to improve our services;
Considers the impact of our decisions on different groups to ensure they are fair; and,
Page 26 of 28

Page 31


Mainstreams equalities into business and financial planning.

7.4

Reflecting this, we aim to ensure that equalities considerations are integrated into the Council’s
Corporate Performance Framework. Accordingly, we report against a number of KPIs aligned to
Borough Plan priorities concerned with ensuring that growth in the borough is inclusive and that
inequality is reduced, as well as other KPIs concerned with how we deliver our services and meet the
needs of residents. In this way, performance data can play a role in determining whether there is any
differentiation in residents’ experience of, or satisfaction with, Council services.

8

COMMUNITY SAFETY

8.1

There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
None.

9.2

Staffing and accommodation
None.

9.3

Procurement
None.

9.4

Health
None.

10

TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

10.1 Not applicable.

Page 27 of 28

Page 32
Audit trail
Consultation
Name/Position
Cllr Gadsby
Cllr Wilson
Andrew Travers
Christina
Thompson,
Interim Strategic Director
Emma Peters, Interim
Strategic Director
Bayo Dosunmu, Interim
Strategic Director
Fiona Connolly, Acting
Strategic Director
Annie Hudson, Strategic
Director
Nisar Visram, Assistant
Director
Alison McKane, Director
David Rose, Democratic
Services

Lambeth cluster/division or
partner
Cabinet Member for Housing
Cabinet Member for Finance
Chief Executive

Date
Sent
25.02.19
28.02.19
28.02.19

Finance & Investment

28.02.19

Sustainable
Opportunity

Growth

&

Date
Received
27.02.19
07.03.19

Comments
para:
Appendix A
2.23

08.03.19

4.1

in

28.02.19

Resident Services

28.02.19

Adults & Health

28.02.19

Children’s Services

28.02.19

Finance & Investment

07.03.19

Legal and Governance

07.03.19

Legal and Governance

07.03.19

Report history
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons
Background information
Appendices

25.02.19
20.03.19
20.03.19
No
No
N/A
N/A
N/A
Q3 Performance table

Page 28 of 28

Page 33
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

Adults and Health
Adult Social Care
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Timeliness of
Aim to Minimise
safeguarding
concerns that are
open beyond 3
months

EI2a

OT assessment work Aim to Maximise
and waiting times

Q3 2018
Value

Target

Status

48.05%

20%

63

15

Trend

Note
Statistical Neighbours
There were a total of 197 open safeguarding cases that were open for 12 weeks or more at the
end of quarter 3 and this represents 48% of all cases. This is a decrease from the 256 reported
at the end of quarter 1. However, there has been significant improvement in this area overall with
figures nearest to the ideal target they have been for over the last two years.

London

England

We are reviewing the method for measuring timeliness in line with the safeguarding adults board
guidance as this will provide a more nuanced measure.
The value given is the percentage reduction 63%, the annual target is a percentage reduction
of 15%.
There has been further reduction in the number of OT assessments in adult social care teams.
At the end of 2017/18 there were a total of 40 that had been waiting for 18 months or more and
this has been reduced to 15 (63%) at the end of quarter 3.

EI2b

OT adaptations,
Aim to Maximise
assesment works and
waiting times

100

15

Increasing our OT staffing complement for adaptations has freed core staff to improve
performance in this area.
The value given is the percentage reduction in the number waiting which is 100%. The annual
target is to reduce the number waiting by 15%.
There has been a significant reduction in the number of OT assessments for adaptations waiting
18 months or more. The number have reduced from 66 at the end of 2017/18 to 0 (100%) at the
end of quarter 3.

RI.62

Proportion of people
in community setting
reviewed during the
year who receive
services for 12
months +

Aim to Maximise

34.68%

56%

We have increased our OT staffing complement working closely with Colleagues in housing to
maximise the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
There were a total of 2419 people were in receipt of a community based service for 12 months or
more at the end of quarter 3 which was an increase of 218 additional people receiving long term
services and 839 of these have been reviewed. Community review work is responding to urgent
re-assessment review work which is impacting on capacity to pick up planned 12 month review
work.
A risk based approach has been adopted to ensure those people that haven’t been reviewed in
the last financial year are prioritised, working through review waiting lists based on dates of last
review. Guidance is in place to enable more flexible risk based reviews to be completed which
includes continuing to promote telephone reviews. Targets are in place for all allocated cases
with outstanding reviews to be completed in the final quarter. In addition, new review forms have
been developed to assist with capturing information in a proportionate and effective way to enable
efficient recording and review capture. There continues to be monthly tracking of review
performance and weekly review data is shared with teams so that progress can be monitored.

RI.63

RI.65

RI.66

RI.67

RI.69

Proportion of people Aim to Maximise
in residential / nursing
/ Supported Living
reviewed during the
year who received
services for 12
months +
Proportion of people Aim to Maximise
using social care who
receive direct
payments (Part 2)

40.53%

60%

There were a total of 602 people in a placement for more than 12 months at the end of quarter 2
and of those 244 have been reviewed.

18.08%

19%

Permanent
Aim to Minimise
admissions to
residential and
nursing care homes
for 18-64, per 100,000
population (Part 1)
(YTD)
Permanent
Aim to Minimise
admissions to
residential and
nursing care homes
for over 65s, per
100,000 population
(Part 2) (YTD)
Proportion of older
Aim to Maximise
people (65+) who are
still at home 91 days
after discharge from
hospital into
reablement /
rehabilitation services

5.74

6

Performance has met the target with a total of 15 admissions reported for the 18-64 age group
this financial year. Of the admissions 8 were for the physical disabilities service, 6 were for
mental health and 1 were for learning disabilities.

Lambeth: 7.6
Hackney: 10.8
Haringey: 5.2
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
LAPS - Q4 2017/18

280.63

417.68

The admission rate to residential/nursing for the over 65 age group remains low and within the
target. 48% of all admissions were for the 85+ age group reflecting the demands of an ageing
population.

Lambeth: 366.9
Hackney: 418.8
Haringey: 400.4
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
ASCOF - Q4 2017/18

381.2

96.07%

95%

Performance remains excellent with 96% of older people at home 91 days after being discharged Lambeth: 95%*
from hospital into a reablement or rehabilitation setting.
Hackney: 88%
Haringey: 82.5%
Lewisham: 92.9%
Southwark: 83.3%
ASCOF: Q1 2018/19
(*Year End 2017/18)

86.30%

69.03%

66%

Performance has consistently met target with 477 (69%) adults with learning disabilities in settled Lambeth: 78%
accommodation.
Hackney: 74.6%
Haringey: 78.3%
Lewisham: 77.4%
Southwark: 65.4%
ASCOF - Q1 2018/19

71.60%

Targets are in place for workers within the new placement support team to complete 4 reviews a
week per worker. A year-end target of 364 additional placement reviews over next 6 months has
been set and will be tracked via regular performance meetings.

RI.70

Proportion of adults
Aim to Maximise
with learning
disabilities who live in
their own home or
with their family

SE128

DOLS - appropriate
requests that have
breached timescales

Aim to Minimise

Monitor Only

SE140

Volume of
safeguarding
concerns

Aim to Minimise

708 Monitor Only

SE143

DOLS - volume
received

Aim to Minimise

Monitor Only

The number of people in receipt of a direct payment at the end of quarter 2 was 539 and this is a Lambeth: 19.0%
decrease of 10 from the previous quarter. An additional 76 people would be required to meet the Hackney: 20.1%
Haringey: 25.0%
target.
Lewisham: No data
There is significant work being undertaken to increase monitoring and review of people in receipt Southwark: No data
of direct payments which has seen a number of direct payment packages ending due to concerns ASCOF - Q1 2018/19
over compliance or no longer requiring services from the council. This has contributed to drop in
direct payment packages over the previous quarter. Work is underway to issue new guidance and
policy for direct payments by the end of quarter 4 which aims to simplify the process for setting
up and accessing direct payments.

Data unavailable, awaiting workflow to be put on Mosaic

There is an overall decrease in concerns when comparing to the previous year, this is due to
updating our recording systems in order to differentiate between concerns reported as
safeguarding issues but that are not related to concerns about abuse/neglect, and so are
redirected to more appropriate routes. For example, the Lambeth Safeguarding Adults Board has
indicated that a more appropriate response for concerns raised about self-neglect issues (such
as hoarding) should be an Care Act Assessment and services rather than a safeguarding
enquiry.
This is in line with our expectations and is reported and monitored via the Lambeth Safeguarding
Board, and internally at the Monthly Performance Board and strategic planning meeting. We can
track people where our response is to offer an assessment in the first instance. Total numbers
are in line with our previous performance when operating a different pathway.

Lambeth: 3060
Hackney: 1260
Haringey: 2180
Lewisham: 595
Southwark: 695
NHS Digital 2016-17

The number of DOLS cases have increased by 15% in comparison to the same period last year.
Statutory timescales continue to be breached.
A new DoLS administrator has been appointed to assist with processing applications. It is
anticipated that this will result in a 20% improvement to performance by the end of March 2019. A
DoLS Service review is underway - this has included reducing paperwork and a revised workflow
proposed on MOSAIC which will mean the entire process will eventually be digitalised resulting in
a faster start-end process of authorisation. A new system of allocation has also been established
which enables more assessments to be completed (as a mandatory task) by internal Best
Interest Assessors.

SE206

Delayed Transfers of
Care (delayed days)
from hospital per
100,000 population
(aged 18+)

Aim to Minimise

398

519

This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears, so quarter 3 is data from September 2018

There have been a number of DTOCs due to delays in sourcing nursing home beds as a result of
a number of quality issues which has resulted in suspensions of new placements in some of the
block contract homes. There are extensive quality improvement programmes in place which are
having an effect and two out of the three block contract homes are now admitting patients. The
brokerage team is working hard to source alternatives elsewhere however finding placements for
people with complex mental health needs remains a challenge.

Page 1 of 16

Lambeth: 398
Hackney: 486
Haringey: 511
Lewisham: 197
Southwark: 369
NHS England
September 2018

26.30%

8.9

651

Page 34
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Status

Trend

Note
Reduction due to correcting the agency worker calculation.

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

20%

Corporate Measures

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI37
Agency workers as a Aim to Minimise
percentage of
workforce – Adults &
Health
EI41
Number of
Aim to Maximise
apprentices employed
by the Council –
Adults & Health (YTD)
EI34a

Items of post received Goldilocks
by directorate - Adults
and Health

EI35a

Proportion of post
Aim to Maximise
actioned (in progress
of ready to action)
within 30 calendar
days of upload by
directorate - Adults
and Health

Q3 2018
Value

Target
15.40% Monitor Only

4

7

The ongoing delay in implementing the national apprenticeship standard for social work will
mean that it will remain challenging for Adults & Health to meet their target. The council may
need to compensate in other areas.

699 Monitor Only

99%

Represents total volume of post scanned to Omnidox portal.

100%

Children's Services
Children's Commissioning and Improvement
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI10
Percentage of
Aim to Maximise
children who received
a 2-2.5 year health
review who were at or
above the expected
level in all five areas
of development

Q3 2018
Value

Target
86%

Aim to Maximise

Status
88%

EI11

% of prevalence of
breast-feeding at 6-8
weeks from birth

70%

EI15

Percentage of 3 & 4
Aim to Maximise
year olds accessing
15 hours funded early
education

79%

85%

EI16

Percentage of eligible Aim to Maximise
3 & 4 year olds
accessing 30 hours
funded early
education

70%

75%

EI9

Percentage of
Aim to Maximise
children who received
a 2-2.5 year review in
the quarter for whom
the ASQ3 was
completed

67.20%

85%

Trend

Note
Performance slightly below target this quarter.

Data is currently not available due to data quality concerns. This is being addressed and data
will be provided at a later time.

Lambeth: No data
Hackney: No data
Haringey: No data
Lewisham: 77.2%
Southwark: No data
Public Health Profiles
(2017/18)
Take up across the borough remained lower at the October headcount.
Lambeth: 87%
Hackney: 85%
A piece of work is required as to understand why the number of 3 and 4 year olds has decreased, Haringey: 78%
especially in the north of the borough or whether this is just a ‘one off.’
Lewisham: 82%
Southwark: 82%
LG Inform - 2017/18
academic year (3 & 4
year olds accessing
30 hours funded early
At the start of the second year, the take up of 30 hour places has decreased slightly.
Lambeth: 87%
Hackney: 85%
We will continue to promote the take up of 30 hours so that parents continue to be aware of this Haringey: 78%
new initiative.
Lewisham: 82%
Southwark: 82%
LG Inform - 2017/18
d i
Reporting on use of the ASQ3 tool in two-year health review meeting continues to be a challenge
for the provider (Guys and St Thomas’s trust) due to system limitations. They are working with
their system provider to enhance the system to ensure accurate reporting.

58.90%

42.70%

84%

94%

84%

94%

91%

94%

61%

72%

Commissioners are confident that ASQ is used in all reviews, and will continue to work with the
provider to tackle issues with their management information system.

SE134

Percentage of early
years registered
providers inspected
rated good or
outstanding

Aim to Maximise

91%

93%

During this quarter the results of Ofsted inspections remains stable.

SE135

Percentage of eligible Aim to Maximise
two year old children
accessing funded
early education

66%

62%

Numbers have increased this quarter.

Page 2 of 16

Lambeth: 87%
Hackney: 88%
Haringey: 88%
Lewisham: 89%
Southwark: 87%
Gov.uk (childcare
providers and
inspections as at 31
March 2018)
Lambeth: 64%
Hackney: 59%
Haringey: 54%
Lewisham: 54%
Southwark: 93%
LAIT 2018

Page 35
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Status

Trend

Note
Timeliness for progressing children with adoption plans to an Adoption Order is improving.The
Adoption and Permanency Improvement Plan continues to be progressed to further improve
performance.

Statistical Neighbours

London

Statistical Neighbours
Lambeth: 9
Hackney: 12
Haringey: 11
Lewisham: 16
Southwark: 14
LG Inform - 2017/18
Performance in this area continues to improve. The recent focus on the timeliness of adoption
Lambeth: 769
has secured the adoption of children who had historically experienced drift. This success masks Hackney: 634
the improved performance. Children likely to require plans for permanency are tracked from the
Haringey: 633
pre-Court stage until permanency plans are in place and being delivered.
Lewisham: 484
Southwark: 589
LAIT - 2014/17
Progression of cases where there has been historic drift negtaively impacts on this indicator. This Lambeth: 417
success masks improved performance. Newer cases are being progressed more quickly than
Hackney: 259
previously than the indicator suggests.The Adoption and Permanency Improvement Plan
Haringey: 293
continues to be progressed to further improve performance.
Lewisham: 180
Southwark: 265
LAIT - 2014/17

London

England

20%

Children's Social Care
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI3
Number of looked
Aim to Maximise
after children adopted
(YTD)

Q3 2018
Value

Target
10 Monitor Only

EI4

Average time between Aim to Minimise
a child entering care
and moving in with its
adoptive family

475

426

EI5

Average time between Aim to Minimise
a local authority
receiving court
authority to place a
child and the local
authority deciding on
a match to an
adoptive family

331

121

EI6

Children who wait
Aim to Maximise
less than 14 months
between entering care
and moving in with
their adoptive family

55.56%

50%

Timeliness in progressing and securing permanency for children with an adoption plan is
improving.The Adoption and Permanency Improvement Plan continues to be progressed to
further improve performance. Cabinet agreement to collaborating with 9 other South London
Boroughs to form a Regional Adoption Agency was agreed in December 2018. This is
progressing to a 'go live' date of June 2019.

FA.03

Looked after children Aim to Maximise
in foster care
provision who are
placed with in-house
carers
Percentage of looked Aim to Maximise
after children who had
their initial health
assessment within 20
days of becoming
looked after (LC.06)

25.96%

30%

There has been a decline in the number of in house foster carers due to long-standing payment
issues. Collaboration between CSC and Corporate colleagues has secured an interim resolution
to the payment challenges which will 'go live' on 04/02/19. A revised Recruitment & Retention
Strategy will launch shortly after the interim payments solution.

36%

75%

Children primarily become looked after from the assessment and safeguarding areas of CSC.
The safeguarding service provides the greatest challenge to timely completion of these
assessments. To tackle this there is: 1) a Management Recovery Plan in place; 2) a designated
Lead Service Manager; 3) designated BSO resource identified to support referral process; 4)
regular cross-service meetings; and 5) regular meetings with health colleagues at Mary Sheridan
Centre.

Looked after children Aim to Maximise
cases reviewed within
timescale

88.41%

95%

Data is reported as at November 2018.

First Time Entrants
Aim to Minimise
To The Youth Justice
System aged 10-17
(per 100,000
population)

606

LC.06

LC.07

RI.30

Percentage of young
people in suitable
education, training or
employment at the
end of their YOS
intervention

Aim to Maximise

589

520

248

220

Lambeth: 26%
Hackney: 43%
Haringey: 45%
Lewisham: 43%
Southwark: 46%
LAIT - 2017

47%

53%

Lambeth: 691.2
Hackney: 433.6
Haringey: 463.3
Lewisham: 640.6
Southwark: 580.5
LAIT - 2017

387.8

295.1

Up until August of this year the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) performance was
consistently good. However, since then performance has been declining due to changes in
personnel. The IRO team manager has reiterated the expectations around timeliness of reviews.
All IROs now have to have the authorisation of the team manager to agree to a late review. The
Team Manager will only agree to a late review if there are child centred reasons for the delay.
The IRO manager is currently requesting the performance team to provide data on forthcoming
reviews so that these can be tracked and subsequent completion of review records can also be
overseen by the manager.
550

The actual number of First Time Entrants between July 2017 and June 2018 was 149,
unchanged from the previous quarter. The ONS 2017 population estimate for Lambeth young
people aged 10 to 17 was 24,581 (although note that the KPI is calculated per 100,000
population). Local YOS data indicates that the next period will see a reduction in the rate. The
data presented is national KPI Q2 2018/19. National KPI Q3 2018/19 is scheduled to be released
on 03/03/2019.
YOS management has developed a multi-agency project team of partner agencies who are
implementing specific projects to reduce first time entrants. A joint decision making panel
assesses children for their suitability for diversion away from the Youth Justice System or for Out
of Court disposals. Briefings of police officers on Out of Court disposal decision-making have
begun. Over 100 officers have been briefed to date, with plans to brief a further 400. The YOS
has located a Liaison and Diversion Officer in the police custody suite who provides mental
health screening to all children who have been arrested with a remit of early identification of
needs and to divert them from further offending.

RI.31

England
12

71.56%

58%

109 children completed YOS interventions between April 2018 and September 2018. Of these,
78 were in suitable ETE at the end of their intervention. The data presented is national KPI Q2
2018/19. National KPI Q3 2018/19 is scheduled to be released on 03/03/2019.

The YOS Education Worker liaises with education providers, the local authority and YOS Officers
to provide children who are not in education, training or employment with suitable placements.

Page 3 of 16

Page 36
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti
li
Ai to
t Minimise
Mi i i
RI.48
Percentage
off
Aim
children whose Child
Protection plan has
been open for two
years or more
(SG.17)

Q3 2018
Value

Target

Status

Note

Statistical Neighbours

This indicator is significant because it suggests that children may be drifting on a child protection
plan. However, it is crucial to look at trends in terms of actual numbers of children and the
narrative behind the numbers to understand if there is real drift. In October 2018, 11 out of 260
children subject to a child protection plan had hit the 24 month mark (4.2%). In November 2018, 8
out of 247 children subject to a child protection plan hit the 24 month mark (3.2%). In December
2018, 7 children out of 236 children subject to a plan hit the 24 month mark (2.9%). The number
of children subject to a plan for 2 years or more tends to remain consistent between 7-11. The
actual numbers are a small group of children with the percentage shifting by around 1% and
dependent on the total number of children subject to a plan. In Lambeth all children subject to a
child protection plan are reviewed at 18 months. The same children are reviewed again if they
are still on a plan at 24 months or 2 years.

Lambeth: 2.3%
Hackney: No data
Haringey: No data
Lewisham: 0%
Southwark: 4.0%
LAIT - 2017/18

Lambeth: 68%
Hackney: No data
Haringey: 95.2%
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19

12%

Child protection visits take place every 10 days and performance has improved over time. Some
teams operate at 100% and those teams are coaching others to make the improvements
across the service. Performance panels encourage accountability and most delays are down to
visits not being written up on the system as apposed to children not being seen.  Senior
managers chair performance panels to hold managers to account. Individual improvement plans
are drawn up with teams if there is an ongoing problem. This measure should see a continued
improvement.
This indicator is not being reported for the remainder of 2018/19 due to data quality issues

Data is as at November 2018.

48
05%
4.20%

20%
2.20%

76.89%

90%

RI.49

Percentage of Child
Aim to Maximise
Protection visits
completed within
timescale in
accordance with plan
(SG.19)

RI.51

Percentage of
children looked after
who had 3 or more
placements in 12
months

RI.54

Percentage of looked Aim to Maximise
after children visits
completed within
timescale (LC.08)

85.19%

95%

RI.55

Percentage of looked Aim to Maximise
after children looked
after continuously for
12 months who had
their annual health
assessment (LC.13)

73.90%

90%

RI.56

Percentage of
Aim to Minimise
children becoming the
subject of a child
protection plan for a
second or subsequent
time (SG.16)

20.20%

14%

RI.57

Proportion of care
leavers in
employment,
education or training
aged 19-21 (LC.18)

Aim to Maximise

44.62%

RI.58

Child & Family
Aim to Maximise
Assessments
completed within 45
working days (SG.05)

SE129

Proportion of core
group meetings held
within timescale
(SG.22)

SE153

Rate of proven reoffending by young
offenders (YTD)

Aim to Minimise

Trend

London

England
1.70%

1.80%

84.50%

Lambeth: 11.2%
Hackney: 18.0%
Haringey: 8.0%
Lewisham: 10.0%
Southwark: 14.0%
LAIT - 2017

12%

10%

We have noted the increase in second and subsequent registrations. The measure was changed
from 'children subject to a child protection plan and then reregistered under a child protection
plan within a 12 month period'. The new measure is whether the child has been subject to a child
protection plan at any time in their lives before. Work is being undertaken to ascertain whether
the children are being made subject to a child protection plan for a second or subsequent time
was because of historical practice that did not sustain improvements in family functioning in
Lambeth (prior to 2017) or by another local authority where they were subject to a child protection
plan or whether this is due to recent practice in Lambeth. We are also looking at whether the
issues are different. For example a child may have been subject to a child protection plan due to
domestic violence when they were very young but they are now subject to a plan because of very
different reasons such as high risk behaviour as teenagers.

Lambeth: 11.4%
Hackney: 13.6%
Haringey: 15.0%
Lewisham: 10.0%
Southwark: 17.3%
LAIT - 2018

14.90%

20.20%

60%

Over the last 12 month period this indicator has consistently reported between 52-54%. In Q3,
there was a sudden drop to 45%. An analysis of the change in current performance is in
progress to inform improvement plan.

92.25%

90%

Target has been met due to increased management oversight points introduced into the
assessments and work on embedding performance standards within the Assessment Service

Lambeth: 40%
Hackney: 64%
Haringey: 47%
Lewisham: 39%
Southwark: 49%
LG Inform - 2016/17
Lambeth: 90.3%
Hackney: 55.7%
Haringey: 89.6%
LAIT - 2018
Lewisham: 73.6%
Southwark: 94.2%

Aim to Maximise

69.33%

95%

Core group meetings take place very 6 weeks and the purpose is to progress the child protection
plan. There was a drop in December's performance as the Christmas holiday period can make
meetings more difficult to arrange. In addition, there has also been an issue with one of the
FSCP teams with staff leaving and a new manager in place. Some of teams are reporting at
100% whilst others have difficulty sustaining good performance.  Weekly performance clinics are
held to keep managers to account. Individual improvement plans are drawn up if there is a
specific issue within a team. These have been successful in the past in improving performance.

Aim to Minimise

49.18%

50.10%

Visit performance remains steady at between 85-90% with capacity for a small improvement to
reach performance target. Ongoing review, monitoring and discussion of visit performance at
monthly Management Performance Meeting.
Diagnostic work to identify the barriers has been completed and actions are in place to improve
performance. As a result, there is a steady increase in performance each month. To tackle this
there is: 1) a Management Recovery Plan in place; 2) a designated Lead Service Manager; 3)
designated BSO resource identified to support referral process; 4) regular cross-service
meetings; and 5) regular meetings with health colleagues at Mary Sheridan Centre.

30 of the 61 offenders in the cohort that offended between Oct 2016 and Dec 2016 re-offended
Proven Reoffending
within 12 months. The quarterly re-offending rate is volatile due to the new counting method
Bulletin - Oct to Dec
introduced by central government in November 2017. The latest annual average for the YOS is
16
51.8%, which is higher than the London average of 46%, and the Statistical Neighbour average of
47.9%. The data presented is national KPI Q2 2018/19. National KPI Q3 2018/19 is scheduled
to be released on 03/03/2019.
The YOS Improvement Plan focuses on improving practice to reduce re-offending and produce
better outcomes for service users. The Plan includes a current re-offending live tracker to
monitor offending behaviour and reduce re-offending. This tracker indicates that re-offending in
the current year is less than in period reported this quarter. However, any improvement now will
not appear in this KPI for two years.

Page 4 of 16

52%

83.30%

82.70%

40.40%

Page 37
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Status

Trend

Note
Q3 outturn is above target and is well above national average, exceeding national average
(85.1%) by 10 percentage points.

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

20%

Education and Learning
KPI Ref Performance Indicator
EI20
Adult Learning:
Accredited
achievement rate
EI21
Adult Learning:
Unique Adult Learning
numbers
EI22
Adult Learning:
Community Learning
non-accredited
achievement Rate

Polarity
Aim to Maximise

SE178

SE180

Q3 2018
Value

Target
95%

85.10%

Aim to Maximise

1,076

1,000

Aim to Maximise

94.30%

95%

Percentage of young
people aged 16-18
where destinations
are unknown

Aim to Minimise

26%

7.20%

Percentage of EHC
plans completed
within 20 weeks
(including valid
exceptions)

Aim to Maximise

33.30%

70%

On track, no action required

Very slightly below target. Analyse achievement rates by curriculum area and learner groups

Lambeth:10.1%
Hackney: 2.5%
Haringey: 5.7%
Lewisham: 4.0%
Southwark: 7.7%
IYSS - May to July
2018
Performance is not meeting target this quarter. Of the 84 plans issued 28 were on time. The
following factors have affected performance:
- An increase by 33% of plans issued this quarter compared to the same quarter in 2017-2018.
- An uneven distribution of request by month. Historically the service receives a large number of
assessment requests at the end of the academic year. Plans requested in July reach their 20
week deadline during this quarter.
- This is further complicated by the large number of assessments which complete in midOctober. This year 83 assessments concluded within the same fortnight.
- Continued under-staffing in the team.
- Delayed assessment advice from a number of statutory providers who are all dealing with
increased assessment requests
- Difficulties in securing school placements, especially specialist placements.

3.00%

Lambeth: 68.6%
Hackney: 34.2%
Haringey: 22.7%
Lewisham: 47.2%
Southwark: 55.6%
LAIT - 2017 calendar
year

52.10%

Lambeth: 80.7%
Hackney: 74.3%
Haringey: 22.7%
Lewisham: 48.2%
Southwark: 78.8%
LAIT - 2017 calendar
year
A new NEET team has just started from 14/01/2019 We are be expecting the number to go down Lambeth: 1.9%
for the next quarter.
Hackney: 2.0%
Haringey: 2.4%
Lewisham: 1.8%
Southwark: 1.7%
IYSS - May to July
2018

58.50%

3.00%

The following actions to improve performance are being carried out:
- Recruitment for a new EHC coordinator is ongoing.
- EHC Hub Pilot is ongoing which should reduce admin as well as providing transparency to
young people and families about adherence to statutory procedures
- Schools are encouraged to submit applications before the end of the year to prevent ‘bulge’ of
cases coming to panel over the summer.
- A new plan writing service has been identified in the hope of cutting down on editing time when
plans are outsourced (which is required to ensure a quality plan).

SE181

Percentage of EHC
plans completed
within 20 weeks
(excluding valid
exceptions)

Aim to Maximise

39.60%

90%

SE190

Percentage of young Aim to Minimise
people aged 16-18
who are not in
Education, Training or
Employment (NEET)

1%

2.40%

Performance is not meeting target this quarter. Of the 58 plans issued excluding valid
exceptions, 22 were on time. For commentary and actions being taken see SE180.

2.00%

3.00%

Corporate Measures

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI38
Agency workers as a Aim to Minimise
percentage of
workforce –
Children’s Services
EI42
Number of
Aim to Maximise
apprentices employed
by the Council –
Children’s Services
(YTD)
EI34b

Items of post received Goldilocks
by directorate Children's Services

EI35b

Proportion of post
Aim to Maximise
actioned (in progress
of ready to action)
within 30 calendar
days of upload by
directorate -

Q3 2018
Value

Target
18.70% Monitor Only

2

Status

Trend

7

Statistical Neighbours

London

Statistical Neighbours
Lambeth: 87.05%
Hackney: 98.2%
Haringey: 92%
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19

London

England

The ongoing delay in implementing the national Apprenticeship standard for social work will
mean that it will remain challenging for Children's Services to meet their target. The council may
need to compensate in other areas.

1,268 Monitor Only

63%

Note
Reduction due to correcting the agency worker calculation.

Represents total volume of post scanned to Omnidox portal. The number of post received has
reduced compared to Qtr 2 (where 1,546 items were received).

100%

Significant decrease in performance from previous quarter (79%).
Review and appraise local processes for managing Omnidox portal; enact plan to close gap on
performance target of 100%

Corporate Resources
Finance
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
CH.07 Invoices paid in 30
Aim to Maximise
days

Q3 2018
Value

Target

Status

96.30%

97%

Trend

Note
Performance has gradually improved over the last 3 quarters, however the target has still not
been met.

CH.09

Percent of sundry
Aim to Maximise
debt arrears collected

50.37%

41.25%

Performance for this indicator has remained the same for this quarter.

EI46

Percent of current
year sundry debt
collected
Number of redress
payments made
(YTD)

95.01%

97%

Q3 has seen an improvement after a slight drop in performance in Q2

EI47

IACF00 Fraudulent tenancies
2
recovered (YTD)

Aim to Maximise

Goldilocks

859 Monitor Only

As at the end of December 18, there has been 1,002 applications to the scheme. There has
been a total of 781 Harm's Way Payments (HWP) paid to date, of which 466 are also being
considered for an Individual Redress Payment (IRP). There has been a total of 50 IRP paid to
date (these may include previous HWP and interim IRP payments). In addition, 28 claims have
been settled and closed. This brings the total number of redress payments made to 859.

Aim to Maximise

55

60

MBOXX Invoices paid to SMEs Aim to Maximise
49712
within 10 working
days
PROC0 Percent of contracts Aim to Maximise
01
awarded since 1 April
2018 which are
London Living Wage
compliant

66.67%

75%

100%

100%

SE197

General Fund
variance against
Revenue Budget

Aim to Minimise

0.68%

1%

SE198

HRA variance against Aim to Minimise
Revenue Budget

0%

0%

Note: To avoid duplication, each claim that receives a payment is counted as a single payment
based on its current status (even if a claim has received more than one type of payment, e.g. a
Harm’s Way payment and also an IRP payment).
A little behind target; aim to make this up over Q4.

This quarter has seen a further worsening in performance.

Post 1 April 18, 98 contracts have been let (as identified on the Contracts Register). Of these 70
meet the requirements of the Living Wage Foundation that should pay the LW. Of these 100%
pay the LW.
In relation to total open contracts on the Contracts Register (i.e. including those let pre April
2018) there are 237 contracts applicable to the LW of which 3 fail to meet the criteria. As such
we have an overall compliance of 98.73%. The 3 suppliers are (1) Street Runners, (2) Excelcare
Ltd and (3) Western Riverside Waste Authority.
There is a forecast overspend on Childrens Services placements and on Childrens Centres partly
offset by a forecast underspend within Neighbourhoods and Growth, mainly due to lower than
anticipated costs on Temporary Accommodation.
Mitigating actions are being taken to reduce expenditure on Placements within Childrens
Services and on Childrens Centres. It is likely that these measures will impact the budgets from
2019/20 onwards. The underspends within Neighbourhood and Growth are addressed as part of
budget build 2019/20.
The HRA has an underspend which is to be used to fund additional works required as a result of
Fire Risk Assessments (FRA) and therefore will be showing a balanced budget forecast
throughout the year.

Page 5 of 16

England
88.90%

Page 38
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Status

Trend

Note
Agency workers as a percentage of workforce have been re-calculated as previously were using
headcount rather than FTE. This overstated the percentage and produced a figure different from
the figure we supply to London Councils (which uses FTE). The workforce report to January
corporate committee has corrected this figure. Q1 was 16%, Q2 was 17.5% and therefore there
has been a drop in agency usage for Q3.

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

20%

HR and Organisational Development
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
CH.02 Agency workers as a Aim to Minimise
percentage of
workforce - overall

Q3 2018
Value

Target
15.53%

10%

CH.04

Average number of
working days lost to
sickness per FTE

Aim to Minimise

11

7.8

RI.26a

Number of
Aim to Maximise
apprentices employed
by the Council overall (YTD)

26

45

Supporting alternatives to agency (e.g. acting up opportunities) and reducing long term agency
worker usage are priorities for Q4. Labour market challenges and demand for short term labour
in 2019 will continue to impact on the level of agency usage. In London Council’s data only four
council’s had agency levels at 10% or below.
Average number of sickness days lost has increased from 8.19 which is possibly due to both past Lambeth: 8.19 (Q2
overstatement of Council’s overall FTE and an increase in sickness. Improved sickness recording 2018/19)
Hackney: 7.8%
and reporting is also a factor.
Haringey: 9%
Further investigation in Quarter 4 with directorates on patterns of short term sickness will
Lewisham: No data
commence.
Southwark: No data
26 new start apprentices are currently employed across the council. 10 further apprentices have
recently been recruited and are undergoing pre-employment checks (bringing the total to 36).
These will be included in Q4 returns.

6.60%

As reported in Q2, it is unlikely that the council will meet its 2018/19 target.
Whilst the priority is to focus on achieving the target for new starts, progression opportunities for
existing staff using the apprenticeship levy have been promoted in project management, IT,
Finance and business support.
The council’s current apprenticeships policy has been in place since April 2018. As it has proven
challenging to meet the public sector target, a full review of this policy will be undertaken before
March 2019 alongside the council’s Organisational Change and Redundancy and Recruitment
Policies to ensure that as a council we are collectively identifying apprenticeship opportunities by
default.
An alternative centralised funding model is currently under consideration and will be presented to
the workforce board. This will require Directorates to contribute a proportional amount of staffing
budget which can be drawn down to fund the salaries of apprentices. The apprenticeship levy
cannot currently be used towards salary costs.
SE118

Percentage of the top Aim to Maximise
paid 5% of local
authority staff who are
women

SE119

Percentage of the top Aim to Maximise
paid 5% of local
authority staff who
have a disability
(excluding those in
maintained schools)

3.45%

4%

SE120

Percentage of the top Aim to Maximise
paid 5% of local
authority staff who are
from an ethnic
minority

23.81%

25%

SE125

Percentage of local
Goldilocks
authority staff who are
women
Percentage of local
Aim to Maximise
authority staff who
have a disability
(excluding those in
maintained schools)

61.02% Monitor Only

Percentage of local
Goldilocks
authority staff who are
from an ethnic
minority
Average age of local Goldilocks
authority staff

59.92% Monitor Only

SE126

SE127

SE207

SE208

Percentage of local
Aim to Maximise
authority staff who are
LBGT

47.50% Monitor Only

7.36%

46.2 Monitor Only

6.93% Monitor Only

A slight from the previous quarter.

Lambeth: 46.43%
Hackney: 52.4%
Haringey: 53.4%
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19
Following Oracle Cloud implementation reports for Q2 over-stated this figure. Q3 figure is
Lambeth: 2.35%
reduced however is still an improvement on Q1 due to a slight increase in disclosure levels.
Hackney: No data
Work to improve representation is underway including new talent programme, and recruitment to Haringey: 1.0%
vacant roles arising from the senior management restructure
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19

49.70%

Following Oracle Cloud implementation reports for Q2 over-stated this figure. Q3 figures return
figure to similar to Q1

20.50%

Lambeth: 24.27%
Hackney: 27.0%
Haringey: 18.8%
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19
Human Capital
Metrics Survey 2017/18
Human Capital
Metrics Survey 2017/18

7%

No change from previous quarter.

Human Capital
Metrics Survey 2017/18

Slight increase from previous quarters but average age remains broadly the same as London
average. On-going work to recruit apprentices should yield a lower average age over time

London Councils
2017/18

Levels of disclosure remain low but are being addressed as part of the council’s Equalities and
Diversity Initiative. The new LGBT forum will seek to support improved disclosures.

Page 6 of 16

4.50%

62.20%

4.97%

40.40%

45.86

Page 39
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

Status

Trend

Note
Annual target reported monthly.

Statistical Neighbours
Lambeth: 93.97%
Hackney: 95.01%
Haringey: 69.23%
Lewisham: 93.82%
Southwark: 95.47%
LG Inform - 2017/18

London

England

20%

IT and Customer Services
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
CH.05 Council tax collection Aim to Maximise
rate (in year)

CH.08

NNDR collection rate Aim to Maximise

CH.12

Percentage of
corporate customer
centre calls
abandoned
Council tax cash
collection target
(YTD)

Q3 2018
Value

Target
80.70%

71.47%

86%

74.25%

Aim to Minimise

7.30%

7.50%

Aim to Maximise

£130,801,260.00

£111,561,985.50

EI24

Average days to
Aim to Minimise
process new Housing
Benefit claims (YTD)

23.93

27

EI25

Average days to
Aim to Minimise
process change in
Housing Benefit
circumstances (YTD)

11.97

10

EI26

ATU days to process
concessions

Aim to Minimise

41.99

40

EI27

Percent satisfaction
Aim to Maximise
with the housing
contact centre
Percentage of
Aim to Minimise
housing contact
centre call abandoned

92.90%

80%

Notwithstanding issues in terms of 80/20 performance residents are expressing a high degree of
satisfaction with the Housing Call Centre.

10.28%

5%

Capita have been unable to hit target due to a higher than expected average handling time on
their calls. Actions have been brought in to reduce this including side-by-side training, monitoring
of external contractors and the recruitment of more staff. Better and more joined up working
between contractor and the council will see improvements in calls abandonned.

EI23

EI28

EI29

Percentage of
corporate customer
call centre call
answered within 60
seconds

Aim to Maximise

66.85%

60%

EI30

Percentage of
Aim to Maximise
housing customer call
centre calls answered
within 20 seconds

52.37%

80%

EI31

Percentage of births
registered within 42
days

82%

98%

EI32

Aim to Maximise

Percentage of deaths Aim to Maximise
registered within 5
days

45%

90%

Annual target reported monthly.

96.65%

98.60%

Q3 outturn shows improvement compared to Q2 with performance within target.

Annual target reported monthly.

Lambeth: £117,626,000
Hackney: £68, 504,000
Haringey: £98, 800,000
Lewisham:
£104,083,000
Southwark:
£104,446,000
LG Inform - 2018/19
(Local Council Tax
requirement)

Lambeth: 26
Hackney: 19
Haringey: 24
Lewisham: 19
Southwark: 28
LAPS - Q1 2018/19
This indicator is cyclic with perfpormance in Qs 1 and 4 significantly beating target and Qs 2 and Lambeth: 8
3 not achieving target. The target is annual and the outturn at year-end will be within target. The Hackney: 13
Haringey: 15
outturn ytd at the end of January 2019 is 9.64 days.
Lewisham: 5
To improve performance there will be a push on CICs, particularly old CICs and clearing of
ATLAS and UC manager cases. The focus on new claims was relaxed slightly as this was well Southwark: 6
LAPS - Q1 2018/19
within target.
Budget underspend in one ATU area has enabled additional resources to be allocated. These
should be in place by February and will positively affect Q4 outturn.

Capita have improved and have hit targets in the last 3 months. Results contnue to improve.

An action plan exists to restore balance of performance across the two Capita sits as at the
moment, whilst they are achieving target globally, certain individual services are receiving a lower
than expected performance.
Whilst Capita have improved this area month-on-month they have still been unable to hit target
due to a higher than expected average handling time on their calls as well as a lack of training
sysem. Actions have been brought in to reduce this including side-by-side training, monitoring of
external contractors and the recruitment of more staff.
The client team have carried out root cause analysis work to identify factors affecting
performance. Following on from this Capita and the client team have agreed an action plan which
is being discussed weekly with both management teams. The issue is exacerbated by the
ongoing Housing restructure.
The service continues to struggle due to insufficient interview space. An additional room was
given in December which had led to improvements. A further room has been identified with the
ability to have two extra queues and this will make a huge difference, and should see
performance get back on track.
The GRO remain very happy with our performance and although it doesn’t hit national targets
performs well within their expectations of us. We are a unique borough nationally given our size
geographically but that we have 2 huge major trauma hospitals within our boundaries. Only 30%
of the customers we see are from Lambeth.
The service continues to struggle due to insufficient interview space. An additional room was
given in December which had led to improvements. A further room has been identified with the
ability to have two extra queues and this will make a huge difference, and should see
performance get back on track. We are also still making arrangements to register deaths at the
two borough hospitals, thus freeing additional space for births in office.

Also, with deaths it is often difficult to persuade families to register within timeframes as they are
grieving. Working in the hospitals should remedy this to some point.
The GRO remain very happy with our performance and although it doesn’t hit national targets
performs well within their expectations of us. We are a unique borough nationally given our size
geographically but that we have 2 huge major trauma hospitals within our boundaries. Only 30%
of the customers we see are from Lambeth.

Page 7 of 16

£102,298,000

21.9

6.9

England
97.11%

Page 40
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti
li
f
Ai to
t Maximise
Mi i i
EI33
Registrars
business
Aim
income generation
(YTD)

Q3 2018
Value

Target

48 05%
£412,571.00

Status
20%
£510,000.00

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

Despite showing as under target our income has increased significantly this year with more
internal weddings and civil ceremonies than previous years. There have been a number of other
factors that have affected income generation since the return to the Town Hall. We have had
insufficient interview rooms to be able to undertake the volumes we need to both meet KPIs set
by the Home Office (GRO) and generate the income in-year that these registrations bring. This is
being resolved currently and permanent additional space is being allocated to us. We are also
working with both borough hospitals to go and work off site and register deaths.

We have also had issues with the current booking system. Colleagues in ICT are in the process
of procuring a new solution for all customer facing services.
It has been challenging working with event space as all of our ceremony rooms, except the
Ceremonies Suite are ‘dry hire’ and are expensive. This means that couples have not been
choosing to marry in our saleable space.
We have a very corporate web site. We are rectifying this and are having a new site designed
which will go live shortly. This looks far more like a commercial site, showcases our ceremony
offerings and, when the new booking system goes live, also has the capability to be developed to
take bookings and payment, alongside any bolt on services we can sell.

The cost of certificates has been increased by the GRO to £11 from next month. This will
generate a significant income increase.   
We are developing a relationship with an official photographer for Citizenship Ceremonies, and
colleagues in Policy and Communication have been formalising this. This will generate a small
income for us as well as offer an attractive service for our new citizens.

EI34

Items of post received Goldilocks
by directorate organisation-wide

EI35

Proportion of post
actioned (in progress
of ready to action)
within 30 calendar
days of upload by
Proportion of mail
with one document
handoff not actioned
within 30 calendar
days
Percent satisfaction
with the Lambeth call
centre
Percent of customers
rating the Customer
Centre as good or
excellent

EI36

SE121

SE123

10,795 Monitor Only

Aim to Maximise

64%

Represents total volume of post scanned to Omnidox portal.

100%

Aim to Minimise

20%

Q3 has seen some improvement from previous quarter; strategies have been put in place with
poorest performing teams across the organisation however restructure activities need greater
alignment to support access changes within teams
Review and appraise local processes for managing Omnidox portal; enact plan to close gap on
performance target of 100%
Report not yet available

Aim to Maximise

79.50%

80%

Customer satisfaction is improving towards target.

Aim to Maximise

91.41%

85%

Performance has been good but number of surveys submitted in September have been
significantly less than previous months.

SE124

Average wait of
Aim to Minimise
customers visiting the
Customer Centre

SE201

P1, P2 priority Service Aim to Maximise
Desk calls resolved
with agreed service
level

0h 03m 47s

Staff have been reminded that they need to complete surveys and have been asked to improve
performance in the coming months.
Performance remains well within target.

0h 10m 00s

0%

95%

November – target not met due to inability to resolve: P1 storage outage for which vendor
assistance was required. P1 network outage due to technical fault at Virgin Media data centre
that affected large parts of southern England.
December – target not met due to the inability to resolve the following P1 within SLA:
- Multiple Phishing Incidents – (1) planning for the initiation of a password reset for all staff due
to commence (2) Senior management are set to approve project to replace existing SPAM
solution with a new solution that will capture phishing emails.
- Network outage of physical cabling (not wifi) – ICT are working with network support vendor to
improve management of digital certificates which was the root cause of the outage.

- O2 Mobile Network Outage – vendor

SE202

All ICT Service Desk
calls abandoned

Aim to Minimise

26.90%

8%

- Main-switch board technical fault (vendor) – ICT Senior Management are set to meet with O2
regarding this incident and review incident in line with contract terms and seek assurances that
effective measures are being taken to prevent reoccurrence.
October – target not met primarily due to resourcing: recruitment for 3x analysts completed but
not in post and staff leave and training
November – target not met due to staff absence and impact of excessive volume of calls due to
multiple P1s
December – target not met due to technical fault with call process system that resulted in calls
being terminated and required vendor assistance to resolve.
With the completion of all recruitment, staffing is now at correct levels and new staff are being
trained. Work has commenced to upgrade Call Process Flow system that will improve
performance and functionality. Management objective set to analyse call volumes and lead on
initiatives (where feasible) which will reduce call volumes within the top 5 categories.

SE203

SE204

SE205

Availability for core e- Aim to Maximise
mail system
(excluding agreed
downtime)
Availability for core
Aim to Maximise
sites network
(excluding agreed
downtime)
Systems with the
Aim to Maximise
latest Microsoft
critical security
updates

99.99%

99%

98.91%

99%

83.84%

77%

Page 8 of 16

London

England

Page 41
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

Status

Trend

Note
Quarter 3 figure was an exception to the norm for our Team and unusually high as our KPI is 26
weeks and we usually stay within that timescale. The cause of this significant increase in the
length of our care proceeding was the fact that 6 out of 11 cases concluded in excess of 26
weeks, including our longest running case in the Team at 141 weeks. The latter case had
exceptional facts in which the parent absconded from the jurisdiction with her child for 7 months.
The court kept the proceedings in abeyance until the child returned to the jurisdiction and was
then identified at our borders. The proceedings resumed and during the court case, the mother
gave birth to another child who was then joined to the proceedings. Further assessment was
required of her parenting capacity to meet the needs of both or either child in the long term.
There were additional assessments of family members which in the end resulted in different
orders and care plans for each child.

Statistical Neighbours
Lambeth: 34
Hackney: 31
Haringey: 36
Lewisham: 31
Southwark: 32
LAIT - 2014/17

London
England
44 (2012/15)
30 (2014/17)

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

20%

Legal Services
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI49
Average time taken to Aim to Minimise
complete care
proceedings cases

Q3 2018
Value

Target
36

25

3 out of the other 5 cases included assessments of family members/kinship carers, with one
family member only coming forward, 4 months into proceedings. Further specialist information
was needed of the proposed kinship carer in 2 of those assessments which meant that the
cases could not conclude on their original final hearing dates and the final hearings were
adjourned and put back to later dates. The remaining 2 cases that went over 26 weeks involved a
period of observation and transition into the community, which the court decided was needed in
these cases and the final care plans were for the children to remain in the care of their parents.
EI50
EI51

External corporate
Aim to Minimise
legal spend (YTD)
Disrepair damages / Aim to Minimise
disbursements (YTD)

£235,636.00
£207,924.00

Policy and Communications
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
Aim to Maximise
CH.11 Percentage of
complaints completed
on time

Q3 2018
Value

Target
79.26%

Status
93%

Trend

Note
Performance in Q3 has deteriorated further compared to Q2 and continues to be rated red.

England

Performance was on target across Veolia and slightly below target across Corporate Resources.
In Neighbourhoods & Growth performance was poor and worsened. There are two main reasons
for this. Firstly, there was poor performance in the Environment division in December. In part,
this was due to the incorrect allocation of cases concerned with abandoned vehicles, which were
passed to the correct service after the deadline has expired. This has now been corrected and
should improve in Q4. Secondly, Housing Services performance has been poor across the entire
quarter due to a backlog in cases caused by a service restructure. Vacant posts in the team that
coordinates enquiries are being recruited to and improvement should be seen in Q4

CH.13

Percentage of FoI
requests completed
on time

Aim to Maximise

87.03%

95%

Directors are responsible for ensuring that responses to complaints are done on time.
Performance will continue to be monitored. Poor performing is highlighted through a monthly
digest to directors as well as regular reporting to management teams, Management Board and
Corporate Committee.
Performance in Q3 improved by 8.4 percentage points compared to Q2 and has moved to being
rated amber. Performance in October and December was just below 90%, but lower in
November at 84% which dragged down the overall quarterly outturn. This was due to a larger
number of requests going overdue in HR and IT & Customer Services.  

Generally, not enough FOIs are responded to on time across the organisation and further effort
will be made by the Corporate Complaints Team to ensure that all services comply with the
statutory requirement to respond to FOIs within 20 working days via its escalations procedure.
CH.15

CH.16

Percentage of MEs
completed on time

Percentage of SARs
completed on time

Aim to Maximise

Aim to Maximise

57.49%

49.18%

90%

85%

Performance in Q3 deteriorated compared to Q2.   As with complaints, the main issue causing
the failure to meet the target is a backlog in responding to MEs across Housing Services. Again,
this is due to the restructure in Housing Services. Vacant posts in the team that coordinates
enquiries are being recruited to and improvements in performance should be seen in Q4.
Similarly, there was poor performance in the Environment division in December due to
misallocated MEs relating to abandoned vehicles. This has been corrected. Generally,
performance in responding to MEs is mixed. Higher volume service areas tend to perform better
than low volume areas. There were a small number of services which didn’t the target across the
entire quarter.
Directors are responsible for ensuring that responses to MEs are done on time and any
improvements in their services. Performance will continue to be monitored. Poor performing is
highlighted through a monthly digest to directors as well as regular reporting to management
teams, Management Board and Corporate Committee.
Performance for responding to SARs improved in Q3 but continues to remain red. A large
number overdue SARs (20) in Children’s Social Care were closed on the system in November,
accounting for the poor performance in this month. In October and December there were fewer
SARs, but a small number were not responded to on time accounting for the target not being
achieved, mainly in Children’s Social Care and Corporate Resources. Performance in
Neighbourhoods & Growth was generally good across the quarter.
Poor performance is highlighted to directors as part of the monthly complaints digest. In addition,
analysis suggests that in some circumstances SARs are being responded to on time, but are not
being closed on the system. Training will be provided to prevent this occurring.

SE117b Proportion of
Aim to Minimise
complaints escalated
from Stage 1 to Stage
2

9.40%

7%

Generally, Final Review complaints occur when either the customer does not feel that their
complaints has been dealt with satisfactorily or they disagree with the outcome of their complaint
at Local Resolution stage. There were 92 complaints escalated to the Final Review stage in Q3.
This represents an increase of 16% compared to the previous quarter, in part affected by 212
fewer complaints responded.  Housing Services accounted for 29% of all Final Review
complaints. Other higher volume areas were Parking (10%); Housing Needs & Allocations
(10%); Veolia (9%) and Council Tax (8%).
This KPI gives an indication as to whether complaints are being dealt with correctly at the Local
Resolution Stage. Final Review complaints can often be avoided if complaints investigated
properly and good quality responses produced by services.

Page 9 of 16

Lambeth: 76.2%
Hackney: 42.0%
Haringey: 80.0%
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19

77.50%

Page 42
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Status

Trend

Note
Statistical Neighbours
Reduction due to correcting the agency worker calculation. The reliance on temporary resources
to support the IICSA project contributed to the demand for agency workers.

London

England

London

England

20%

Corporate Measures

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI39
Agency workers as a Aim to Minimise
percentage of
workforce – Corporate
Resources
EI43

Number of
Aim to Maximise
apprentices employed
by the Council –
Corporate Resources
(YTD)

EI34c

Items of post received Goldilocks
by directorate Corporate Resources

EI35c

Proportion of post
Aim to Maximise
actioned (in progress
of ready to action)
within 30 calendar
days of upload by
directorate Corporate Resources

Q3 2018
Value

Target
15.10% Monitor Only

16

15

6,044 Monitor Only

58%

Represents total volume of post scanned to Omnidox portal. Note - excludes RBCS, Legal
Services, Redress Scheme, Registrars, IACF and Electoral Services which are not received via
Omnidox portal.

100%

Steady improvement on Q2 average of 53%. This directorate has three poorly performing teams
that skew the figures significantly; performance improvement strategies invoked.

Note - excludes RBCS, Legal Services, Redress Scheme, Registrars, IACF and Electoral
Services which are not received via Omnidox portal.
Review and appraise local processes for managing Omnidox portal; enact plan to close gap on
performance target of 100%

Neighbourhoods & Growth
Environment
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
BSN.14 Victims of Serious
Aim to Minimise
Youth Violence

Q3 2018
Value

Target
No data Monitor Only

Status

BSN.18 Kerbside households
– waste sent for
reuse, recycling or
composting

Aim to Maximise

38.89%

39%

BSN.19 Estate households –
waste sent for reuse,
recycling or
composting

Aim to Maximise

18.29%

28%

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours
Hackney – 254
Haringey – 324
Lewisham – 323
Southwark – 439

This quarter is close to achieving target with an overall total of 38.89%. There will be a push on
food waste recycling from March which will include supplying liners and communication materials
to all eligible households. The anticipated success will provide positive results for this indicator.

Management Actions: The implementation of the food waste project from March 2018.

BSN.20 Percentage total
waste that is sent for
reuse, recycling or
composting

Oct - 16.67
Nov - 17.04
Dec - 21.16
Following a review of the housing stock the target for this indicator is no longer achievable. This
will be reset next year to better reflect what is achievable. However month on month we are
seeing an improvement which is encouraging.
This quarter has not quite achieved target with an overall total of 31.77%. There will be a push
on food waste recycling from March which will include supplying liners and communication
materials to all eligible households. The anticipated success should result positively with this
indicator.

Aim to Maximise

31.77%

33%

BSN.21 Percentage of land
Aim to Minimise
and highways with
unacceptable levels of
litter

11.51%

7%

BSN.22 Percentage of land
Aim to Minimise
and highways with
unacceptable levels of
detritus

11.51%

9%

This KPI did not achieve target for Tranche 2. Seasonal trends do affect detritus scores
especially during Tranche 2 during the leafing period. We would expect Tranche 3 to be the
cleanest tranche for detritus and hopefully bring the overall score more in line with target.
Failures this period were evenly spread throughout the targeted wards with housing and industrial
transects receiving the most, particularly in areas where parked vehicles restricted mechanical
broom access. This was an issue we were aware of and as of the end of November have revised
our cleansing resources to ensure such areas have manual attendance rather than mechanical.
This should hopefully improve the standard of detritus cleaning.

Lambeth: 11%
Hackney: 4.8%
Haringey: 5%
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: no data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19

BSN.23 Percentage of land
Aim to Minimise
and highways with
unacceptable levels of
graffiti

10.36%

7%

This KPI did not achieve target for tranche 2. Graffiti has increased year on year in the borough
with no increased resource to tackle it. The surveying process assesses graffiti levels by sight
regardless of whether it is within our direct control or not. Much of the graffiti failures were out of
our control and on areas where we are not authorised to clean. This includes bridges, private
property and street furniture. We will continue to maintain contracts with the Business
Improvement Districts to help with graffiti removal in those areas. We have a contract with BT,
however intend on securing further contracts with other owners of street furniture to assist with
resourcing.
The average kg this quarter is slightly higher than what needs to be achieved to be on target.
However December is within target. There will be a push on food waste recycling from March
which will have a positive impact on this indicator.

Lambeth: 6%
Hackney: 4.8%
Haringey: 12.3%
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: no data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19

BSN.26 Residual household
waste per household
(YTD)

Aim to Minimise

286.83

291

BSN.27 Total household
waste generated per
household (YTD)

Aim to Minimise

412.83

413.25

Lambeth: 32.11%
Hackney: 27.9%
Haringey: 29.3%
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: no data
LAPS - Q1 2018/19
This KPI did not achieve target for Tranche 2. However, seasonal trends do affect the scores with Lambeth: 10%
Tranche 3 typically having the best performance of the year, bringing the overall score closer to
Hackney: 2.7%
target. The failures for litter were evenly spread throughout the five targeted wards with most ‘only Haringey: 17%
just’ failing by being graded B-. We will be looking into the surveying process in depth to ensure Lewisham: No data
consistency. Surveyors will be noting in more detail exactly what has caused the failure. This will Southwark: no data
enable us to tailor our efforts to improve performance more specifically.
LAPS - Q1 2018/19

The performance over the quarter is moving in the right direction with December being well within
target. We’re continuing with waste minimisation initiatives such as encouraging the use of real
nappies. The number of visitors to the real nappy page last month was 170 whereas the same
month last year only received 5.

Page 10 of 16

Lambeth: 437.09
Hackney: 578.05
Haringey: 508.95
Lewisham: No data
Southwark: No data
LG Inform - 2016/17

555.46

Page 43
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
Ai to
t Maximise
Mi i i
BSN.28
Proportion
of fjourneys Aim
made by walking and
cycling

BSN.29 Number of people
killed or seriously
injured in road traffic
accidents

Aim to Minimise

Q3 2018
Value

Target
Status
48 40%
05% Monitor Only 20%

196

93

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

The performance information is calculated as a trip-based mode share for active, efficient and
sustainable modes, by borough of residence, LTDS 3 year average, 2015/16-2017/18. There is
no chance compared to the same period in the previous year.

Lambeth: 40%
Hackney: 50%
Haringey: 36%
Lewisham: 32%
Southwark: 40%
London Travel
Demand Survey
(2015/16 to 2017/18)
Lambeth: 142
Hackney: 110
Haringey: 92
Lewisham: 80
Southwark: 107
LG Inform - 2015/17

196 is the number of people killed or seriously injured during the 12 months ending end of April
2018, the most recent period for which we have received collision data from Transport for
London.
Since autumn 2016 the police have classified some injuries that had been recorded as “slight”
(and thus not included in this KPI) to instead be recorded as “serious” (i.e. now included). This
makes it very difficult to place recent collision data in any kind of context. However, working with
the Department for Transport, TfL has now ‘back-estimated’ the number of casualties that would
have been reported by the police using the new injury-defined rather than a severity-defined
system. This has allowed them to draw a comparison between 2016 and 2017 collision figures.
Using the back estimated data, Transport for London calculate that overall, collisions have fallen
by 3% in Lambeth from 2016 to 2017. The number of people killed and seriously injured in the
borough has risen by 6%, while the numbers slightly injured has fallen by 5%. The number of
collisions in Lambeth is generally higher than most other London boroughs. Efforts to tackle this
will be considered as part of the development of a new transport strategy. Discussions with
Transport for London are currently ongoing regarding establishing a new 2022 target, using the
back-estimated data, as a stepping stone to the Mayor’s Vision Zero of eliminating all deaths and
serious injuries on the road by 2040.

EI65

Total crime (total
notifiable offences)
(YTD)

Aim to Minimise

34,917 Monitor Only

EI66

Number of reported
knife crimes (rolling
12 months)

Aim to Minimise

581 Monitor Only

EI67

ASB Community
Safety cases
successfully closed

Aim to Maximise

22 Monitor Only

EI68

Noise nuisance
threshold cases
successfully closed

Aim to Maximise

Data is rolling 12 months offending trend to end of December 2018. There has been a reduction
in the volumes of total notifiable offences since July 18 when the level was 35,468.

London

England

87%

Lambeth: 34,917
Hackney: 31,166
Haringey: 30,934
Lewisham: 25, 989
Southwark: 35,627
MOPAC - rolling 12
months to Dec 2018

26,111

Data is rolling 12 months offending trend to end of December 2018. The volume of reported knife Lambeth: 581
crimes has seen a significant reduction since June 18 when the level was 739.
Hackney: 613
Haringey: 749
Lewisham: 576
Southwark: 785
MOPAC - rolling 12
months to Dec 2018

460

Many ASB cases are ongoing; however, there is an exercise being currently undertaken where
cases are being reviewed.
There is a planned appraisal of procedures due to take place during Q4;   it is envisaged that this
review will assess if there are opportunities to further increase the efficiency of bringing such
cases to a conclusion.
With the introduction of a reconfigured Noise Service, there have been procedural changes in the
way that cases have been managed that has resulted in an increased number of noise cases that
have been closed over the quarter.

278 Monitor Only

With the advent of the revised noise service; there is an emphasis on being responsive to noise
issues and ensuring that officers effectively and efficiently progress cases to their conclusion.
The results of Q3 are a vast improvement of those over Q2 and demonstrate the positive impact
of the new procedures. We will continue to closely monitor progress.
EI71

Percentage of
disabled persons
parking spaces that
are installed within
120 days of
application

Aim to Maximise

Figure is year to date

Number of validated applications received 1/4/2018 – 1/9/2018 = 44
Number of validated applications received 1/4/2018 – 1/9/2018 with bay installed within 120 days:
= 34

Percentage of ramps Aim to Maximise
on the footway to aid
pram and wheelchair
users that are
constructed within 60
days of application

EI73

Percentage of bus
Aim to Maximise
stops that meet TfL
accessibility standard

EI75

Membership of adults Aim to Maximise
(16 years +) within
our facilities
Fixed Penalty Notices Aim to Maximise
for Section 87
offences (YTD)
Statutory food safety / Aim to Maximise
hygiene inspections
completed (YTD)

EI77

75%

The Disabled Persons Parking Bay KPI for Q3 = 77%:

EI72

EI76

77.27%

SE115

Violence against the
person - with injury
offences recorded

Aim to Minimise

SE150

Fixed penalty notices
for waste related
offences (excluding
Section 87 offences)
(YTD)

Aim to Maximise

100%

75%

Monitor Only

We received 6 ramp applications and all were installed

No data available for TfL

17,652

19,000

4,326

5,954

770

675

There has been a reduction in the number of littering penalties being issued due to a
streamlining and cost efficiency exercise. This exercise saw the termination of external service
provider agreements and services being managed in-house.
770 cumulative figure for all inspection form April to December 2018
Currently we are on target to achieve the 900 end of year figure

3,486 Monitor Only

289

712.5

This data is based on rolling calendar quarter covering 12 months (so the data is for Qtr 3
calendar year 2018, as at end of September 2018). Over the last 9 months there has been a
reduction in the volumes of this type of offence from a high of 3,687 in Dec 2018.

Lambeth: 3,486
Hackney: 2,855
Haringey: 3,091
Lewisham: 2,815
Southwark: 3,419
LG Inform - Q3
calendar year 2018 (12
months rolling total)

The team is currently running with only two rather than three officers. Income from FPNs is
however covering staffing costs and the service remains cost neutral

Hackney: 214
Haringey: 803
Lewisham: 205
Southwark: 355
Gov.uk - 2016/17
(Local authorities
incidents and actions
report - fly tipping

Recruitment is currently being undertaken to bring the team back up to establishment.

Page 11 of 16

2,402

Page 44
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Status

Trend

Note
Data for Clapham High Street not available. Reported figure is an average of vacancy rates for
the other five town centres listed.

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Performance figure of 90% exceeds the target of 85%. YTD figure of 95.2% is extremely strong,
especially when measured against other councils. The effective use of Planning Performance
Agreements has aided in delivering this high level of performance.

Lambeth: 100%
Hackney: 67%
Haringey: 100%
Lewisham: 100%
Southwark: 73%
LG Inform - Q4
2017/18

20%

Growth, Planning and Employment
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
DIR.01 Percentage of vacant Aim to Minimise
units in 6 largest town
centres
DIR.03

Major applications
Aim to Maximise
determined within 13
weeks or in
accordance with
Planning
Performance
Agreement or agreed
extension of time

Q3 2018
Value

Target
7.51%

9%

90%

85%

Two major applications failed to meet the 13 week target date. These were both the subject of
extensive negotiations. In both instances a suitable development proposal could not be
negotiated and the applicant refused to extend the EoT any further. The applications were
subsequently subject to an appeal.

90%

88%

£40,120

£26,348

Management will continue to work hard to ensure that targets are met and to ensure that the aims
and objectives of the Council are met. A new Strategic Applications Team has been created as
part of the Neighbourhoods & Growth reorganisation. Managers will review the reasons behind
the out of time Majors to identify any lessons that can be learned.

DIR.04

Aim to Maximise
Minor & Other
planning applications
determined within 8
weeks or agreed
extension of time

88.83%

90%

Continued high performance is reliant on retaining good staff. The service has been successful
in recruiting to a number of positions on the new structure through internal recruitment, which is a
big positive. However, this has in-turn led to a requirement for significant back-filling of roles
where some of our external recruitment has been less successful. Prolonged gaps in officer
cover will potentially impact on performance, however management are being proactive in
securing agency cover where necessary while the rounds of permanent recruitment are being
undertaken.
The overall performance figure of 88.3% falls below the target level of 90%, which includes
failings in both October and November.
This is largely attributable to poor caseload management and a failure to appropriately apply
‘Extensions of Time’ (EoT). EoTs provide the Planning Service with the ability to extend
determination timeframes, and thereby minimise poor performance.
Officers are working hard to ensure that targets and the aims and objectives of the Council are
met. A new management team and reporting lines have been introduced and service
improvement around planning KPI’s has been identified as a key priority.
Line managers will monitor performance and this will be captured in fortnightly 1-2-1s with staff
members and in mid-year and end of year appraisals. Weekly performance reports will be
generated and will be a rolling agenda item for discussions at DM management meetings. Poor
officer performance will be identified and appropriate measures put in place to remedy such
failings.

DIR.10a Gross value added
(GVA) per head of
population at current
basic prices (income
approach) (£)

Aim to Maximise

£34,935.00 Monitor Only

DIR.14b Percentage increase
of employee jobs in
Lambeth

Aim to Maximise

3.50%

1.90%

DIR.16a Amount of banked
S106 (YTD)

Aim to Maximise

£6,400,828.45

£2,000,342.00

DIR.16b Amount of banked CiL Aim to Maximise
(YTD)

£7,944,105.14

£3,356,201.00

385

282

Continued high performance is reliant on retaining good staff. The service has been successful
in recruiting to a number of positions on the new structure through internal recruitment, which is a
big positive. However, this has in-turn led to a requirement for significant back-filling of roles
where some of our external recruitment has been less successful. Prolonged gaps in officer
cover will potentially impact on performance, however management are being proactive in
securing agency cover where necessary while the rounds of permanent recruitment are being
undertaken.
This is provisional data for 2017 as at January 2019.
Lambeth: £34,723
Hackney: £26,970
Haringey: £21,212
Lewisham: £16,511
Southwark: £48,349
ONS - 2015
The total number of jobs in Lambeth has risen from 143,000 in 2016 to 148,000 in 2017. The
increase of 5,000 represents a 3.5% increase on the previous year. This is higher than the Inner
London increase of 1.9% (3,144,000 jobs in 2016 to 3,204,000 in 2017).
The target for S106 receipts in 2018/19 has already been surpassed. S106 becomes due for
payment depending on the triggers set out in the S106 agreement which correspond to certain
stages of the development. As with CIL income the decision to commence with a scheme or
phase rests with the developer.
No action necessary. Will look at further improvements to forecasting to include developments
that have yet to receive final approval of planning permission but are likely to commence
implementation during the forecast year.
The target for CIL receipts in 2018/19 has already been surpassed. It is difficult to forecast
precisely income for CIL due to fluctuations in market activity. This is mainly because CIL
becomes due on commencement of development and the decision to commence or not rests
with the Developer.
No action necessary. Will look at further improvements to forecasting to include developments
that have yet to receive final approval of planning permission but are likely to commence
implementation during the forecast year.

EI57

Number of residents
supported into
employment, training
or education
(including
apprenticeships)
through councilsupported activities

Aim to Maximise

The Q3 figure is 256, which adds to the 129 achieved Qs 1 and 2 . This includes 184 jobs that
were created through Section 106 agreements with developers in Q1 and Q2 but not previously
reported. New monitoring processes have now been put in place to ensure these S106 outcomes
can be regularly reported, although they will always be one quarter in arrears.

Outside of the S106 outcomes, in Q3 the highest number of outcomes were achieved by the
Workwise programme (38) and Pathways to Employment (12).

Page 12 of 16

Page 45
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti
li
f
Ai to
t Maximise
Mi i i
EI58
Affordable
workspace
Aim
created as a result of
Council initiatives
(YTD)

Q3 2018
Value

Target
485,109
05%

Status
20%
4,500

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Excellent progress on Lambeth Works in recent months. 5,109 sq. m. has been enable to date.
Recent highlights include:
- A £3.75m off-site affordable workspace developer contribution was secured through the s106
process on the OAKDA scheme
- Tripod (465 sq. m.) new creative and digital industries enterprise hub has opened at Lambeth
Town Hall with all studio spaces let to a range of creative and technology businesses.
- International House (4645 sq. m.) has been let to affordable workspace operator 3Space
following a competitive process. The building has opened and a range of tenants have already
moved in, from start-ups to scale up creative and technology businesses and not-for-profit
enterprises. All businesses using the space have committed to paying the Living Wage.
- Brixton Rec / Beehive Place (929 sq. m. storage space for conversion to an enterprise hub): the
council has submitted a stage 2 Good Growth Fund application to the GLA for £2m of for the
‘Revitalising the Brixton Rec Quarter’ project which would include £600k grant to support the
conversion of the storage space at Beehive Place. The application scored very highly and has
been recommended for funding subject to some bid clarifications which officers are currently
working to address.
- South London Innovation Corridor: the council’s 4 borough (Lambeth, Southwark, Lewisham
and Wandsworth) Strategic Investment Pot application for the ‘South London Innovation Corridor’
programme was successful and has been allocated £8m by the Corporation of London. The
council will be accountable body for the programme which includes a strand of activity supporting
workspace projects in the borough.
- Creative Enterprise Zone: Brixton has been confirmed as one of London’s first ‘Creative
Enterprise Zones’ following a competitive bidding process. The London CEZ programme was
launched by Sadiq Khan with Cllr Lib Peck at Tripod in December. The council will receive £550k
capital and revenue funding, some of which will enable feasibility work on new workspace
projects.
- Affordable Workspace Policy: the draft new affordable workspace policy was included in the
recent Local Plan Review consultation. Officers are drafting an Affordable Workspace SPD to
accompany the policy which is expected to be adopted later in 2019.  

EI59

Number of properties Aim to Maximise
paying business rates

8,926 Monitor Only

October – 8926 of which 950 are exempt

Lambeth: 98.97%
Hackney: 98.09%
Haringey: 98.07%
Lewisham: 99.62%
December – 8926 of which 1007 are exempt
Southwark: 99 36%
An excellent performance with 76.8% of appeals successfully defended – a 16.8% performance Lambeth: 69%
above the KPI target of 60%. In addition, this is a significant improvement against the previous Q2 Hackney: 64%
Haringey: 67%
performance figure of 47.3%.
Lewisham: 88%
The KPI target was exceeded in all 3 months, with particularly strong performance in November Southwark: 73%
and December.
LG Inform - Q2 2018

98.57%

98.36%

66%

68%

November – 8928 of which 992 are exempt

EI60

Planning appeals
(percentage
successfully
defended)

Aim to Maximise

76.79%

60%

Year to date total is 66.9% which exceeds the KPI target.
Officers are working hard to ensure that targets are met. The Neighbourhoods & Growth
reorganisation went live in September 2018 and a revised structure is currently being introduced
within the Development Management Service. A new management team and reporting lines have
been introduced and service improvement around planning KPI’s has been identified as a key
priority, with a particular focus to be paid to improving appeal performance.

EI63

Amount of spent S106 Aim to Maximise
(YTD)

£1,931,571.44

£3,146,103.00

In terms of immediate actions, a KPI management plan was submitted on 16 January 2018. This
outlines 4 key actions. It is envisaged that these will positively aid decision making and policy
formulation.
The majority of expenditure for s106 is expected to occur in Quarter 4 of the financial year.
Historically, service owners submit their drawdowns in Q4. This results with drawdowns not
aligning with the forecast quarterly spend which are informed by the projected spend outlined in
ODDRs/CMDRs authorising the allocation. The s106 Team proactively meets with the Service
Owners as part of their regular quarterly meeting framework to ensure they are on track with
meeting their in year financial obligations by Quarter 4.
The quarterly profile targets for S106 spend was based on the assumption that half would be
drawn down in Qtrs. 1-3 and the remainder in Q4. A more realistic profile would assume that
30% will be drawn down in the first three quarters and 70% will be drawn down in Q4. An action
plan has been drawn to ensure that the bulk of the Q4 drawdowns take place with the bulk due to
be drawn down from Highways, Parks and Regeneration.

EI64

Amount of spent CiL
(YTD)

Aim to Maximise

£1,327,072.79

£1,964,664.00

A drawdown of £2.8m in CIL was submitted in Q3 in relation to the Borough Roads project (HIP).
This has not yet been approved by Finance as they have requested that the Highways accountant
provides further clarity on the transaction report and accounting of the borough Roads project.
The accountant is going to meet with the Service Area (Highways) to provide the information
requested by the end of the January 2019. Further drawdowns however are expected in Q4 as the
greater bulk of drawdowns historically occur in Q4.

There is a £2.8m drawdown pending with colleagues in Finance related to the Highways
Investment Programme. Once processed the target CIL spend for 2018/19 would be reached.
There will also be further CIL drawdowns, which once processed will exceed the KPI target. The
106 team is confident that the KPI target for CIL spend will be reached. However an action plan is
in place which will focus on working with service areas to ensure allocated funds are drawn down
where works have been completed.
RI.18b

The percentage point Aim to Minimise
gap between the
claimant rate of those
aged 18-24 and the
overall claimant rate

1.50%

0.20%

RI.19b

The percentage point Aim to Minimise
gap between the
employment rate of
ethnic minority aged
16-64 and the overall
employment rate

10%

9%

RI.20b

The percentage point Aim to Minimise
gap between the
claimant rate of those
aged 50-64 and the
overall claimant rate

RI.23

Proportion of
residents that are in
low-paid jobs (below
the London Living
Wage)

Aim to Minimise

3.40% Monitor Only

18%

The claimant rate for 18-24 years is 3.6 and the overall claimant rate is 2.1.

The BME employment rate is 67.7% and the overall employment rate is 77.7%. The number of
BME residents in employment has gone up by 4,000 in the last six months but the overall number
of BME residents has also increased significantly.

The Claimant rate for 50+ is 5.5 and the overall claimant rate is 2.1.

19%

Lambeth: 0.6%
Hackney: 0.6%
Haringey: 0.3%
Lewisham: 0.8%
Southwark: 0.1%
NOMIS - as at Sep
2018

The proportion of residents in low paid jobs has reduced from 19% to 18%.

Page 13 of 16

0.50%

7.4% gap
(NOMIS - June
2018)

Lambeth: 2.4%
Hackney: 2.0%
Haringey: 1.2%
Lewisham: 1.2%
Southwark: 2.0%
NOMIS - as at Sep
2018
Lambeth: 18.1%
Hackney: 21.5%
Haringey: 25.0%
Lewisham: 21.8%
Southwark: 18.9%
Trust for London 2017/18

0.70%

Page 46
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Status

Trend

Note
Statistical Neighbours
The 2017/18 target for this measure was 70 per cent and it achieved a year end figure of 73.6 per
cent. In 2018/19 we have set an aspirational target of 75 per cent so that we continually
challenge our performance and aim to achieve higher satisfaction levels. Our performance since
2017/18 has remained broadly consistent but the increase in the target has meant that our
performance status is currently amber.
Resident's priorities for their estates are being captured via estate action plans which will be in
place for every estate this financial year. Where there is low satisfaction with estate cleaning and
grounds maintenance on a particular estate, this will be discussed with residents and actions
agreed to bring up satisfaction and performance of the estate cleaning and grounds maintenance
services.
The YTD collection for the second quarter remains in range with those of the last financial year
and is close to the target level of 99%. However, with the growing challenge of Universal Credit
rollout, we are expecting a week-on-week increase in Universal Credit claims. In total, there are
just over 1400 current UC claims and an average of 100 claims coming through the portal on a
weekly basis; this is a similar level of demand to that affecting all boroughs across London.

London

England

20%

Housing Services
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
Aim to Maximise
BSN.07 Satisfaction with
grounds maintenance
and estate cleaning

CH.18

Rent collection rate in-year

Aim to Maximise

Q3 2018
Value

Target
72.50%

75%

98.92%

99%

To further support residents in Lambeth, Housing and the DWP have been working in partnership
and developed outreached services to tailor the supports provided to those with complex needs
throughout the UC claim process. An officer from the DWP has been co-located with the Income
Teams to share data and resolve complex UC claims and complement supports to vulnerable
customers in addition to those that are already in place. While it is still in the early days, the
feedback has been positive as it improves communication barriers and further enhances data
sharing which improves the quality of services that we provide to our customers in this climate of
change.
The closure of Lambeth County Court by the Ministry of Justice has impacted on our enforcement
work as our cases have moved to other Courts who have not been able to accommodate the
volume of our cases. The issues have been highlighted to the Court Manager, and further
discussions took place to resolve critical operational issues. We agreed on the escalation
process, and the majority of backlogs have been resolved. However, we still maintaining a close
relationship with the Court to ensure that our cases are prioritised and actioned promptly.
EI54
EI56

Day to day service
charge collection
Percentage of
structures with an up
to date FRA

Aim to Maximise

115.44%

105%

Maintain current performance.

Aim to Maximise

98.40%

100%

Performance has improved again in Q3 and is currently only 1.6 per cent away from our 100%
target.
The following has been built into the capital programme for FRA works:
2019/20 – £9.9m (£5m doors, £2.9m sprinklers, £2m general FRA works)
2020/21 - £7m (£5m doors, £2m general FRA works)
2021/22 - £7m (£5m doors, £2m general FRA works)
2022/23 – £7m (£5m doors, £2m general FRA work)
2023/24 Onwards - £2m per annum (general FRA works)
It should be noted that any surplus in 2018/19 will be transferred to a capital reserve for use on
FRA works on top of the above. This is estimated at £6.3m. Overall £89.2m has been budgeted
for FRA works over the 30 year HRA business plan on top of the ongoing LHS programme.

RI.28

Number of
households in
temporary
accommodation

Aim to Minimise

2,251

2,500

The nature of FRAs is cyclical and structures requiring new FRAs have been scheduled in with
our contractors.
Occupation levels are up by 2% at the end of Quarter 3 but are on course to remain within the
2018/19 target of fewer than 2,500 households in temporary accommodation at year-end.

Occupation levels and new placement demand are being pegged back by robust homeless
prevention and relief actions. Work streams are also in place to support households already in
temporary accommodation to move out with the promise of priority housing status Band B. We
will be getting a further 46 units of accommodation from the Real Lettings investment, and we
were also successful with a bid for £129k to pilot insurance for PRS landlords which was a joint
bid with Southwark and other boroughs.
In the London context Lambeth continues to report good performance for this measure, 16th
lowest occupation levels at the end of June 2018 across the London authorities, 8th lowest
occupation levels in Inner London.
Temporary accommodation occupation levels are the subject of weekly scrutiny as are new
placement demand levels.

Page 14 of 16

Lambeth: 2,153
Hackney: 3,026
Haringey: 2,962
Lewisham: 2,036
Southwark: 2,442
Qtr 1 June 2018
(MHCLG, Statistical
Release, Dec-18)

Page 47
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti
li of f
Ai to
t Maximise
Mi i i
RI.29
Number
Aim
households where
homelessness was
prevented (YTD)

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%
641

Status
20%
1,275

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

Note that this is new performance data and it comes with caveats, as follows:
- Performance is provisional and subject to change as officers working in two systems load more
outcomes into the new HOPE system (performance reported is from HOPE). For example, Q3
outturn includes just 54 tenancies created in the private sector as a prevention of homelessness
or homelessness relief. The actual number was 111. At the moment it is not possible to merge
activities in both systems, and there is overlap.
- Performance outcomes reported are referenced to the quarter in which the individual case was
opened. This is the way our reports have been constructed. As result and over time previously
reported performance will improve as reports are recompiled to take account of outcomes
applied.
- Current performance does not include Sanctuary Scheme installations delivered by GAIA as a
prevention of homelessness.
- Current performance does not include tenancy sustainment outcomes secured for council and
private sector tenants in rent arrears.
In terms of management actions:
- Work is ongoing to get the full range of homeless prevention and relief case outcomes in
greater volume into the HOPE system.
- Work with ICT is underway to develop an interface between systems.
- Work is in progress to resume the inclusion of prevention outcomes delivered by our external
partners. The new MHCLG case level reporting regime is posing significant administrative
issues in this regard.

SE108

Tenant satisfaction
with Housing
Services

Aim to Maximise

65.04%

70%

Q3 performance is similar to the first two quarters.
The new Neighbourhood Housing Service continues to bed in. Neighbourhood Housing Officers
are becoming more confident in their new roles and recruitment is underway to fill all vacant
roles. Estate Action plans for 72 estates will be completed by the end of January 2019 and a
number of estate improvement projects are underway.

SE109

Percentage of tenants Aim to Maximise
satisfied with the
quality of repairs

SE110

Number of
prosecutions/civil
penalties against
rogue
landlords (YTD)

85.29%

88%

3

9

Q3 performance continues to lag behind the target of 88% with other repair-related KPIs above
target
Transition to the new ways of working continues and improvement plans for the Repairs Service,
Capita and Mears are being developed. It is expected that satisfaction will improve going forward.

Aim to Maximise

April to December 3 successful prosecutions/fines have been achieved. All 3 were served on
one landlord. Further prosecutions are in the pipeline and being processed for legal action in
Quarter 4.
An investigations officer was appointed in November to review and identify additional cases for
prosecution, 26 cases are under consideration.
Management actions to improve performance are in place and the subject of close monthly
monitoring.

SE111

SE113

Number of private
Aim to Maximise
dwellings and HMOs
improved to
compliance with
statutory Housing Act
standards (YTD)
Leaseholder
Aim to Maximise
satisfaction with
Housing Services

133

165

41.02%

43%

The outcome of an application for rogue landlord funding is expected in January 2019. The
submission seeks funding to employ 4 additional officers to work with fraud investigators and
trading standards
Year to date 133 private dwellings and HMOs have been improved to compliance with Housing
Act standards.
Performance is 19% short of the target position at the end of Quarter 3, and is explained by staff
vacancies and annual leave in Quarter 3. Recruitment is under way to 3 posts.
As previously advised it's difficult to equate the increase or decrease of leasehold satisfaction to
a particular area of the service. This quarter has seen a dip in performance, but again it's difficult
to say precisely which area that relates to
We are continuing to build on our improvements over the past 18 months such as: 1) we are in a
position to issue the 19/20 day to day charges earlier than eve r(February 2019); 2) we have
carried out our most detailed pre-section 20 engagement process with leaseholders, and we will
continue to make sure all of our communication is timely and relevant; 3) new live support chat to
improve conversations with leaseholders and 4) new text surveys to evaluate the HOS&Rents
performance on a transactional basis.

Page 15 of 16

London

England

Page 48
Cabinet - Appendix 1
Quarter 3 Performance Report

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI1
Ti li
f
Ai t Mi i i

Q3 2018
Value

Target
48 05%

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Status

Trend

Note

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

20%

Strategic Programmes
KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
BSN.06 Number of Lambeth
Aim to Maximise
Council homes
brought up to LHS
standard in-year
(YTD)
EI52
Planned moves within Aim to Maximise
the vulnerable adults
pathway

Q3 2018
Value

Target
3,836

66.40%

80%

Planned moves across the Vulnerable Adults Pathway and into the private rented sector (PRS)
have remained consistent over the last two quarters. Pathway Providers continue to focus on
positive and planned move-on outcomes for clients and have plans in place to reduce unplanned
moves. The support needs of people referred into the Pathway continues to be high which can in
part explain the number of unplanned moves, as higher support needs will often result in more
challenging behaviours which can lead to evictions or abandonments.
Procuring accommodation in the Private Rented Sector remains a challenge across London with
many services and boroughs competing for the same properties and being played off against
each other by Landlords. Our commissioned service (SHP) continue to build relationships with
Landlords who are willing to accept tenants who have a history of rough sleeping or
homelessness. We have been successful in securing some funding from the MHCLG that will
increase the capacity of the Supported Move On service. This funding will help facilitate a higher
number of planned moves. Given that the service is already established it will be relatively easy
to increase the capacity and is likely to result in improved performance.

EI53

Percentage of
Education &
Community
Projects on schedule

Aim to Maximise

94%

90%

The 3rd Qtr. programme currently consists of 10 live projects. Since Q2, 2 projects have now
been suspended and 1 project has been handed to regeneration colleagues for managing. Of the
live projects, the programme is (10 of 10 with an average of 94%) on time to meet current
opening/occupation milestones as agreed at or before 1st Qtr., some of which are based on a
rebased milestone reflecting revised programmes for handover and occupation by the end user.

Programme delivery will continue to be managed into the 4th Qtr. to meet current
opening/occupation milestones as agreed at or before 1st Qtr., some of which are based on a
rebased milestone reflecting revised programmes for handover and occupation by the end user.
There is the responsibility to oversee the delivery of Priority Schools Building Programme
delivered by the DfE, we do not have any management responsibilities for these schemes so we
will not be factoring them into the KPIs.
RI.32

SE112

SE114

Reduction in levels of Aim to Maximise
risk for victims of
VAWG engaged with
Gaia Centre
Repeat incidents of
Aim to Minimise
domestic violence
relating to victims who
are subject to
Lambeth MARAC

Total number of
Aim to Maximise
homes at council rent
planned, under
construction or
completed
(cumulative year-onyear total) by 2022
(YTD)

38%

35%

Performance for Quarter 3 was 38%, which exceeds the target of 35%. The Gaia Centre
continues to perform well across all key outcome areas, and provides a high quality support
service to some of our most vulnerable residents who are experiencing VAWG.

33.06%

34%

A higher than average proportion of cases (33%) were repeat referrals (due to a further incident
of abuse within a 12 month period). This nears the target of 34% and is significantly higher than
the 17/18 outturn of 25%.

1004

1,000

Lambeth: 30%
Hackney: No data
Haringey: No data
Lewisham: 28%
SafeLives sets the best practice national repeat target at 28-40% - accordingly our target is set at Southwark: 23%
34%.
Croydon: 27%
Information provided
It is positive that repeat incidents are being reported to services and are instigating a MARAC
directly from
referral. However, it is concerning that victims are suffering repeat incidents and this will continue statistical neighbours to be monitored.
Q2 2018/19
The target has been achieved.

28% (Safe
Lives - Q2
18/19)

Corporate Measures

KPI Ref Performance Indicator Polarity
EI40
Agency workers as a Aim to Minimise
percentage of
workforce –
Neighbourhoods &
EI44
Number of
Aim to Maximise
apprentices employed
by the Council –
Neighbourhoods &
Growth (YTD)
EI34d

Items of post received Goldilocks
by directorate Neighbourhoods and
Growth

EI35d

Proportion of post
Aim to Maximise
actioned (in progress
of ready to action)
within 30 calendar
days of upload by
directorate Neighbourhoods and
Growth

Q3 2018
Value

Target
13.90% Monitor Only

Status

Trend

Note
Reduction due to correcting the agency worker calculation. The restructure within
Neighbourhoods and Growth has continued to drive the demand for agency workers.
Recruitment to vacant posts underway in Q4.

4

15

2,729 Monitor Only

71%

Represents total volume of post scanned to Omnidox portal.

100%

Good improvement on Q2 average of 60%. This directorate has one poorly performing team that
skews the figures significantly; performance improvement strategy required to address.

Review and appraise local processes for managing Omnidox portal; enact plan to close gap on
performance target of 100%

Page 16 of 16

Statistical Neighbours

London

England

Page 49

Agenda Item 4

Cabinet 1 April 2019
Report title: Lambeth Children’s Homes Redress Scheme Update
Wards: All
Portfolio: Councillor Jack Hopkins: Leader of the Council
Report Authorised by: Christina Thompson: Interim Strategic Director for Finance & Investment
Contacts for enquiries: Mark Nicolson, Head of Risk & Insurance, 0207 926 9305,
mnicolson@lambeth.gov.uk

Report summary
This report provides Cabinet with an update on the performance of the Lambeth Children’s Homes Redress
Scheme as at the end of its first full year of operation since it opened to applications on 2 January 2018.
As at 1 January 2019 a total of 1,002 applications have been received into the Scheme. A total of 851
Harm’s Way Payments have been processed with a total of £7.7 million having been paid to applicants. In
addition to this 68 applicants have received Individual Redress Payments totalling £915,680 (some of
these payments are interim). A total of £8.6 million in compensation has been paid to applicants in the first
year of operation.
The processing of Harm’s Way Payments have taken an average of 43 working days from receipt of the
completed application until payment is processed to applicants. Individual Redress Payments take
significantly longer to process as these require a more detailed consideration including a review of care
and medical records, however these applications are still expected to be concluded quicker than the
equivalent litigation route.
In addition to the payments referenced above there were six applications where the total value of redress
to the applicant exceeded the Scheme maximum of £125,000. Compensation payments totalling £747,450
have been paid against these applications.
A total of four appeals were received for determination by the Independent Appeal Panel during the first
year, all of these were in relation to eligibility matters. Following determination one appeal was allowed
and the application was subsequently accepted into the Scheme and a Harm’s Way Payment made to the
applicant. On the other three appeals it was determined that the Council’s original decisions were correct
and these appeals were therefore unsuccessful.
National advertising of the Scheme took place around the time of its launch and was followed up by further
advertising in the autumn. Efforts commenced to raise awareness of the Scheme to the families and carers
of those that were resident in one of the specialist units and this work continues into this year. As at the

Page 50
time of producing this report we have received ten applications relating to former looked after children who
were resident in one of these units.
The next update on the operation of the Scheme and an overview of finance and performance will be
presented to Cabinet in September 2019 covering the first eighteen months of operation.

Finance summary
The Council received initial independent actuarial advice in assessing the cost and value for money of
operating the Redress Scheme. The original report and forecast from the actuary was subjected to a peer
review by a second actuarial firm who confirmed that the assumptions made in the original report were
reasonable.
The original forecast estimated that the possible number of applications received during the two year life
of the Scheme to be around 3,000 at a potential total cost of up to £100 million for claims within the Scheme
and a potential £40 million for some complex claims dealt with outside of the Scheme due to the level of
compensation exceeding the maximum £125,000 threshold of the Scheme.
The actuary has now reviewed the available data as at the end of the first year of operation and advises
that based upon the available data to date it is likely that overall application numbers will be lower than
originally forecast with the revised ‘best estimate’ for total application numbers now around 2,100 (actual
numbers could be more or less depending upon a wide range of factors).
In terms of re-forecasting the financial estimated cost of the Scheme the actuary notes that the original
cost estimate of £100 million remains the most prudent figure, however this figure now includes the cost
of those more complex claims (those over the Scheme maximum of £125,000) which will be dealt with
outside the Scheme (previously estimated at £40 million). The Council has secured a capitalisation
direction from the Government to borrow the £100 million needed to fund the Scheme.
The total compensation paid to applicants (both Harm’s Way and Individual Redress) as at the end of the
first year (Q4) is £8,681,180. Compensation paid over the Scheme maximum as at Q4 was £747,450. The
total amount of compensation that has been paid directly to applicants in the first year is therefore
£9,428,630.
The total cost of administering the Scheme including the legal costs paid to applicant solicitors and the
Council’s own costs of administration was £2,134,416. The total cost of the Scheme operation as at Q4 is
therefore £11,563,046.

Recommendations
1.

Cabinet to note the contents of this report.

2.

Cabinet to note the revised EQIA and ongoing equalities monitoring that is in place to ensure the
Council continues to manage the operation of the Scheme with due regard to its obligations under
equalities and human rights legislation.

3.

To receive a report to Cabinet in September 2019 to consider the operation of the Scheme as at
eighteen months.

Page 51
1.

CONTEXT

1.1

The Lambeth Children’s Homes Redress Scheme (the Scheme) is compensating survivors of sexual,
physical and psychological abuse suffered at the borough homes which were open from the 1930s
until the 1980s and 1990s. The Scheme gives survivors swift and compassionate redress without
having to go through the courts. By simplifying the redress process far more of the compensation
goes to survivors of abuse, rather than being taken up by legal fees. It also means no survivor will
have to restate their experience of abuse in court.

1.2

Lambeth is the first local authority in England and Wales to develop its own redress Scheme, which
was developed through extensive consultation, has independent support for survivors, with each
being given access to independent legal representation funded by the Council, and any appeal will
be heard by an independent multi-disciplinary panel. Survivors will not be ruled out of time while the
Scheme is in operation, and each survivor is entitled to receive a formal apology from the Council, a
meeting with a senior officer and the continued provision of free counselling support.

1.3

The Scheme is now the most comprehensive redress Scheme in the country, and could be used as
a model for a national version. It provides compensation of up to £125,000, with all former residents
of a Lambeth Children’s Home who were living in and subjected to a harsh environment eligible to
receive a Harm’s Way Payment of up to £10,000.

1.4

Complex cases where compensation for loss of earnings could result in a higher award of
compensation will be dealt with outside of the Scheme as these cases involve a more detailed
forensic analysis of expert evidence to assess and ensure the appropriate level of compensation is
made to applicants. However, these cases will be handled in the spirit of the Scheme to provide a
swift and compassionate resolution to each case.

1.5

Lambeth Council has secured a capitalisation direction from the Government to borrow up to
£100million needed to fund the Scheme. The Scheme was set up from 2 January 2018 for a two
year period. It is now estimated somewhere in the region of 1,500 to 2,700 people in total will apply.

1.6

This report presents an update on the operation and performance of the Scheme for Cabinet to
review. This review covers the first full year of the Scheme’s operation since it launched on 2 January
2018.

1.7

The Scheme deals with applications for compensation payments to people who, as children, were
abused or feared abuse at a Lambeth Children’s Home and/or Shirley Oaks Primary School and will
remain open to applications until 1 January 2020.

1.8

Anyone applying for compensation is required to complete an application form with as much
information as possible. For a Harm’s Way application this should include details of the Lambeth
Children’s home(s) they were resident in and an account of their experience of living in a harmful
environment and how this affected their childhood. A more detailed account or statement is required
for those applying for an Individual Redress payment. Upon receipt of a completed application the
details are then verified against the information/records held by the Council to determine whether
the applicant meets the Scheme criteria and is accepted into the Scheme. All applicants are provided
with a unique application reference number and a written acknowledgment of their application is
sent. All applicants that are not accepted into the Scheme are provided with a written explanation as
to why their application does not meet the Scheme criteria and are reminded that they can provide
further information to allow us to consider and of their right to appeal our decision.

Page 52
1.9

The Scheme provides for two types of financial redress that are available:
Harm’s Way Payment (“HWP”)
This is a payment made for applicants who were resident at a Lambeth Children’s Home and feared
that they would be physically and/or sexually abused, and/or who were neglected and/or suffered
cruelty whilst resident at a Lambeth Children’s Home where specified criteria is met. A Harm’s Way
Payment of up to £10,000 is available to eligible applicants.
Individual Redress Payment (“IRP”)
This is a payment made for applicants who suffered sexual abuse and/or physical abuse and/or
psychological injury at a Lambeth Children’s Home and/or Shirley Oaks Primary School where
specified criteria are met.

1.10 In addition to financial redress the Scheme also offers a number of non-financial reparations
including:






2.

A written apology acknowledging what has happened to the applicant, providing an acceptance
of responsibility and giving an assurance of the measures which have been taken to prevent
any further repetition;
A meeting with a senior representative of the Council so that the applicant can feel that they
have been heard and acknowledged by the Council;
Specialist advice and support relating to housing, appropriate welfare benefits, access to
further education and suitable employment;
Access to a specialist and dedicated confidential independent counselling support service to
provide appropriate counselling to any applicant under the Scheme; and,
Reasonable legal costs funded by the Council for eligible applications (fixed legal costs
for Harm’s Way Payments).

PROPOSAL AND REASONS
Applications received
In the first year of operation a total of 1,002 applications have been submitted for consideration under
the Scheme. The number of applications received each month steadily increased over the first few
months and then levelled off for a period before falling in the final few months of the year. The number
of applications have picked up slightly from January 2019 where we received 43 new applications.
The chart below shows the numbers of applications received each month:

2.1

Number of new applications received (KPI 1)
160
135

140

132

118

120

111

100

86

83

85

74

80

65
57

60

36

40
20
20
0
Jan-18

KPI1

2.2

Feb-18

Mar-18

Applications Received (KPI 1)
New applications received
Total applications received

Apr-18

Jan-18
20
20

May-18

Jun-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Sep-18

Oct-18

Nov-18

Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18
74
118
135
132
83
111
86
85
65
57
36
94
212
347
479
562
673
759
844
909
966
1002

Dec-18

Applications to Date
1002

Applications continue to be received from across the country as well as from a number of other
countries where former residents of Lambeth children’s homes are now living. The vast majority of

Page 53
applicants (92%) are from those residing in England with nearly 2% of applicants residing in Europe.
The table below provides an overview of the countries from where applications have been received:

Applicant location

No.
applications

% of
applications

926
7
8
10
9
18
10
3
11
1,002

92.4%
0.7%
0.8%
1.0%
0.9%
1.8%
1.0%
0.3%
1.1%
100.0%

England
Scotland
Wales
Australia & New Zealand
Canada
Europe
USA
Rest of World
Not completed
Total
2.3

2.4

A significant number of applicants (54%) reside in the Greater London area of whom 28.5% reside
in the borough of Lambeth (15% of total applicants).
Application forecast
Prior to the Scheme launch it was not possible to accurately predict the number of applications that
were likely to be received as there were many unknown factors and relatively little relevant data to
draw from. At this time the experience of bodies from other countries that had operated redress
schemes reported that the number of applications received had risen beyond their original estimates
and that costs had also risen beyond initial estimates. An initial forecast of 3,000 applications over
the life of the Scheme was therefore deemed to be reasonable based upon the information available
at that time.

2.5

As this is the first Scheme of its type within the UK there is a lack of any published data on
applications received at different stages in redress Schemes with which to accurately base our
performance to date against. The actuary as part of his annual review of the Scheme notes that the
evidence and experience of other ‘time limited’ insurance schemes (e.g. extended warranty) shows
that there is an increase in application volumes immediately prior to the scheme deadline which may
also be the experience with this Scheme.

2.6

The actuary advises that although there has been a lower number of applications received compared
to that originally forecast this is not necessarily a good guide to future application levels as there are
many factors that need to be considered such as a potential increase in applications from those in
specialist units and whether there are any applicant legal firms that may hold applications which
have not yet been submitted.

2.7

Having considered all of the available evidence as at the end of the first year the actuary considers
that a range of five scenarios are reasonable to illustrate the potential future development of
applications to the Scheme as shown in the following table:

No.

Basis

Detail

Implied Total
applications

Recent decline in applications continues
1

Significant Decline

(advertising and word of mouth has already
reached many of the potential applicants)

1,500

Page 54
2

Recent decline in applications reaches a
plateau (there is little or no change to the latest

Slight Decline

1,800

application numbers)

3

Recent decline temporary, applications
slightly increase (slight increase in applications

Best Estimate

2,100

with a peak towards Scheme deadline)

4

Slight Increase

5

2.8

Recent decline reverses, applications
Slightly increase (applications are higher than

2,300

peak Q3 level with peak towards Scheme
deadline)

Recent decline reverses, applications
significantly increase (applications increase to

Significant Increase

2,700

peak Q2 levels with large peak towards Scheme
deadline)

Given the significant uncertainties that still exist in relation to potential application numbers the
revised forecast is now set at the ‘best estimate’ of 2,100 (it should be noted that actual numbers
could be more or less depending upon a wide range of factors).
Application types
The majority of applications received have been for both a Harm’s Way and Individual Redress
determination with a total of 812 out of the 1,002 falling into this type (81%). This remains consistent
with the data reported in the previous cabinet update in September 2018.

2.9

2.10 The level of both Harm’s Way and Individual Redress applications remains higher than initially
expected following the initial pre-Scheme dialogue where it was thought that many applicants would
only wish to apply for a Harm’s Way payment. The increased volume of Individual Redress
applications has resulted in an increase in the Council’s legal and associated costs of handling these
applications.
2.11 A total of 22 Individual Redress only applications were received as at the end of the first year of
which 14 related to applications made by the personal representative on behalf of the estate of a
deceased applicant. The others relate to applications where the applicant was either a visitor to a
Lambeth Children’s Home, or where the applicant has previously received compensation for the
same abuse.
2.12 The types of applications that have been received are summarised in the following graph and table:
Number of application types received (KPI 2)
120

113
106
99

100

99

80

74

71

66

62
60

48

40

33

27
14

20
6

10

27

24
17

16

9

12

17

12

10

0

2

3

2

2

3

0

0

2

Jan-18

Feb-18

Mar-18

Apr-18

May-18

Jun-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Sep-18

8

7
0

1

Nov-18

Dec-18

0

Harm's Way only

KPI2

Individual Redress only*

Oct-18

Harm's Way and Individual Redress

Application Type (KPI 2)
Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Applications to Date
Harm's Way only
6
10
16
27
17
9
12
12
17
10
24
8
168
Individual Redress only*
0
2
3
2
2
3
0
0
2
7
0
1
22
812
Harm's Way and Individual Redress
14
62
99
106
113
71
99
74
66
48
33
27
TOTAL
* Individual Redress only applications relate to applicants who are either deceased or were a visitor to a Lambeth Children's Home.
1002

Page 55
Application processing
2.13 The processing of redress applications falls into broadly three stages:
Stage 1 – Verification
This stage includes the initial setup of new applications and verification including confirmation of an
applicant’s placement in a Lambeth Children’s home, determination of eligibility for Harm’s Way
Payment and making the Harm’s Way Payment to eligible applicants. Fixed legal costs to legal
representatives are also paid at this stage if the application is accepted into the Scheme.
Stage 2 – Redress determination
This stage involves the assessment of the compensation to be paid to reflect the severity of abuse
suffered as well as any consequential hurt, fear and humiliation an eligible applicant has experienced
and the lifetime consequences the abuse has caused. This stage requires review of all available
records including social care and medical and may require further medical assessment and therefore
takes much longer than the stage 1 process. Interim payments to applicants where relevant can be
paid followed by any final redress payments upon conclusion of this stage.
Stage 3 – Finalised
Once an applicant has received all of the redress/compensation they are entitled to, their application
remains ‘open’ while access to any non-financial redress services is completed and also to allow
any final costs (both own and applicant’s legal fees) to be concluded. Applications are only marked
as ‘closed’ once all of the costs have been concluded.
2.14 The processing of stage 1 applications in the first year has taken an average of 43 working days per
application from receipt of the completed application form to the date that the Harm’s Way Payment
is raised by Council. Over 80% of applications have resulted in an application being verified and the
Harm’s Way Payment made in under 60 working days, with 42% of applications taking less than 30
working days to process.
2.15 The table below shows the percentage of applications processed by time:

Harm’s Way
Payments:

Average
Working
Days

1-30
working
days

31-60
working
days

61-90
working
days

Over 90
working days

43

42.0%

40.9%

9.7%

7.4%

2.16 A number of applications have taken over 90 working days to process due to various reasons
including insufficient or missing information provided as part of an application, being unable to verify
an applicant, and applicant’s taking time to consider and accept offers. In some cases such as where
an applicant needs to obtain further records from the London Metropolitan archives or another local
authority this can take a considerable period of time. In a small number of applications we have
identified that due to a change in redress handlers the application took longer than it should to have
progressed to the next stage. Processes have subsequently been changed to minimise any similar
occurrences.
2.17 The processing of stage 2 applications is much more complex and can involve obtaining and
consideration of information and records from many different sources. The determination of
Individual Redress occurs after the initial Harm’s Way process has been completed. The processing
of stage 2 applications has taken an average of 97 working days from the point the application is

Page 56
received by the Scheme solicitors (after stage 1) until the accepted Individual Redress has been
paid to the applicant.
2.18 The processing of those applications that have been concluded (where all payments have been
made to the applicant) has therefore taken an average of 140 working days (43 working days for the
Harm’s Way and 97 working days for Individual Redress). This equates to approximately seven
months which is significantly quicker than the equivalent time taken to deal with civil claims of a
similar nature.
Application status
2.19 There are 54 applications (5.4%) that are currently in the stage 1 verification phase, the reduced
volumes of applications received in November and December has enabled the redress team to work
ahead of the normal timescales to process these applications quicker than usual. Offers of Harm’s
Way payment have been made on almost half of the outstanding applications in this stage.
2.20 The majority of applications (69.5%) are currently in the stage 2 redress determination phase with
most of these (40%) still under consideration. Offers of an Individual Redress payment have been
made on 13% of the applications currently in this stage as at 1 January 2019. The levels of award
for Individual Redress assessed under the Scheme are in line with and reflective of the awards that
the civil courts would make.
2.21 We continue to work closely with the Scheme solicitors, Kennedys LLP, to ensure that applications
that are in stage 2 are processed as quickly as possible. Kennedys in turn are liaising with the
applicant solicitors to identify any matters that can be progressed. Given the nature of these
applications it is understandable that some individuals will wish to take time to carefully consider any
offer of redress and there may be a subsequent period of clarification. The Scheme does not impose
any particular timescales for the acceptance of an offer and it is felt that it is important to allow
individuals sufficient time to adequately consider offers. We are however starting to see many more
applications now coming to a conclusion and more will be finalised over the coming months.
2.22 The status of applications as at the end of Q4 are shown in the table below:

Page 57

*this includes some applications where interim payments have been offered or already made
2.23 There have been 34 applications that have been settled (fully closed) as at the end of the first year.
Whilst this may appear to be a relatively low number of applications that are classified as ‘closed’
there are actually a further 167 (16.8%) applications where the applicant has already received all of
the redress/compensation to which they are entitled and their application is still open pending the
finalisation of other costs such as legal fees. These applications cannot be classified as ‘closed’ until
all of the financials have been concluded, however from the applicant’s perspective their application
is effectively concluded.
2.24 A total of 38 applications were not accepted into the Scheme as they did not meet the relevant
Scheme criteria. The primary reason for applications being rejected is where we have been unable
to verify an applicant as having spent time in a Lambeth children’s home. In circumstances where
the Council holds no records or information on a particular applicant they are advised to check
whether any relevant records may be held by another organisation.
2.25 In all cases where applicants have been advised that their application has not met the relevant
criteria the applicant is reminded of their right to appeal the Council’s decision. Other reasons for
applications not being accepted are shown in the table below:

Page 58
Reason redress claim has been declined
KPI3a
(KPI 3a)

Total number of
applications

Not A Lbl Care Home

14

Threshold Not Met For Harms Way

6

Abused In Foster Care

1

Reason redress claim has been declined as a % (KPI 3a)
44.7%

50.0%

36.8%
40.0%

36.8%

30.0%

15.8%

15.8%

20.0%

17

Unable To Verify Applicant

10.0%

2.6%

2.6%

0.0%

44.7%

Not A Lbl Care Home

Threshold Not Met For Harms Way

Abused In Foster Care

Unable To Verify Applicant

Periods of residency
2.26 Almost half of the applications received to date (49.7%) relate to applicants where they first entered
(were resident for the first time) a children’s home pre 1965 (these are homes for which Lambeth
assumed responsibility in 1965 from London County Council).
2.27 Some applicants were resident in a home pre 1965 and would still have been resident when
responsibility for the home transferred over to Lambeth Council in April 1965. Other applicants may
have been resident in a home for a period of time pre 1965 and then again for a separate period(s)
post 1965.
2.28 The chart below shows the periods of residency of applicants who were in Lambeth children’s
homes:

Children in Lbl Care
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

1930

1940

1950

1960

1965

1970

1980

1990

2000

Applicants Data

3

26

227

207

295

698

305

29

4

Verified Data

3

26

213

201

272

591

305

24

4

Verification %

100%

100%

94%

97%

92%

85%

100%

83%

100%

2.29 The data shown in the above graph shows the dates when applicants were housed in a Lambeth
children’s home (by decade). The line shown as ‘applicants data’ shows the dates that applicants
have stated in their application form as having been resident in a children’s home, the line shown as
‘verified data’ shows those applications where we have been able to verify dates from existing
records.
2.30 There is a close correlation between the dates that applicants have stated and those that we have
been able to verify which is likely due to applicants having obtained copies of their care records
and/or information from the archives and using the dates from these in their application.

Page 59
2.31 The earliest recorded date of an applicant being placed in a children’s home (that subsequently
transferred to Lambeth in 1965) is in the 1930’s with the latest being recorded as early 2000’s.
2.32 The numbers of applications received relating to residency in children’s homes in the 1980’s and
1990’s is low in comparison to earlier years. This is because Shirley Oaks closed in 1983 and after
the mid 1980’s the number of children that were placed in those Lambeth Children’s homes that
were still operational had reduced significantly. Over 40% of children’s homes had closed by the end
of 1989 and only 6% of homes were still in operation after 1995.
Locations
2.33 The majority of applications received to date (72%) relate to abuse that occurred within Shirley Oaks
Children’s Home followed by South Vale Assessment Centre/Children’s Home accounting for 14%
of applications. Details of the homes to which redress applications relate are shown in the table
below:

Lambeth Children's Home
Shirley Oaks
South Vale
Other Lambeth Homes*
Wood Vale
Non-Lambeth
Chevington House
Gresham Place
St Saviours
Totals

Total number
of applications

Total
percentage of
applications

728
140
52
26
18
17
11
10

72%
14%
5%
3%
2%
2%
1%
1%

1,002

100%

*numbers for each individual home are too low to list individually
2.34 Some applicants were resident in more than one children’s home over a period of time, the table
above details those homes that have been listed as the main and/or longest period of residence of
applicants.
2.35 A list of those children’s homes that were run by Lambeth or its predecessor authority is attached at
Appendix A.
Specialist units
2.36 There were four former specialist units for children with disabilities that were managed by the
Council. These units were open for varying lengths of time between 1976 and 2000, and were often
referred to by different names. The four specialist units are:





Ivy House / Warham Road / Rose House (‘Ivy House’);
Monkton Street Children’s Home (‘Monkton Street’);
Leigham Court Road Children’s Home (‘Leigham Court Road’); and,
Chestnut Road / Robson Road Children’s Home (‘Chestnut Road’).

2.37 An eligible applicant who was resident as a child at one of the above specialist units for children with
disabilities is not required to provide written evidence in support of their application for a Harm’s Way
Payment (they are however still required to complete an application form) and will upon verification
of their placement receive a Harm’s Way Payment of £10,000.

Page 60
2.38 As at the time of writing this report we have received ten applications from former children who were
placed in one of these units.
2.39 The Council is keen to proactively engage with the individuals who were accommodated in one of
these specialist units whilst also ensuring that we pay due regard to our responsibilities under the
Data Protection Act 2018. We are therefore taking an individualised and non-intrusive approach to
reach out and raise awareness of the Scheme to those individuals we are aware were located in a
specialist unit and where the individual is currently or has recently been in receipt of Adult services
from the Council. It is hoped that by making this reasonable adjustment to the administration of the
Scheme we are able to maximise the take up from those who were housed in these units.
2.40 In addition to the above the Council has taken a multi-channel approach to advertise and promote
the Scheme both locally and nationally and continues to work with local partners and advice agencies
to identify the most effective ways to further promote the Scheme. The section on Scheme
advertising later in this report provides further information on the activities undertaken and planned.
Applicant types
2.41 Individuals are able to submit an application to the Scheme in person and these are referred to as
‘Applicants in Person’. Just under 12% of applicants have elected to handle their own applications.
Applicants are reminded of their right to legal representation and advised that their reasonable costs
of this are covered under the Scheme. Applicants are also signposted to where they can obtain
further information in relation to legal representation. For applicants who don’t wish to be legally
represented a protocol is in place to minimise any potential distress, simplify and explain the process.
2.42 Applicants are also entitled to be represented by a solicitor for which the Scheme allows the payment
of fixed legal costs in respect of a Harm’s Way Payment and reasonable legal costs on an Individual
Redress Payment. The majority of applicants (88%) have chosen to be legally represented when
submitting an application through the Scheme.
2.43 There are currently 26 separate firms of solicitors that are representing applicants with their Harm’s
Way and Redress applications. The top ten firms representing the most applicants are shown in the
chart below (this list includes applicants in person who are not legally represented):

Page 61

*There are seventeen other legal firms representing a few applicants
Harm’s Way Payments
2.44 All former residents of a Lambeth Children’s Home who were living in and subjected to a harsh
environment are eligible to receive a Harm’s Way Payment of up to £10,000. Payments are stepped
based on time spent in a Lambeth Children’s home as follows:





More than 6 months – Harm’s Way Payment of £10,000;
Between 3 and 6 months – Harm’s Way Payment of £5,000;
More than 1 week and up to 3 months – Harm’s Way Payment of £2,500; and,
Less than 1 week – Harm’s Way Payment of £1,000.

A harsh environment is one which caused former residents to fear or apprehend that they would be subject
to immediate physical abuse, and mistreatment or sexual abuse and/or neglect and/or cruelty.
Where a Harm’s Way Payment is paid and the person also applies for an Individual Redress
Payment the Harm’s Way Payment will be treated as an interim payment for redress.
2.45 Any child who was resident in one of the Council’s specialist residential children’s units (listed in
paragraph 2.36) is entitled to a Harm’s Way Payment of £10,000 regardless of the length of time
they were resident in that unit.

2.46 As at the end of Q4 a total of 851 Harm’s Way Payments have been made totalling £7,765,500. The
breakdown of Harm’s Way Payments is shown in the table below:

Page 62

Harm's Way payments

No. of
verified
payments

Total amount
paid (£)

Percentage
breakdown of
Harm’s Way
payments
(based on amount paid)

£1,000 - less than 1 week
£2,500 - more than 1 week up to 3
months
£5,000 - between 3 and 6 months
£10,000 - more than 6 months

3

3,000

0.04%

67
43
738

167,500
215,000
7,380,000

2.16%
2.76%
95.04%

Total Harm's Way payments

851

7,765,500

100.00%

Individual Redress Payments
2.47 The Scheme provides for an Individual Redress Payment up to a maximum sum of £125,000 for
every child who has been physically, sexually or psychologically abused by staff, house parent,
social uncle or aunt, or any other third party for whom the Council has vicarious liability in relation to
a Lambeth Children’s Home and including Shirley Oaks Primary School.
2.48 More complex cases where compensation for loss of earnings could result in a higher award of
compensation over £125,000 will be dealt with outside of the Scheme as these cases involve a more
detailed forensic analysis of expert evidence to assess and ensure the appropriate level of
compensation is made to applicants. However, these cases will be handled in the spirit of the
Scheme to provide a swift and compassionate resolution to each case.
2.49 Once an assessment of Individual Redress compensation has been completed an offer will be
provided to the applicant for them to consider. The Council recognises that many applicants will wish
to take the time to carefully consider and consult on the offer that has been made and for some this
may be a difficult decision for them to make. Applicants are not placed under any undue pressure to
accept offers within a specific timeframe although we will maintain a dialogue with applicants or their
representatives during this period to remind them that their acceptance is required before their
payments can be processed.
2.50 Offers of Individual Redress are made based upon consideration of all of the information and
evidence that is made available at that time. In some cases subsequent information or evidence
including medical evidence may be presented at a later stage which upon evaluation may result in
an increase in the level of compensation offered.
2.51 As at the end of Q4 a total of 68 Individual Redress Payments have been made totalling £915,680
(this total is in addition to the total Harm’s Way Payments). Where an applicant has already received
a Harm’s Way Payment this is treated as an interim payment towards any further redress payment
due. For example an applicant who was in care for more than six months and assessed as being
entitled to a total compensation payment of £25,000 would receive a £10,000 Harm’s Way payment
and a further £15,000 Individual redress.
2.52 Compensation for any harm/consequence as a result of abuse suffered is calculated by reference to
the tariff which forms part of the Scheme. The tariff contains four compensation tariff bands. Bands
1-3 are designed to compensate for pain, suffering and loss of amenity, including
psychiatric/psychological injuries. In addition to damages for pain/suffering and loss of amenity Band
4 is designed to award additional compensation for loss of opportunity arising from the abuse and
its effects.

Page 63
2.53 A breakdown of the Individual Redress Payments that have been made as at the end of Q4 is shown
in the table below:

Individual Redress payments

No. of
verified
payments

Total
amount paid
(£)

Percentage
breakdown of
Harm’s Way
payments
(based on
amount paid)

Interim Individual Redress Payment

15

148,500

16.22%

Band 1*
Band 2*
Band 3*

24
24
5

160,100
364,080
243,000

17.48%
39.76%
26.54%

Total Individual Redress payments
*including any applicable band 4 compensation

68

915,680

100.00%

2.54 It should be noted that the above information is taken at a snapshot in time as at the end of Q4 and
the position will therefore change on a daily basis as further applications are concluded. At the time
of writing this report (early March) the total number of Individual Redress payments that have been
made is now 90 at a total value of £1,295,730 (including interim payments).
2.55 In addition to the compensation that is paid to applicants there are also a number of other costs
associated with the processing of applications. These are the costs of the Council’s own Scheme
solicitors, the costs of applicant solicitors and associated disbursements for applicant travel and
medical evaluations etc. The total value of all of these Scheme payments as at the end of Q4 are
shown in the table below:

Redress payment type

Total amount
paid (£)

Percentage
breakdown of
all redress
payment types
(based on
amount paid)

Harm's Way Payments
Individual Redress Payments
Sub Total HWP & IRP

7,765,500
915,680
8,681,180

81.30%
9.60%
90.90%

Redress applicant legal costs
Redress council’s solicitor costs*
Other costs (disbursements)
Total Redress Payments

271,699
390,466
212,530
9,555,875

2.80%
4.10%
2.20%
100.00%

*this relates to the cost of dealing with applications only
2.56 Out of the total payments that have been made as at the end of Q4 almost 91% of these are
payments that have been paid directly to applicants as compensation. Legal costs associated with
the processing of applications will increase as more applications start concluding. The Council’s own
legal costs are paid on a monthly basis whereas applicants’ legal costs (other than agreed interim
payments) are concluded at the end of the process. Therefore the Council’s costs will represent a
greater cost at this stage. A more detailed analysis of costs will be presented in future reports as the
data around this matures.
Applications over Scheme limit & non redress claims

Page 64
2.57 In addition to the applications detailed above there have been five applications that have resulted in
total redress payments being assessed at over the Scheme limit of £125,000. All of these cases
were ones that the Council were initially dealing with as civil claims prior to the launch of the Scheme
and where subsequent applications to the Scheme have been made.
2.58 The total value of compensation payments made against these five cases is £747,450. The Council’s
own legal costs in dealing with these cases were £111,833 (including disbursements) with a total of
£240,000 having been paid to cover the applicants’ legal costs.
2.59 There have been no new civil compensation claims for child abuse made against the Council since
the launch of the Scheme. The last such claim of this nature was received in 2017 prior to the launch
of the Scheme.
2.60 There are currently nine civil compensation claims that are still ongoing and are being dealt with
outside of the Scheme. Where claims are suitable for being considered under the Scheme we are
advising the claimants solicitors of this option to ensure that the full benefits the Scheme offers can
be realised such as waiving any limitation period defence, appointment of a single joint medical
expert, access to advisory services, quicker process than existing civil route and access to an
independent appeal mechanism. Some existing civil claims would not be suitable for the Scheme
and will continue to be dealt with through the existing civil litigation route.
Scheme appeals
2.61 An Independent Appeal Panel has been established to deal with appeals made by applicants. The
appeal panel is chaired by a single retired judge who is supported by a pool of 7 barristers and 5
other experts. A full appeal panel comprising of the chair, a barrister and other experts adjudicates
on disputes arising concerning the amount of any Harm’s Way Payment, the amount of any Individual
Redress Payment and the amount of any legal costs and expenses claimed. Matters relating to
eligibility under the Scheme are adjudicated on by one panel member only, the panel chair.
2.62 Appeals that are submitted by applicants are dealt with in the first instance by a ‘point of contact’ (a
pupil barrister) appointed by the panel chair who will determine in conjunction with the panel chair
the type of appeal that has been submitted and whether this requires a full panel of three to be
established or whether the appeal is primarily an eligibility matter to be determined by the chair only
in the first instance. The point of contact will then liaise as necessary between all parties to ensure
all information is collated and presented to the chair/appeal panel for determination. This approach
ensures that the appeal panel operates independently of the Council.
2.63 A total of four appeals were received for determination by the Independent Appeal Panel during the
first year, all of these were in relation to eligibility matters. Following determination one appeal was
allowed and the application was subsequently accepted into the Scheme and a Harm’s Way
Payment made to the applicant. On the other three appeals it was determined that the Council’s
original decisions were correct and these appeals were therefore unsuccessful.
2.64 In relation to the appeal that was allowed by the panel this was as a result of the applicant providing
fresh evidence as part of their appeal that the Council had not previously had the opportunity to
consider. Following the outcome of this appeal we now remind all applicants of the need to share all
documentation with us prior to any appeal being submitted.
2.65 The other appeals primarily related to matters of eligibility concerning applicants who were resident
in children’s homes that were not operated by Lambeth. Some appeals included matters raised by
applicants that fell outside of the jurisdiction of the appeal panel.

Page 65
Non-financial redress
2.66 The Scheme offers applicants the opportunity to access a number of non-financial redress benefits
such as a letter of apology, a meeting with a senior representative of the Council, access to a
counselling service and access to specialist advice and help with issues including housing, welfare,
benefits, further education and employment.
2.67 As at the year end the following non-financial redress services have been requested by and provided
to applicants:

Non-financial redress service

Number of
applicants

Letter of apology
Meeting with senior representative
Advice & help - Housing
Advice & help – Welfare benefits
Advice & help – Further education
Advice & help - Employment

32
4
13
3
2
2

2.68 The take up of non-financial redress services continues to remain low although requests for advice
in relation to housing matters have increased since the six monthly report. The redress team are
reminding applicants at various stages of the application process of the services available and also
send a final reminder at the end of the process. As more applications are coming to a conclusion we
are starting to see more requests for these services which will be reflected in the next update.
2.69 The Council has had a free specialist and dedicated independent counselling support service for all
survivors since 2015. The Council is continuing to fund this counselling service for the duration of
the Scheme.
Engagement & advertising
2.70 Over the past year the Council has run two main advertising campaigns to raise awareness of and
promote the Scheme to potential applicants. The first advertising phase started in January 2018 and
was focused on reaching potential applicants nationally through adverts placed in the Metro as the
UK newspaper with the biggest distribution. In addition to this, adverts were placed in targeted
publications in London, Kent and the south coast of England as many of those who had contacted
us pre-Scheme to register their interest were based in these areas.
2.71 The second phase of advertising started in August and September 2018 and was again focused at
a national level through adverts placed in the Times and the Sun newspapers. Further adverts were
also placed in specialist and professional publications based on feedback received from the
community and information on the distribution of existing applicants. This included international
publications based in Ireland and Jamaica.

2.72 Adverts have been placed in the following publications during the year:

First phase
Metro
Evening Standard
South London Press

Second phase
The Sun
The Times
The Big Issue

Page 66
Kent Messenger Group
Croydon Advertiser
Brighton Sussex Argus

The Inside Times (prison)
The Voice UK
Sunday Gleaner (Jamaica)
The Law Society Gazette

2.73 Further advertising will be carried out in 2019 based on stakeholder feedback and redress application
distribution. Some applicant solicitors have also told us that they are currently undertaking their own
advertising to raise awareness and encourage potential applicants to contact them.
2.74 In addition to the above advertising the Council has also written to more than 50 charities and third
sector groups outlining details of the Scheme, sharing the application form and associated guide.
We have asked the groups to share and promote the information with relevant parties to ensure they
are made aware of the Scheme.
2.75 A dedicated webpage provides a wide range of information about the Scheme. An application guide,
application form and copy of the Scheme are all available to download from the website. The website
has been updated with information around the most common queries raised and further updates are
planned as necessary. Details of the website can be found here:
https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/redress
2.76 Work to update, redesign and simplify the content on the website is ongoing to ensure that applicants
have access to the most relevant information to assist them in making an application as easily as
possible.
2.77 The Council has appointed an independent external expert to gain insight into survivors’ experiences
of engaging with the Scheme, and to examine what further work can be undertaken to encourage
and build confidence in others who have not yet come forward to apply. Applicants that have
concluded their applications within the Scheme have been invited to provide their feedback through
a variety of engagement methods with the independent expert. The information received from this
process will be used to inform changes to the Scheme process/administration. A further update on
this will be provided in a future report.
2.78 The Council continues to engage with applicant solicitors to discuss operational matters related to
the Scheme, discuss issues on particular cases, answer any queries and receive feedback as to
how the process is working from their and an applicant’s perspective and to consider whether any
operational or procedural changes are required to help improve the process.
2.79 Not all applicant solicitors have taken up the offer to meet to discuss the operation of the Scheme,
however from those that have these meetings have been a useful mechanism to discuss how the
process is generally working. The Scheme is a form of Alternative Dispute Resolution and provides
access to compensation damages in circumstances where civil claims would be time barred.
However there are still parameters that the Scheme operates within and the meetings have proved
useful to discuss and clarify some of these.
2.80 The Council has listened to observations that have been made around Scheme administration and
operational management of applications and a number of changes and modifications have been
made. Some of the key clarification and changes are summarised below:


Applicants will now be offered a choice of three appointments with three different medical
Scheme experts rather than just one appointment being offered;

Page 67








In appropriate circumstances medical examinations can take place at an applicant’s home
and/or a location that minimises travel time and inconvenience to an applicant;
At the request of applicant solicitors additional consultant psychiatrists have been added to the
pool of Scheme experts in order to continue to ensure that appointments are allocated in a
timely fashion;
A 10% uplift for aggravated damages is awarded in circumstances were an applicant suffers
abuse as a result of his or her race/ religion/ disability/ nationality and sexual orientation;
An ongoing dialogue is maintained with applicant solicitors with regard to the instruction of
medical and social work experts to ensure that the Scheme continues to deliver value for
money; and,
Agreement has been reached with regard to a costs protocol for applicant solicitors which will
assist the Council in managing legal costs.

Subject Access Request update
2.81 The Council continues to run a large specialist team of 55 staff responding to requests from former
Lambeth children’s homes residents for their council care files. So far over 1,100 requests for
historical care records have been received since January 2017 which is an unprecedented number
and equates to over 2,600 volumes of files.
2.82 The Council has invested more than £3million in providing this service. Applicants to the Lambeth
Children’s Homes Redress Scheme are not required to make a Subject Access Request (SAR). But
feedback from survivors who have received their records from the Council indicate that for some
having their care file can help them get closure in relation to issues they experienced in their
childhood.
2.83 A complaint in relation to the Council’s handling of SARs was lodged in August 2018 with the
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). These issues have all been addressed to the satisfaction
of the ICO. As a result of improvements in the Council’s searches for information, which is a complex
process, the Council decided to reprocess all SARs relating to historical care records received before
November 2016 to ensure that survivors receive as much information that it is possible to provide
for their life stories. This equated to 98 SARs being re-processed, and that work is near completion.
The Council continues to provide regular updates to the ICO on progress with the SARS project.
Update on Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse
2.84 The Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA) has 13 different strands for investigation,
including Children in the care of Lambeth Council. Lambeth Council is a core participant in this
investigation and continues with its preparations having now disclosed 122,000 pages of relevant
documents to IICSA.
2.85 In March 2018 IICSA set out 20 core issues it proposes examining in relation to Lambeth and the
Council has prepared an initial corporate witness statement on specific issues requested by IICSA.
2.86 On 31 October 2018 an update on progress in its investigation into allegations of child sexual abuse
in Lambeth children’s homes was given at a third preliminary hearing.
2.87 IICSA also announced that it expects the public hearings will take place between April and December
2020. On 12 November 2018 IICSA determined the institutions which would be the focus of case
studies at the public hearings, namely:



South Vale Assessment Centre
Shirley Oaks Children’s Home

Page 68




Angell Road Children’s Home
Ivy House Specialist Unit
Monkton Street Specialist Unit.

2.88 The next preliminary hearing is scheduled for the summer of 2019.

3.

FINANCE

3.1

The total cost incurred in operating the Scheme (including compensation payments over £125,000)
as at the end of the first year of operation (Q4) is £11,563,046. The expenditure is shown in the
following table:

Expenditure type
Redress applications – paid to applicants (Harm’s Way &
Individual Redress)
Redress applications – Applicant legal costs
Redress applications – Council’s legal costs
Redress applications – Disbursements (medicals, travel
etc.)
Redress applications – Appeal Panel costs
Redress Scheme – Scheme administration advice & support
Redress Scheme – Staffing costs
Redress Scheme – Operational costs (advertising, post)
Total cost of Redress applications
Applications exceeding Scheme limit – paid to applicants
Applications exceeding Scheme limit – Council’s legal costs
Applications exceeding Scheme limit – Applicant legal costs

Expenditure
amount (£)
8,681,180
271,699
390,466
212,530
20,028
189,835
621,666
76,359
10,463,763
747,450
111,833
240,000

Total cost of applications exceeding Scheme limit

1,099,283

Total cost of Redress and those exceeding Scheme
limit

11,563,046

3.2

The Council received independent actuarial advice in assessing the cost and value for money of
offering a redress Scheme compared to the conventional approach to handling such claims
through a civil litigation route. The original report and forecast from the actuary was subjected to a
peer review by a second actuarial firm who confirmed that the assumptions made in the original
report were reasonable.

3.3

Further actuarial reviews have been undertaken periodically during the first year of the Scheme’s
operation and a full review was undertaken as at the year end. The original estimate suggested
that the possible number of applications processed through the Scheme could be 3,000, at an
estimated cost to the Scheme of up to £100 million plus a further £40 million to deal with the more
complex claims that would be dealt with outside the Scheme. The Council secured a capitalisation
directive from the Government to borrow the £100 million needed to fund the Scheme. This was
based on assumptions as the only basis upon which to determine the actual number of
applications that would be made.

Page 69
3.4

As at the end of Q4 the actuary notes that although there has been a lower number of applications
received compared to that originally forecast this is not necessarily a good guide to future
application levels. He notes there are still many unknown factors that need to be considered as
noted earlier in this report.

3.5

In terms of re-forecasting the financial estimated cost of the Scheme the actuary notes that the
original cost estimate of £100 million remains the most prudent figure. However this figure now
includes the cost of those more complex claims which will be dealt with outside the Scheme.

3.6

As at the end of Q4 the total estimated cost of applications within the Scheme (i.e. those known
and reported as at 1 January 2019) was just under £37 million. This figure comprises of actual
payments and costs incurred as at this date and an estimated forecast of payments and costs still
to be made against the 1,002 applications received at this time.

4.
4.1

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY

4.2

The GPOC in common with any other source of power must be exercised reasonably and properly.
The Council must be mindful of its fiduciary duty to council tax payers and, therefore, needs to
balance the needs of survivors against its public duty to ensure that applications are appropriately
validated and that payments are reasonable and lawful.

4.3

The Council’s auditors have a statutory duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to
be satisfied that “the authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources”.

4.4

The Scheme provides for the award of a Harm’s Way Payment of up to £10,000 where there is
evidence that residents were subjected to a harsh environment as defined under the Scheme. It
would not be lawful for the Council to introduce a Scheme which simply allowed for payment of a
Harm’s Way Payment without provision of a threshold based on some form of evidence in order to
validate payment.

4.5

As a public body the Council has a duty to exercise its powers properly and reasonably. In this
context “properly” includes that legally irrelevant considerations are left out of account and all legally
relevant considerations are taken into account. Importantly, where expenditure is involved,
“reasonably” includes compliance with the fiduciary duty to council tax payers owed by a local
authority and reaffirmed by the Court of Appeal in Charles Terence Estates Ltd v Cornwall County
Council [2013] 1 WLR 466, at paragraphs 11 – 17. The fiduciary duty is a duty not to incur
expenditure “thriftlessly” and to act “in a fairly business-like manner” with “due regard” for the
interests of council tax payers and holding a balance between those who contribute funds and those
who receive payment.

4.6

It has been suggested that the Council could make blanket Harm’s Way Payments based on
residence alone. This would amount to an unlawful fetter of its discretion and would not be
considered fair as between former residents in differing circumstances.

The Council has a legal power to establish a redress Scheme under s. 1 Localism Act 2011 which
introduced a “general power of competence” (GPOC) which gives the local authority “the power to
do anything that individuals generally may do” and which expressly includes the power to do
something for the benefit of the authority, its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Page 70
4.7

The Council has taken advice from leading counsel in the development of the Scheme. The advice
from counsel is that the Scheme delivers appropriate recompense for those who were subjected to
abuse and that the Tariffs to be applied in assessing the level of award payable under the Scheme
reflect the awards that the civil courts would make. There will be some complex cases which would
not be suitable to deal with through the Scheme, however, as they require a much more detailed
analysis of the loss of educational of employment opportunities these cases are better dealt with
through the civil process.

4.8

All public authorities are required, in carrying out their functions, to have due regard to the need to
achieve the objectives set out under s149 of the Equality Act 2010 to:
a)
(b)
(c)

eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by
or under the Equality Act 2010;
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it; and,
foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

4.9

The Council’s Constitution requires that issues of an important or sensitive nature will be published
on the Council’s website for five clear days prior to the decision being taken (Constitution, Part 2,
Section 3), where this is required by the Cabinet Member or Director concerned. It is suggested that
this proposed decision is published on Officer Decisions in the interests of transparency. Any
representations received during this period must be considered by the decision-maker before the
decision is taken.

5.

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

5.1

In developing the Scheme the Council had many meetings with the Shirley Oaks Survivors
Association and their legal advisors to try to reach agreement on the provisions to be included in the
Scheme.

5.2

The Council also consulted with other key stakeholders in relation to the development of the Scheme
including the Council’s external auditors, insurers and independent experts.

5.3

Since the launch of the Scheme the Council has met with a number of applicant solicitor firms to
discuss and clarify operational aspects of the Scheme as outlined earlier in this report.

5.4

The Council is continuing to consult with a wide range of local voluntary sector, advocacy and advice
agencies as well as national organisations in relation to promoting access to the scheme.

6.

RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1

There are no direct risk implications arising from this report. An operational project risk register is
maintained.

7.

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

The Council undertook to undertake an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) of the Redress Scheme
as part of the overall review of the first 12 months operation of the scheme. The objective of the EIA
was to:

Page 71
i) Assess the impact of the implementation of the recommendations arising from the initial operational
EIA review conducted in September 2018 and;
ii) Provide some equalities analysis of applications to the Scheme over the first year of the scheme.
A copy of the Equalities Impact Assessment is at Appendix B.
7.2

The Council’s priority remains maximising uptake of the Redress Scheme by on behalf of individuals
who may be eligible. This has involved both general and targeted communications to key groups
including people from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) communities; people with physical or mental
health conditions; and people who may be now living abroad. In addition the Redress Scheme is
working with colleagues in Adult Social Care to identify people who may have resided in one of
Lambeth’s specialist units for children with physical and/or learning disabilities or other specific
needs.

7.3

The key finding from the EIA is that applications to the scheme are broadly in line with expectations
with respect to overall numbers of applications and the demographic breakdown. Data indicates that
based on applications both design of and communications campaign regarding the Redress Scheme
has facilitated applications from key groups including older people; individuals affected by ill health
and people from BME communities. Based on these findings the recommendations are that the
Council:
•
•
•

•

Continues with the multi-channel communications strategy to raise awareness of the Scheme
to promote applications from individuals who may have been affected by historic abuse.
Maintains regular targeting of specific communities including some of whom may have
returned to their home countries such as individuals of African Caribbean and Irish ethnicity.
Disseminating information about the scheme to partners in the statutory, voluntary and
advocacy sectors such as those working with and representing people with learning or physical
disabilities, carers and legal and advice agencies.
Continues to sensitively progress the efforts to facilitate applications to the Redress Scheme
from approximately 40 individuals who were accommodated/had care provision within one of
the specialist units and are currently and have been known to adult social care.

7.4

The Council will continue to monitor the overall impact on of the Scheme on those of different
protected characteristics at regular intervals throughout the lifetime of the Scheme.

8.

COMMUNITY SAFETY

8.1

There are not considered to be any implications under s. 17 the Crime and Disorder Act 1998

9.

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
None.

9.2

Staffing and accommodation
The Scheme is administered by the Redress Team in conjunction with the Council’s external
solicitors – Kennedys LLP. All members of the team have received training from the National
Association for People Abused in Childhood (NAPAC). In addition staff have undergone conflict
checks to ensure they have not had previous dealings with any council matters relevant to the
applications. Resourcing requirements are regularly monitored and additional staffing has been put
in place in order to ensure that redress applications are effectively processed.

Page 72
9.3

Procurement
The Council has commissioned Oxleas Mental Health NHS Trust to provide independent counselling
to survivors for the duration of the Scheme. Under the Scheme applicants will be able to access the
specialist and dedicated confidential counselling support service. This service will be funded by the
Council for the duration of the Scheme. Oxleas will advise if some individuals will require ongoing
support and how this support could best be provided. The Scheme solicitors were commissioned
following a previous contract variation waiver to the existing insurance legal services framework. The
independent appeal panel members were commissioned at the time the Scheme was launched
although they operate completely independently of the Council when determining appeals submitted
under the remit of the Scheme.

9.4

Health
The long-term mental and physical health effects of childhood abuse are well documented, and we
know from the stories that people have told us that their experiences have remained with them their
entire lives. Nothing can fully compensate people for those experiences but it is important for
survivors that the abuse that happened to them is recognised and acknowledged, and that they
receive an apology. Survivors of abuse also wish to know that children today will be better protected.
It is also the case that because of the adversarial nature of the court process survivors of abuse can
be re-victimised by having to recount their experiences. The aim of the Redress Scheme is to prevent
re-victimisation whilst providing a range of reparations that hopefully will enable people to move on
with their lives.

10. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
10.1 Not applicable.

Page 73
Audit Trail
Consultation
Name/Position
Councillor Jack Hopkins
Andrew Travers – Chief
Executive
Christina Thompson,
Strategic Director
Fiona Connolly, Interim
Strategic Director
Hamant Bharadia,
Director of Finance &
Property
Annie Hudson, Strategic
Director
Alison McKane, Director
Andrew Pavlou, Principal
Lawyer Governance
Nisar Visram, Assistant
Director
David Orekoya,
Lead Commissioner
Health Improvement
Wayne Chandai, Head of
Democratic Services

Lambeth directorate /
department or partner
Leader of the Council

Date Sent

Date
Received

Comments in
paragraph:

Throughout

06.03.19

Chief Executive

06.03.19

Finance & Investment

06.03.19

11.03.19

Adults and Health

06.03.19

12.03.19

Finance & Investment

06.03.19

Children’s Services

06.03.19

Legal & Governance

06.03.19

Legal & Governance

06.03.19

08.03.19

4.1 – 4.8

Finance & Investment

06.03.19

07.03.19

3.1 – 3.6

Adults and Health

06.03.19

08.03.19

7.1 – 7.3

Corporate Resources,
Democratic Services

15.03.19

19.03.19

Report History
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons

Background information

Appendices

Ongoing
20.03.19
20.03.19
No
No
N/A
N/A
Council Report July 2015
Cabinet report June 2016
Financial Planning and Medium Term Strategy Report
2017/18 to 2019/20 – Cabinet July 2017
Council report July 2017
Cabinet Report December 2017
Appeal Panel ODDR
A - List of Lambeth Children’s Homes
B - Equality Impact Assessment

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 75
Appendix A

LAMBETH CHILDREN’S HOMES
Below is a list of children’s homes that were run by Lambeth or its predecessor authority* (and
which subsequently transferred to Lambeth), either within or outside of their area, that provided
accommodation for children in care.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.

Shirley Oaks
Angell Road
Calais Street
Chestnut Road/ Robson Road
Chevington House
Cumberlow Lodge
Garrads Road
Gresham Place
Highland Road
Ingleton House
Ivy House/ Warham Road
Knowle Close
Lancester Avenue
Lancaster Road
Leigham Court Road
Lorn Road
Monkton Street
Mount Villas
Nottingham Road
Rathmell Drive
Rectory Grove/ Elaine Claire House
Samuel House
South Vale
Southwood
Southwood Discharge Hostel
St Saviours
Stephany House
Stockwell Park
The Elms
Thornwick Nursery
Tivoli Road
Woodvale.

Lambeth Children’s Homes – v2 28 September 2018
*Only those home that were previously run by the London County Council (LCC) and which subsequently transferred to the London Borough of
Lambeth in April 1965 are covered by the Scheme. Those homes that were run by the LCC and which transferred to another London borough
after April 1965 are not covered by the Scheme.

This page is intentionally left blank

quality Impact Assessment
TEMPLATE UPDATED SEPT 2015
Date
Sign-off path for EIA (please add/delete as applicable) If you
are conducting an EIA on a Cabinet decision, it should come
to Corporate EIA panel for sign off.

Monday 4th March 2019









Head of Equalities (email equalities@lambeth.gov.uk)
Director (this must be a director not responsible for the
service/policy subject to EIA)
Strategic Director or Chief Exec
Directorate Management Team (Children, Health and Adults,
Corporate Resources, Neighbourhoods and Growth)
Procurement Board
Corporate EIA Panel
Cabinet

Title of Project, business area, policy/strategy

LB Lambeth Redress Scheme

Author

David Orekoya

Job title, directorate

Lead Commissioner-Health Improvement

Contact email and telephone

DOrekoya@lambeth.gov.uk 0207 926 0477

Strategic Director Sponsor

Fiona Connolly, Strategic Director, Adults and Health

Page 77

There is no corporately set sign off path for EIAs. It is up to
you to decide the level of risk (legal, community, political,
equalities) and to think about the appropriate level of
scrutiny and challenge. If you are not sure email
equalities@lambeth.gov.uk Places where an EIA can be
signed off are listed.

Please enter responses below in the right hand columns

1

London Borough of Lambeth
Equality Impact Assessment

Please enter responses below in the right hand columns.

1.0 Introduction

Page 78

1.1 Business activity aims and
In January 2018 Lambeth Council established the Lambeth Children’s Homes Redress
intentions
Scheme to compensate survivors of sexual, physical and psychological abuse suffered at
In brief explain the aims of your
homes managed by the Council open from the 1930s until the 1980s and 1990s. The
proposal/project/service, why is it
scheme is the first of its kind in England and was established in response to evidence of
needed? Who is it aimed at? What is the widespread mistreatment or abuse to which many individuals were subject to over the
intended outcome? What are the links period in question.
to the political vision, and outcomes?
The Council approved the establishment of the scheme in September 2017 which is
intended to give survivors swift and compassionate redress without having to go through
the courts. By simplifying the redress process, the scheme means far more of the
compensation goes to survivors of abuse, rather than being taken up by legal fees. It also
means no survivor will have to restate their experience of abuse in court.
An initial EIA based on the principle of establishing a Redress Scheme was conducted in
September 2017. Following review by the Council’s Corporate Equalities Panel the
recommendation from the assessment was that the such a scheme would -by mitigating
the need for potentially drawn out litigation- be clearly in line with and beneficial for the
Council’s duties under Equalities and Human Rights legislation.
Following ratification of the proposed Redress Scheme Policy by Cabinet and full Council
in December 2017, the Lambeth Redress Scheme was launched formally on 2nd January
2018. As part of the implementation plan the Council committed to undertake a further
Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) on the first 6 months operation of the scheme. This
EIA was completed and and reviewed by the Corporate Equalities Panel in September
2018. This EIA concluded that during the first 6 months the implementation of the
scheme was broadly beneficial for all equalities characteristics whilst also making
2

Page 79

recommendations regarding communication and engagement to maximise the promotion
of the scheme amongst key groups of people may have been entitled to register a claim.
These recommendations were that the Council continued to use a multi-channel
approach to advertise the scheme both locally and nationally, which encompassed:
 Advertising the scheme in the national press in recognition that many affected
individuals live outside London in other parts of the UK
 Piloting targeted advertising at media more likely to be used by particular
communities, some of whom may have returned to their home countries, such as
individuals of African Caribbean and Irish ethnicity.
 Ensuring organisations that represent victims and survivors have up to date
information about the scheme
 Advertising with a range of national and local voluntary sector, advocacy and
advice agencies and media outlets including those that represent and/or work
with a range of potentially vulnerable groups including: older people; people with
physical and/or learning disabilities; carers organisation; and welfare and legal
advice agencies (including in the legal press); and offenders.
 Providing information in easy read and audio file format for individuals who may
need support with literacy or have a visual impairment.
 Distributing information to local partners and providers who deliver care on
behalf of the Council in case they may identify individuals who may be entitled to
claim but due to incapacity or ill heath are unable to so without assistance
 Checking the Council’s social care database to see whether there are any
vulnerable individuals –including those who lack capacity- currently in receipt of
social care or other support from the Council, who may come under the auspices
of the scheme.
Aims and Objectives of Equalities Impact Assessment
The Council also committed to refreshing the EIA at the end of first year of the scheme
and every subsequent year thereafter for the lifetime of the scheme. The aim of this EIA
is to assist understanding of the reach and impact at the end of the first year based on
applications received and settlement of claims from 2nd January 2018 to 31st December
2018. As such it is consists of 2 interrelated sections.
3

Section 1
A. Brief overview of the equalities characteristics of the potential cohort of
applicants
B. Analysis of the Equalities characteristics of those have a lodged a claim
Section 2
1. Analysis of the equalities characteristics of those who have had a claim settled and
who have received or been offered a Harms Way or Individual Redress Payment
under the scheme.

Page 80

As with the previous EIA’s there are number of caveats regarding availability of equalities
data including:
 Changes in legislative and policy for equalities monitoring for key ‘protected
characteristics’ including ethnicity, disability and sexual orientation.
 Differences in information governance standards that prevailed during the period
in question which means that the local authority only has partial information on
the denominator population - i.e. all children who were accommodated in and/or
in the care of children’s home managed by the Council at the time.
 Ongoing evolution of our understanding of issues pertaining to health and
disability compared to the available knowledge at the time.
 The fact that we cannot and should not require individuals who are making an
application to the Redress Scheme or associated elements (i.e. Subject Access
Requests) to divulge equalities information. As a result the Council only has partial
equalities information on those who have accessed the scheme, and many
applicants who have provided equalities information have not done so for all
equalities fields.
1. Potential Cohort of Redress Applicants
Based on available information it is estimated that up to 15,000 children were
accommodated in Shirley Oaks and other homes managed by the Council up until the
early 1990’s.
4







Page 81



Admissions registers for the Shirley Oaks School and residential complex from
1936-1973 record some 8589 admissions by a total of 6472 individual children. Of
these 3670(57%) were boys and 2749 (43%) were girls. Data regarding ethnicity
and disability was not recorded and cannot be surmised from available paper
records.
Admissions data from Southvale residential group homes from 1967-1995 show
3519 individual records. Of these 1609 (46%) were girls and 1905 (54%) were
boys. Age on admission for the vast majority of children was between 2-15 years
old although significant numbers were under 2 and over 15. Of the children
admitted 1424 (41%) are identified as potentially of black or ethnic minority
heritage. However the general categorisations assigned to children at the time
render meaningful disaggregation virtually impossible. However given the likely
changes in the composition of the population of Lambeth and neighbouring
boroughs during this time, it is highly probable that many of these individuals
would have been of mixed black and white and black African Caribbean ethnicity.
This is supported by national evidence that suggest over representation of
children of African Caribbean heritage received into care during the time that
these homes were open.
Approximately 200 individuals had records indicating that admission to Southvale
was for assessment of behavioural, physical or learning disability which
encompasses 60 recorded as having Extra Special Needs (ESN); 123 as
‘maladjusted’ and 23 as having a physical disability. Subsequently at least some
120 children and young people were moved on to establishments including
remand home, approved schools and homes for behavioural and/or adjustment
disorder. This suggests that some of these individuals may have been vulnerable
and had further contact with mental health, learning disability, criminal justice
and related services.
From 1936-1964 based on composition of both the Lambeth and London
population these individuals would have been mainly white British or white Irish,
many of whom are now over 60 with a significant number aged over 70.
5



Page 82

From 1965 to the mid 1990’s children received into care or accommodated in
these homes would have been from an increasingly diverse background principally
but not exclusively Black African Caribbean, Black African and multi-ethnic AngloCaribbean and Anglo-African descent.
Many of the these individuals would have experienced socio-economic and racial
disadvantage including:
 being from families with lower socio-economic status as measured by parental
educational, housing, occupation and income status
 experiencing (familial) neglect or abuse which may have led to the reception into
care
 vulnerability due to physical, learning disability, mental health or conduct
(behavioural) disorder
 Experiencing stigma linked to both to specific characteristics-i.e. ethnicity, gender,
disability or health status- as well for being accommodated or received into care
of the local authority.
2. Equalities Characteristics of Lambeth Redress Scheme Applicants
From 2nd January 2018-31st December 2018 there were 1002 applications for
compensation and redress under the Council’s scheme of whom 537 provided some
equalities information, though not all respondents completed all equalities fields. In
consequence this means it is not possible to cross match equalities data to understand if
there if there are any specific trends regarding the intersection of different equalities
characteristics. Nevertheless summary of the available information indicates that:
 Gender: of 456 respondents who stated their gender 236 (49%) applications were
from men and 245 (51%) were from women
 Ethnicity: of 516 respondents 353 (70%) identified as White or White English,
Scottish or Northern Irish; 8 (2%) identified as Irish; 99 (20%) as Black or Black
Caribbean or Black African; and 29 (6%) identified of Anglo-African or Anglo
Caribbean ethnicity. Further analysis based on record of when individuals stated
they were in care shows that of claims by those identifying as White or White
English, Scottish or Northern Irish some 210 (59%) were in care prior to 1965
indicating that majority of these applicants were in their mid-50’s and over which
6





Page 83



is in line with understanding of demographics at the time. In comparison just over
half (52%) of applicants stating they were of Black or Black Caribbean or Black
African descent were in care post 1965 which appears consistent with
demographic data as well as evidence of the overrepresentation of Black
Caribbean and African children in care during the 1970’s and 80’s given that these
communities have never made up more than 25% of the overall Lambeth
population.
Disability: of 464 respondents, 222 (48%) reported having no disability; 105 (22%)
stated they had a disability that limited their daily activities a little; and 137 (30%)
said they had a disability which limited their daily activities a lot. These responses
reflected their current health and/or disability status not necessarily that when
they would have been in care. Based on the age and population profile of
applicants it is likely that some of these issues may be related to physical health
conditions. For some individuals it may reflect psychological and mental health
conditions, although we are unable to determine any causal relationship between
experience in care and mental health outcomes based on these responses.
However based on testimony and national evidence we know that victims of
trauma and abuse have higher expressed levels of prevalence of poor mental
health including substance misuse, offending and mental health conditions
including depression, PTSD and self-harm.
Age: the ages of Scheme applicants ranges from early mid 30’s up to the those
who are over 70 which reflects the period of time when people may have been
exposed to harm or abuse. It is estimated that approximately 170 (17%) applicants
(17%) to date are over 70, with an estimated 300 individuals aged between 55-70
(30%)
Religion: of 477 respondents 272 (57%) identified as Christian; 110 (23%) of no
religious affiliation ; and 19 as Jewish (4%). Once again this appears to be
substantially in line with changing demographics over the time in question.

7

3. Summary of Redress Payment Equalities Data
To date the Council has made offers of either Harms Way Payments to 851 Individuals
during the the first year of the scheme with a further 68 applicants receiving Individual
Redress Payments. Section 2 below provides a summary based on available equalities
information. Key points to note are that:
 Determination of claims will relate to the individual circumstances with respect to
each claim which means that comparisons regarding outcomes by equalities
characteristics are not straightforward.
 At this stage there have been a relatively small number of finalised offers so it is
not possible to establish any specific trends at this point.
Therefore Section 2 of this EIA provides the update of the current position based on the
available equalities information provided by applicants to the scheme.

Page 84

2.0 Analysing your equalities evidence
2.1 Evidence
Any proposed business activity, new policy or strategy, service change, or procurement must be informed by carrying out an
assessment of the likely impact that it may have. In this section please include both data and analysis which shows that you
understand how this decision is likely to affect residents that fall under the protected characteristics enshrined in law and the local
characteristics which we consider to be important in Lambeth (language, health and socio-economic factors).

IF YOUR PROPOSAL ALSO IMPACTS ON LAMBETH COUNCIL STAFF YOU NEED TO COMPLETE A STAFFING EIA.

Protected characteristics and local
equality characteristics

Impact analysis
For each characteristic please indicate the type of impact (i.e. positive, negative,
positive and negative, none, or unknown), and:
8

Race

Please explain how you justify your claims around impacts.
Please include any data and evidence that you have collected including from surveys,
performance data or complaints to support your proposed changes.
Please indicate sources of data and the date it relates to/was produced (e.g. ‘Residents
Survey, wave 10, April 12‘ or ‘Lambeth Business Survey 2012’ etc.)
Of those applicants who provided information 99 identified (21%) identified as Black,
Black Caribbean or Black African and a further 29 (6%) identified as dual heritage (Anglo
African or Anglo Caribbean). Ethnicity data is available for 85 individuals who have had
claims for a Harms Way payment settled to date. As set out in Table 1 below 18 (21%) are
Black, Black African or Black Caribbean and a further 3 (3%) are of multi-ethnic heritage.
Table 1

Page 85

HWP and IRP
The following chart does not show only the final payment figures in Table 2, but also
those where an HWP has been paid and the IRP is under consideration or has been
offered. Those applications that were rejected from the scheme or did not meet the
criteria have not been included. Of 400 offers 65 (16%) were Black/African/Caribbean and
a further 42(10%) are of multi-ethnic heritage. These are broadly in line with what might
be anticipated given the cohort of individuals who might be eligible to claim.

9

All HWP and IRP:
Table 2

Page 86

HWP and IRP where full/final payment has been made:
The following chart Table 3, shows applications for both HWP and IRP where a final
payment has been made. It is worth noting that this can include those where the final
IRP has been made, as well as those where the HWP has been made then the IRP
withdrawn, and those where the IRP was valued at less than the HWP and no further
payment was made to the applicant. Of these 13 (13%) have been made to
Black/African/Caribbean applicants and 12 (12%) have been to applicants of multi-ethnic
heritage. Based on the small numbers it would be premature to draw any conclusions to
date.
Table 3

10

Gender

Available information indicates that of Harms Way payments made and IRPs under
consideration 182 have been to men and 145 to women which is broadly in line with the
gender balance of those in care and overall applicants to the scheme. The Council will
continue to monitor the scheme to ensure that applications from both women and men
are settled appropriately.

Gender re-assignment

Information regarding this equalities characteristic has not been previously captured either
formerly or informally during the period in question.
Despite this there is no evidence to suggest that the operation of the Redress Scheme to
date will have any negative impact on people with this equality characteristic.

Page 87

Disability

Payment breakdown by disability
HWP only:
This chart shows the HWP payments actually made, it excludes those where a HWP offer
has been made or is under consideration. It also omits those applications that have been
rejected or not accepted into the scheme. Of the 85 people who have received a Harm’s
Way Payment 16 (18%) stated that they had a health condition or disability that had a
considerable impact on their daily living and a further 13 (15%) stated they had a
disability or health condition that impacted on them much less significantly. The
responses reflect the current situation for these individuals not their health status or any
disability whilst they were in care. Further details are not available regarding the specific
health condition or disability that individuals have reported.
Table 1

11

Page 88

HWP and IRP
Table 2 shows not only final payment figures, but also those where a HWP has been paid
and the IRP is under consideration or has been offered. Those applications that were
rejected from the scheme or did not meet the criteria have not been included. Based on
this data 99 of 392 (25%), declared they had a disability or health condition that limited
their daily functioning a lot and a further 84 (21%) felt that they had a condition or
disability that limited them a little.
Table 2

12

HWP and IRP where final payment has been made:
Table 3 shows applications for both HWP and IRP where a final payment has been made.
It is worth noting that this can include those where the final IRP has been made, as well
as those where the HWP has been made then the IRP withdrawn, and those where the
IRP was valued at less than the HWP and no further payment was made to the applicant.
Of 96 final settlements to date 19(20%) and have been to individuals who have stated
they have a disability or health condition that limits them a lot and 21(22%) stated they
were limited a little by a disability or health condition. As previously stated further details
regarding the nature of any disability or health condition was not available.
Table 3

Page 89

Age

Of 117 Harms Way only Payments offered in Table 1 47 (40%) were to individuals aged
55-64; 35 (30%) to people those 65-74; and a further 11 (9%) to those aged 75-84 which
reflects when these events will have occurred.

13

Table 1

Where a Harms Way Payment has been settled and or IRP offered the comparable figures
are set out in Table 2.

Page 90

HWP and IRP
This chart does not show only the final payment figures, but also those where a HWP has
been paid and the IRP is under consideration or has been offered. Those applications that
were rejected from the scheme or did not meet the criteria have not been included. Of
these 165 (28%) are 45-54; 232(39%) 55-64; and 144(24%) are 65-74.
Table 2

14

HWP & IRP with final payments
Table 3 shows applications for both HWP and IRP where a final payment has been made.
It is worth noting that this can include those where the final IRP has been made, as well
as those where the HWP has been made then the IRP withdrawn, and those where the
IRP was valued at less than the HWP and no further payment was made to the applicant.
Of these 29(17%) are aged 45-54; 53(32%) are 55-64; and 69(42%) are 65-74.
Table 3

Page 91

Sexual orientation

Information regarding this equalities characteristic has not been previously captured either
formerly or informally during the period in question.
Despite this there is no evidence to suggest that the operation of the Redress Scheme to
date will have any negative impact on people with this equality characteristic.

Religion and belief

Data on offers of Harms Way or IRP payments has not been broken down by faith or religious
belief.
15

Despite this there is no evidence to suggest that the operation of the Redress Scheme to
date will have any negative impact on people with this equality characteristic
Pregnancy and maternity

Information regarding this equalities characteristic has not been previously captured either
formerly or informally during the period in question.
Despite this there is no evidence to suggest that the operation of the Redress Scheme to
date will have any negative impact on people with this equality characteristic.

Marriage and civil partnership

Information regarding this equalities characteristic has not been previously captured either
formerly or informally during the period in question.

Socio-economic factors

Data on the socioeconomic status of applicants to the scheme is not captured. However
the national and local policy evidence is that the majority of children received into care
are more likely to have come from lower socio-economic backgrounds. These individuals
are more likely to experience persistently worse outcomes across all life domains
including education, income and health as a result of being in care which may have been
compound by exposure to and/or fear of abuse. This means they may be more likely to be
in poor housing and on low incomes including benefits. To this as part of the scheme we
have:



Advised all applicants, family members or carers submitting applications on behalf
of an individual to get appropriate legal advice which is paid for by the Council.
Made sure that there is practical advice and support (including with completing
forms, accessing documents and records) available to those accessing the scheme.

16

Page 92

Despite this there is no evidence to suggest that the operation of the Redress Scheme to
date will have any negative impact on people with this equality characteristic.



Signposted individuals who may be awarded compensation whilst in receipt of
benefits to appropriate advice regarding how they might manage the impact of
any award on their benefit claim.

These all form part of the overall Redress Scheme and are available to all applicants for
the duration of the scheme. In addition implementation of the scheme should reduce the
financial, administrative, emotional and psychological burden of already vulnerable
individuals seeking compensation.
Language





Health

Advised all applicants, family members or carers submitting applications on behalf
of an individual to get appropriate legal advice which is paid for by the Council.
Made sure that there is practical advice and support (including with completing
forms, accessing documents and records) available to those accessing the scheme
Signposted individuals who may be awarded compensation whilst in receipt of
benefits to appropriate advice regarding how they might manage the impact of
any award on their benefit claim.

The Council knows that some individuals will have been placed in care in one of the
specialist units managed by the Lambeth, due to a learning disability, physical or mental
health condition for which they would have required support. Therefore the Council has
instituted a project to cross check the adult social care database with records of those in
17

Page 93

Information regarding language barriers is not collated as part of the scheme. However as
part of the overall scheme design the Council has recognised that some individuals may
need support to a language issue (i.e. English is not their first language or they have
difficulties with literacy or communication difficulty linked to a learning disability,
cognitive disability i.e. dementia or linked to dyslexia for instance). To address this the
Council has:

the affected children’s homes to identify if any current beneficiaries of care services may
be eligible for compensation. To date this has yielded data regarding 40 people who may
be entitled to seek compensation.
We are now reviewing the records and information about these individuals so that we
can better understand the current circumstances and care needs of these individuals. This
is in order to help the Council decide how best to engage with them or their families and
carers and provide information about the scheme. This will include providing assistance
to them to make an application where necessary.

2.2 Gaps in evidence base
What gaps in information have you
identified from your analysis? In your
response please identify areas where
more information is required and how
you intend to fill in the gaps. If you are
unable to fill in the gaps please state
this clearly with justification.

Page 94

Where it is established that an individual who was in one of the specialist units lacks
capacity the Council will adopt the legal framework pertaining to mental capacity to work
with their family, carers and legal representatives in order to make a Harms Way
payment to them in their best interest.
The Council is aware that we do not have information on several of the equalities
characteristics and have only partial information for race, gender, disability and health.
This reflects the fact that the Council cannot make it a requirement of the Scheme that
applicants must supply equalities information. Therefore we are reliant on that
information that they are willing to volunteer. Moreover in order the maintain a
proportionate approach the Council has requested applicants provide data on race,
gender, disability, health religion and age as it is felt that these are relevant for the
purposes of the scheme whilst other areas might be considered more intrusive.

3.0 Consultation, Involvement and Coproduction
3.1 Coproduction, involvement and
consultation
Who are your key stakeholders and how
have you consulted, coproduced or

The Redress Scheme has been developed with extensive input from a range of
stakeholders incorporating Shirley Oaks Survivors Association and their legal advisor;
Cabinet and Members; and senior officers. This has been to ensure that the scheme is in
line with the principles espoused and recognises the council’s ethical and moral duty
whilst remaining within the boundaries of the authority’s constitutional and financial
18

involved them? What difference did this authority. The Council continues to take on stakeholder insight and feedback to refine
make?
the operation of the scheme where appropriate within the bounds of the Council’s legal
and constitutional obligations.

Page 95

The Council has also engaged a consultant to garner feedback from applicants regarding
their experience of accessing the scheme. Engagement is currently ongoing.
3.2 Gaps in coproduction, consultation The Council acknowledges that gaps remain in the available equalities information due in
and involvement
part to the historical nature of events some of which date back to before the formal
What gaps in consultation and
constitution of the Council in 1965. Furthermore access to the Scheme cannot be
involvement and coproduction have you predicated on completion of equalities data by applicants, so the Council is reliant on
identified (set out any gaps as they
individuals self-reporting this. By definition, this means that the Council will only have
relate to specific equality groups)?
partial equalities information.
Please describe where more
consultation, involvement and/or
Nevertheless the Council will continue efforts to ensure key groups access the scheme
coproduction is required and set out
including:
how you intend to undertake it. If you
 People of African Caribbean, African and Irish ethnicity.
do not intend to undertake it, please set
 People with learning and physical disabilities, particularly those who may lack the
out your justification.
capacity to make a claim on their behalf.
 Older people and those individuals who may be in poor health.
 Individuals who have died but may have family members who may be entitled to
claim on their behalf.

4.0 Conclusions, justification and action
4.1 Conclusions and justification
As outlined the applications to the Scheme to date have been broadly in line with the
What are the main conclusions of this Council’s expectations. Nevertheless the Council is committed to maximising uptake of
EIA? What, if any, disproportionate
the scheme as far as possible from people who may be eligible to make a claim. To
negative or positive equality impacts did achieve this the Council will:
you identify at 2.1? On what grounds
 Continue to adopt a multi-channel approach to advertising the scheme in both
do you justify them and how will they be
national, targeted and specialist publications in recognition that many affected
mitigated?
individuals live outside London in other parts of the UK.
19








4.2 Equality Action plan
Please list the equality issue/s identified through the evidence and the mitigating action to be taken. Please also detail the date
when the action will be taken and the name and job title of the responsible officer.
Equality Issue
Mitigating actions
Example:
Example:
That the equality analysis may not have Review the EIA and assess whether the mitigating actions were sufficient.
accurately covered all the equality
12/09/12. Joe Bloggs. Head of ABC
impacts; and the mitigations may not
act to reduce disproportionate impact

20

Page 96

Ensure organisations that represent victims and survivors have up to date
information about the scheme.
Regularly circulate information about the scheme both local locally and nationally
to health and voluntary sector partners and organisations including advocacy and
advice agencies; media outlets; those that represent and/or work with a range of
potentially vulnerable groups such as older people; people with physical and/or
learning disabilities; carers organisation; and welfare and legal advice agencies
(including in the legal press); and offenders.
Continuing to provide information in easy read and audio file format for individuals
who may need support with literacy or have a visual impairment.
Following up on those individuals identified on the adult social care database who
may be entitled to make a claim so that a mechanism can be put in place to
enable this especially where they lack capacity or may be deceased.

5.0 Publishing your results
The results of your EIA must be published. Once the business activity has been implemented the EIA must be periodically reviewed
to ensure your decision/change had the anticipated impact and the actions set out at 4.2 are still appropriate.
EIA publishing date
EIA review date
Assessment sign off (name/job title):

21

Page 97

All completed and signed-off EIAs must be submitted to equalities@lambeth.gov.uk for publication on Lambeth’s website. Where possible,
please anonymise your EIAs prior to submission (i.e. please remove any references to an officers’ name, email and phone number).

This page is intentionally left blank

